
 
 

NOTICE OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY 
TOWN OF OPHIR, CO 81426 

Thursday 7:00pm March 23, 2023 
OPHIR TOWN HALL 36 PORPHYRY ST. 

Join Zoom Meeting Meeting ID: 867 0143 8435 Passcode: 373146 
 

AGENDA 

1. CALL TO ORDER 
2. ADOPTION & SIGNATURE OF FEBRUARY 21, 2023 MEETING MINUTES and MARCH 13 

SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 
3. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
4. BUSINESS ITEMS 

a. Public Hearing-Rezoning Application 
i. Project Name: Cornwall Property, Applicant: Joseph Waller 

ii. Project Summary: The evaluation of avalanche hazard and mapping 
within lots 1-10, block two, Article 804 overlay adjustment, Appendix C 
Town of Ophir Hazards Map. 

iii. Action Sought: Removal of lots 1-10, block two from the high hazard area 
designation on the Town of Ophir Hazards Map and retaining underlying 
residential zoning. 

b. Executive Session (if needed) for conference with Town Attorney for the local 
public body for the purpose of receiving legal advice on specific legal questions, 
as authorized by C.R.S. 24-6-402(4)(b). 

c. Introduction and First Reading of Ordinance 2023-01 Amending Town of Ophir 
Land Use Code Appendix C- Town of Ophir Hazards Map To Remove Lots 1-10, 
Block 2 From the Hazard Area or, alternatively, consider a Resolution of Denial. 

5. Approval of Red Cross Emergency Shelter Agreement 
6. 2023 Climate Action Plan Adoption 
7. STAFF REPORTS 
8. NEW BUSINESS 
9. ADJOURN 



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING BY THE OPHIR GENERAL ASSEMBLY 

Notice is hereby given that the General Assembly of the Town of Ophir will conduct a Public 
Hearing on Thursday, March 23, 2023, at 7:00 p.m. (or as soon thereafter as possible) at the 
Ophir Town Hall, located at 36 Porphyry, Ophir, Colorado, regarding a Revote on the 
Cornwall/Whitaker request for the Removal of lots 1-10, block two from the high hazard area 
designation on the Town of Ophir Hazards Map and retaining underlying residential zoning. A 
complete copy of the Application can be obtained at the Ophir Town Hall, during normal 
business hours.  Comments may be mailed to John Wontrobski, Town Manager, P.O. Box 683, 
Ophir, CO, 81426, or emailed to: manager@ophir.us.  



To:  Ophir General Assembly 

From: John Wontrobski, Ophir Town Manager 

RE:  General Assembly Meeting- Tuesday, January 17, 2023 

Date: December 19, 2023 

 

2. Draft minutes of the December 21, 2022 General Assembly meeting are in the packet. 

4a. At the September 14th Planning and Zoning Commission meeting, the Commission voted 
unanimously (4-0) to recommend to the General Assembly that a request by Joseph Waller, representing 
the Whitaker-Cornwall property owners of Lots 1-10, Block Two, to amend the Ophir Hazard Map to take 
those lots out of the high hazard Avalanche Zone, be denied. All the materials considered by P&Z are 
included in this month’s GA packet, and the GA is also being asked to approve or deny the request, with 
the P&Z recommendation in mind. A reminder that this proceeding is considered quasi judicial in nature, 
meaning that all Town of Ophir Electors are required to weigh the request on the merits of the evidence 
presented at the GA public hearing (as a judge would), and not have any pre-judgements or biases that 
would taint the proceedings.  

Staff Report.  While updating Ophir’s part in the 2023 San Miguel County All Hazards Mitigation Plan, 
TM discussed the possibility of Ophir’s Maintenance Barn and/or Town Hall becoming an emergency 
shelter in the local Red Cross shelter inventory. The local Red Cross representative is Scott Pearson, who 
is available to do a survey of the Ophir facilities to see if they are suitable to be added to the local inventory 
list. If they are, the General Assembly will be asked to approve a Facility Use Agreement at a later date. At 
this point, the TM is requesting GA approval to continue working with the Red Cross to designate the 
Ophir facilities as Emergency Shelters.  

  

  



Public Hearing Record 
 
Town of Ophir 
 
Application:  

The evaluation of avalanche hazard and mapping within lots 1-10, block two, Article 804 
overlay adjustment, Appendix C Town of Ophir Hazards Map. Seeking removal of lots 1-
10, block two from the high hazard area designation on the Town of Ophir Hazards Map 

 
 
Date: January 4, 2023 
 
 

1. Motion of denial of Cornwall-Whittaker application to remove Lots 1-10, Block 2, Town of 
Ophir from the High Hazard Avalanche Zone District, 

2. Contents of 7/7/22 Ophir Planning and Zoning Commission Public Hearing for Cornwall 
Whitaker request (includes original Land Use Code amendment application) 

3. Additions to packet for 9/14/22 Ophir Planning and Zoning Commission continuation of 
Cornwall Whitaker Public hearing  

4. 7/7/22 and 9/14/22 approved Ophir Planning and Zoning Commission meeting minutes 
5. Additions from Applicant since 9/14/22 Ophir Planning and Zoning Commission meeting 
6. Public Noticing for General Assembly Public Hearing-Cornwall Whitaker 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

7. Email from Mike Kuby with attachment, dated October 25, 2022 
8. Presentation files from Joe Shults public comment during the 9/14/22 Ophir Planning and Zoning 

Commission meeting 
 



1 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE TOWN OF OPHIR, COLORADO 
DENYING AN AMENDMENT TO THE TOWN OF OPHIR’S OFFICIAL HAZARDS MAP 

REMOVING LOTS 1-10, BLOCK 2 FROM THE HIGH HAZARD AVALANCHE ZONE 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-__ 
 

WHEREAS, David T. Cornwall and Linda A. Cornwall, as joint tenants holding 50% interest, and 
Joyce Ann Whitaker and Gary W. Whitaker, as joint tenants holding 50% interest (together, the “Owners”), 
own certain real property in San Miguel County described as Lots 1-10, Block 2, Town of Ophir, Colorado, 
Assessor Parcel No. 477935303002 (collectively, the “Property”); and 

WHEREAS, Joseph Waller (the “Applicant”), with the Owners’ consent, as Owner’s agent, has 
applied on Owner’s behalf to the Town of Ophir (the “Town”) to amend the Town’s Official Hazards Map, 
also known as the Hazards Overlay Map, to remove the Property from the High Hazard Avalanche Zone 
(the “Application”); and  

WHEREAS, the Planning & Zoning Commission of the Town (“P&Z”) held public hearings 
regarding the Application on June 11, 2019, July 7, 2022, and September 14, 2022, and voted unanimously 
to issue a recommendation of denial to the General Assembly of the Town (the “GA”); and  

WHEREAS, the GA considered the Application, P&Z’s recommendations, and testimony and 
comments from the Applicant, Town staff, and members of the public at a public hearing on January 17, 
2023, and voted 11-9, with 8 abstentions, to deny the Application; and 

WHEREAS, the public hearings and meetings to consider the Application were duly noticed and 
held in accordance with the Town’s Land Use Code (“LUC”); and  

 
WHEREAS, the Applicant raised a procedural objection to the vote held on January 17, 2023, and 

without conceding the validity of that objection, the Town and the Applicant agreed to hold a second vote 
pursuant to the terms of a Stipulation filed March 14, 2023, in Waller v. General Assembly of the Town of 
Ophir, et al., Case No. 2023CV30004, San Miguel County District Court; and 

WHEREAS, the GA held a public meeting on March 23, 2023, to consider this Resolution and 
voted _____ to approve this Resolution, denying the Application for the reasons set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the General Assembly of the Town of Ophir, 
Colorado, that: 

Section 1. Recitals.  The above recitals are hereby incorporated as findings of the GA in support of the 
enactment of this Resolution.  
 
Section 2. Definition of the Application.  The “Application” means and consists of the materials submitted 
to the Town and itemized on Exhibit A, plus all statements, representations, and additional documents of 
the Applicant and its representatives made or submitted at the public hearings before P&Z and the GA. 
Copies of all exhibits to this Resolution and the Application materials are available for inspection at the 
office of the Town Clerk. 
 
Section 3. Summary of Application.  The Application requests an amendment to the Official Hazards 
Map to remove the Property from the High Hazard Avalanche Zone to allow for the sale of the lots on the 
Property as five buildable residential lots. 
 



2 
 

Section 4. Review Criteria.  The Application is being considered under following criteria set forth in LUC 
§ 1415 and may be approved only when any three of the criteria are met: 
 

A. There has been a substantial change in conditions in the neighborhood or area proposed to be 
rezoned since the date of approval of the existing zoning map designation which justifies the 
proposed amendment; 

B. There has been a substantial change in the circumstances or conditions of the Town at large 
which justifies the proposed amendment; 

C. There is demonstrated to be a material and substantial error in the existing zoning map or LUC 
text, the correction of which justifies the proposed amendment; 

D. The proposed amendment is in conformance with or would implement the Ophir Master Plan, 
as amended; 

E. The area proposed to be rezoned or reclassified with regard to a hazard overlay is peculiarly 
suitable for the uses permitted in the proposed new zone district or districts; or 

F. There exists a substantial and compelling public interest in adopting such proposed 
amendment. 

 
Section 5. Decision.  The GA finds that the Application does not meet at least three of the requirements of 
the LUC set forth above, including, without limitation, satisfaction of subsections C, D, E, or F. The GA, 
therefore, denies the Application. The following is an illustrative but not exhaustive list of the reasons why 
the Application does not satisfy the applicable review criteria: 
 

a. The proposed amendment does not demonstrate that there was a material and substantial error 
in the inclusion of the Property in the High Hazard Avalanche Zone on the Official Hazards 
Map, because two houses previously located downhill from the Property were moved by wet 
snow avalanches. Figure 10 of the 1976 Natural Hazards in Mountain Colorado INSTAAR 
Report documented that two houses located downhill from the Property were moved by a 1959 
wet slab avalanche, based on reports of Town residents. These houses were also depicted in a 
1952 plat map, as well as in Figure 1 of the 2007 Avalanche Study and Avalanche Hazard 
Analysis for the Property prepared by Wilbur Engineering, at the behest of the Owners. That 
the houses were not depicted on the 1904 Map of Old Ophir nor present in the 1915-1928 San 
Miguel County Tax Rolls does not refute the ample evidence that such houses did exist by the 
1950s. Local Helitrax ski guide, avalanche controller, and Ophir resident Joe Shults provided 
the GA with pictures of the two houses taken in the 1970s by a friend while hiking together. 
Mr. Shults reported that his friend stated that the houses had been damaged by an avalanche. 
Mr. Waller’s contention that the two houses never existed and that the 1959 avalanche never 
occurred is not supported by credible evidence. Mr. Shults stated that with global warming, 
wet slab avalanches will likely become more frequent. 
 

b. The proposed amendment does not demonstrate that there was a material and substantial error 
in the inclusion of the Property in the High Hazard Avalanche Zone on the Official Hazards 
Map, because the Property does not clearly lie outside of the INSTAAR Zone 1. As the 
Applicant has conceded, there is no requirement under state, county, or Town law that a 
municipal geohazard map must conform precisely to geotechnical modeling maps prepared by 
experts, such as the INSTAAR Report. The Avalanche Hazard maps adopted by the Town are 
based such mapping and additional information provided by the Town. Figure 10 of the 1976 
INSTAAR Report shows that much of the Property is within the outer boundary of a mapped 
wet slab avalanche. 

 



3 
 

c. The proposed amendment is not in conformance with the 2021 Ophir Master Plan. Specifically, 
Goal M, detailed objective 3, Prevent Damage Caused by Natural Hazards: to promote land 
use patterns that eliminate or reduce potential development in natural hazard areas. 

 
d. The proposed amendment does not show the area to be rezoned is suitable for residential use, 

because a 2002 Avalanche Mapping and Hazard Analysis performed by Arthur I. Mears, P.E., 
Inc., a 2004 Avalanche Map completed by Foley Associates, Inc., and a 2007 Avalanche Study 
and Avalanche Hazard Analysis for the Property prepared by Wilbur Engineering, at the behest 
of the Owners, show the Property is within the Moderate (Blue) Avalanche Hazard Zone. 
Although the Application does not seek reclassification of the Property to the Moderate 
Avalanche Hazard Zone, and the Applicant expressly declined to so request, new residential 
construction is currently prohibited in that zone per LUC § 803.2.  

 
e. The proposed amendment does not demonstrate a substantial change in the area since the 

adoption of the High Hazard Avalanche Zone designation nor a substantial and compelling 
public interest in removing the Property from the High Hazard Avalanche Zone.  

 
f. All other grounds reflected in or referred to in the record regarding the Application. 
 

Section 6. Effective Date.  This Resolution shall be in full force and effect upon its passage and adoption. 
 
ADOPTED AND APPROVED by the General Assembly at a public meeting held on March 23, 2023. 
    

TOWN OF OPHIR GENERAL ASSEMBLY 
 
 
       By: __________________________________ 
             Mason Osgood, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________________ 
John Wontrobski, Town Manager 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:  
 
 
__________________________________ 
David McConaughy, Town Special Counsel 
  



4 
 

Exhibit A 
 

[LIST OF APPLICATION MATERIALS] 
 
 

 



APPENDIX A   APPLICATION FORMS TOWN OF OPHIR LAND USE CODE 

Page  66 

L A N D  U S E  C O D E  A M E N D M E N T S  A P P L I C A T I O N  -  T O W N  O F  O P H I R

Applicant Name:__________________________ Phone No.___________________________ 

Address:_________________________________ Fax No._____________________________ 

_________________________________________ E-Mail:_____________________________ 

Street Address and Legal Description of Subject Property: 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

Zone District of Subject Property:____________ Application Fee: $500.00/lot, see §1404.6 

Applicants should include the following:  
(1) Narrative
(2) Site Plan
(3) Proof of Notification
(4) Proof of Ownership by title commitment or attorney opinion

(1) NARRATIVE:  Description of the proposed amendment to the Ophir Land Use Code

(2) MAPS:  Attach a map showing properties affected by the proposed zoning changes or changes to zoning, hazard
or source water protection area maps which clearly demonstrate the nature of the proposed request (Note:  Planning
Commission may require more information to review the application).

(3) PROOF OF NOTIFICATION:  The Applicant must provide notice in accordance with ARTICLE XIV of the
Ophir Land Use Code. 

 I swear that the information provided in this application is true and correct and that I am the owner of the property 
or otherwise authorized to act on behalf of the owner of the property. 

Signature:_____________________________________ Date:_________________________ 

FOR TOWN USE ONLY: 

 

The Prescriptive Energy Code & Green Building Standard  

Date Application Received:__________________ Date of Hearing:_________________________________ 

Application Fee Received:___________________ Planning Commission Action: ______________________ 

Application Complete:______________________ Approval Subject to Conditions:_____________________ 

Mailing Notice Complete:___________________ Application Reviewed by:__________________________ 

�$%/�'"-��+-*1�(( ����
���
��


������/"((���*���$+"*%2�������	

&+.",$�&+.",$1�(("-� +)

�����0-0)��/-""/��+/.�	�	����(+ '��1+���+1*�+#��,$%-���+(+-�!+

�".%!"*/%�(����

����	�������
 ��������

����!��������#��������" ���������������$�����  ���������������	����������������������
����	��

Page 1 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Town of Ophir Official Hazard Map Amendment Request 
Whitaker / Cornwall Property Lots 1-10, Block Two 
Town Manager Review of Application June 5, 2019 

1402.2 Changes to Official Mapping. - Joe Waller representing Owners of Lots 1-10, Block 
Two is requesting a change of the Ophir Official Hazards Map to remove these lots from High 
Hazard Avalanche Zone. 

1403.1. Pre-Application Conference. – Mr. Waller met with Town Manger May 6, 2019. 

1403.2. Submit Application. Page 1 – Mr. Waller in communication with Town Manger 
submitted application and support documents May 24-June-6. Town Manger requested 
deficiencies to be corrected by the applicants’ representative prior to P&Z meeting. 
Representative fulfilled request June-4.  

1403.3. Staff Review and Referral. Page 2 – Town Manger review of application is complete. 
Application has been submitted to P&Z for regular meeting June 11, 2019 7:00pm at Ophir 
Town Hall. Applicant has been notified of deficiencies and deficiencies have been submitted.  

1404.1. Contact Information. Page 5 – Complete. 

1404.2. Legal Description/Address. Page 7 – Legal description supplied by Land Title 
guarantee Company.  

1404.3. Proof of Ownership. Page 17 – Henry E. Cornwall purchased by public sale from San 
Miguel County, Block Two lots: 

a) 1,2,5,6 - 8/4/42
b) 3,4 – 3/22/46
c) 7,8,9,10 – 4/27/42

Henry Cornwall deceased July 6,1958, heirs shares of: 

a) Wife Anna Bernice Cornwall ½
b) Son David Thornton Cornwall ¼
c) Daughter Joyce Ann Whitaker ¼

Wife Anna Bernice Cornwall deceased 5/25/93. Daughter Joyce Ann Whitaker appointed of the 
estate. 11/10/09 Joyce Anne Whitaker deeded property equally to Joyce Anne Whitaker & David 
Thornton Cornwall.   

1404.4. Map. Page 24 – Vicinity Map verified to match Legal Description and Proof of 
Ownership. 

1404.5. Written Description. Page 25 – The written description is a little hard to understand 
without being involved in the conversations and reviewing the multiple studies. Town Manager 
feels that it fulfills the application submittal requirements, Town Manager compiled the 

Page 2 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



information as attachments to the Application. Applicant Representative will be available for 
discussion. 

1404.6. Fee. – Fee has not been submitted yet. The Fee is $5,000 and withdrawal of the 
application prior to the Planning and Zoning Committee, the application fee may be refunded 
whole or in part less any administrative review costs incurred at the discretion of Town Manager. 
Applicant has obtained wire transfer information. (6/5) 

1405. PASS-THROUGH REVIEW COST AGREEMENT. Page 26 – Pass though agreement 
has been submitted. 

1406. CONSOLIDATION – The application includes lots 1-10, block two. 

1408.1 Page 27 – Foley Survey Map 

1408.2 Page 28 – Town of Ophir Official Hazard Zoning Map 

1408.3 Page 25 – Same as 1404.5 

1408.4 Page 29 – There is not any current intent to construct building, applicant intends to sell 
the properties. 

1408.5 Page 29 - If the removal of lots 1-10, block two, from the high hazard designation on the 
Town of Ophir Hazards Map, the lots will be offered for sale allowing the construction of new 
single-family homes. There are no current intended buildings by the applicant. 

1408.6 - There would be no adverse effect to the adjacent properties, and or to the neighborhood. 
Lots 1-10, block two will retain its Residential (R) zoning. 

1409.1. Certification of Completeness and Compliance. – Town Manger has reviewed the 
application and determined the application is complete. 

1409.2. Deficient Applications. – Application is complete. 

1409.4. Reservation of Authority to Issue Completeness Determination. – The Town 
Manager reserves the right to during any subsequent review step, that the application is not 
complete, or does not comply with any other application requirement of this Article. 

1409.5 Anticipatory Submission to Planning and Zoning Commission. – Town Manger has 
determined that the application is incomplete and has submitted to be included in the next P&Z 
scheduled meeting. Town Manager believes applicant will submit any deficiencies. Deficiencies 
have been completed (6/9) 

1411. Provision of Public Notice. – Town manager has verified Provisions of Public Notice has 
been completed.  

1411.7 Affidavit Page. Page 30 

Page 3 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



List of Attachments: 

Request is to remove Lots 1-10, Block Two from High Hazard Avalanche Zone based on the 
following information. 

a) 1975 Mears Study Plate Page 31 classified the application area as below a low hazard 
area and in between the Badger & Spring Gulch Zones: 

 
b) 1976 Natural Hazards in Mountain Colorado (INSTAAR) Page 35 This study placed 

the area in the application based on verbal communication with the Belisle Family due to 
memory and the statement of houses being moved from an avalanche.  These houses 
were on the South Section of Lot P, located Southwest of the applicant’s property. The 
study does represent that memory and dramatic inclination may make verbal reports 
inaccurate. 1904 Map of Old Ophir does not indicate there were any properties buildings 
located on Lot P in 1904. 

c) 2002 Mears Study prepared for Glen Pauls Page 50 This study does not include the 
applicant’s block. The study indicates High Hazard (Red area) and Medium Hazard (Blue 
area). Not having a complete map of the town, I do not believe this can be utilized for a 
determination the applicants request. The current application supporting documents vary 
a little from a previous application considered for submittal in 2012. The report details 
specifics on how calculations are completed.  

d) Mears Figure 3. Page 64 This is a map showing the specific property following the 2002 
Mears Study. 

e) Ophir Town Avalanche Map. Page 65 This Map is from the Mears Study for the Town 
of Ophir. 

f) Ophir Avalanche Map. Page 66 This map is from the Mears Study for the Town of 
Ophir, Ophir Valley immediately to the East and West. 

g) 2007 Avalanche Study and Avalanche Hazard Analysis. Page 67 This study was 
completed specifically for the property within the application. It summarizes these 
previous studies and came to the conclusion that due to the 1976 Natural Hazards Study; 
Ophir included that applicants’ property in the High Hazard zone. The study concludes: 

h) History of Vera & Randy Belisle. Page 74 Applicant will explain relevance. 
i) Spring Snow Slide Tiles. Page 73 Applicant will explain relevance. 
j) 1904 Map of Old Ophir. Page 78 Applicant will explain relevance. 

 

 

 

  

Page 4 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Property Owner Contact Information 

Project Name:  Cornwall Property 

Owner: Joyce Ann Whitaker 
Mailing and Physical Address: 2186 Brittany Colony Dr. League City, TX 77573 
Email: garyandjoycewhitaker@gmail.com 
Telephone: 281 786 5502 

Owner: David Cornwall 
Mailing and Physical Address: 1050 N Portland Ave. Gilbert, AZ 85234 
Email: david.t.cornwall@gmail.com 
Telephone: 602 980 6136 

Joyce Ann Whitaker                    Date 

_______________________________               ____________________ 

David Cornwall                     Date 

 
_______________________________   ____________________         �������	
����� ��������

������������	��
� ��������

���� ��������"��������!����������������#�������������������
�������	��
����������
�
������
��

�������	
����� ��������

������������	��
� ��������

���� ��������"��������!����������������#�������������������
�������	��
����������
�
������
��

1404.1
Page 5 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



We hereby authorize Joseph Waller to act as our agent to apply for, sign, and file the 
documents necessary to obtain a change to the avalanche risk designation and/or the 
rights to build on our Property with the following legal description: Lots 1-10, Block  2, 
Ophir.   

Authorized Agent: 

Address: ___________________________________________Phone:_____________ 

Signature: ________________________________________ Date:________________  
        Joseph Waller  

Property Owners: 

Signature: ________________________________________ Date:________________  
      Joyce Ann Whitaker  

Signature: ________________________________________ Date:________________  
        David Cornwall 

���������������������������	���� �	����
�����

����	�������
 ���������

����	��
����	� ���������

������������ ���������

����!��������#��������" ���������������$�����  ��������	��������
����������
����������		�����

����	�������
 ���������

����	��
����	� ���������

������������ ���������

����!��������#��������" ���������������$�����  ��������	��������
����������
����������		�����

Page 6 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 7 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 8 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 9 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 10 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 11 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 12 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 13 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 14 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 15 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 16 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 17 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 18 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 19 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 20 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 21 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 22 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 23 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



APPENDIX C   ZONING, HAZARD AND SOURCE WATER PROTECTION MAPS          TOWN OF OPHIR LAND USE CODE 
1404.4 Page 24 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



The applicant is requesting that lots 1-10 block two be removed from the High 
Avalanche designation on the Town of Ophir Hazards Map.  

The property, lots 1-10 block two, has been in the Cornwall family since 1942 when 
Henry Cornwall, the book keeper for the Silver Bell Mine, purchased it from the County 
of San Miguel *(1404.2).  The Property was at the time, and continues to be zoned as 
Residential (R) *(1404.4).  

In 1976 the Institute of Arctic and Alpine Research, was seeking to develop 
methodologies, including a combination of remote sensing techniques and 
interdisciplinary field studies, to assist governmental agencies at the township level, and 
to alleviate land management in natural hazard areas; including avalanche, landslide, 
mudflow, rockfall, and mountain flood *(INSTAAR).  As a part of this project, INSTAAR 
published a case study for the town of Ophir based on the Ophir Area Plate 9 open-file 
report provided by Art Mears to the State of Colorado in 1975 *(Special Publication 
Plate 9).  The Mears open-file report includes 15 hazard mapping area's initially done on 
1:24,000-scale (forty foot intervals) U.S. Geological Survey topographic maps.  The 
Plate 9 avalanche hazard zone map is defined by High Hazard Zone l, Moderate 
Hazard Zone ll, Zone Boundary, and Small Avalanches.  Small Avalanche areas are 
designated as Groups A, B, C, and D reflecting Small Avalanche Path's that are not to 
be included in either high or moderate hazard zones.  INSTAAR addresses Group A, B, 
C and D as minor paths indicated by arrows Fig. 2. 

The adopted Town of Ophir Hazards Map applies the High Hazard designation to lots 1-
10, block two, yet, on the INSTAAR map produced for the Town, the Property lies 
outside of the INSTAAR Zone 1.  On the INSTAAR map, the Property corresponds with 
Group B, and or minor paths according the the INSTAAR report Fig.2. *(2002 Mears 
Report), *(2007 Wilbur Report). 

Additionally, INSTAAR Fig 10., references "Houses moved by wet snow avalanches" 
and identified those as 1 and 2 on the map, yet no such homes exist on the Map of Old 
Ophir *(Map of Old Ophir).  The Telluride Historical Museum database has information 
and photos relating to a "Spring Snow Slide at Old Ophir May 13 1918".  The 
information and photos supplied reference two structures, however analysis of the 
supplied photos show that the area in question is by the Telephone Office (J) located on 
Granite Ave and Second St. *(Spring Snow Slide May 13 1918). 

It appears that the inclusion of Lots 1-10, Block 2 in the High Avalanche Hazard zone 
may have been based on an incorrect interpretation of the INSTAAR report information.  
The applicant requests that the map be amended to reflect the removal of the Property 
from the High Avalanche Hazard Zone. 

1404.��	�140�.� Page 25 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



    Pass-Through Review Cost Agreement 

Project Name:  Cornwall Property 

Project Summary:  The evaluation of avalanche hazard and mapping within lots 1-10, 

block two, Article 804 overlay adjustment, Appendix C Town of Ophir Hazards Map. 

Legal Description:  Lots 1-10, Block Two, Town of Ophir, Colorado 

Address:  NA 

Owner:  Joyce Whitaker, David Cornwall 

Applicant:  Joseph Waller 

Joseph Waller, the applicant, agrees to pay all of The Town of Ophir's application 

review fees, regardless of whether the application is approved, denied, approved with 

conditions, suspended, withdrawn, or dismissed. Joseph Waller shall be responsible for 

all costs borne by the Town of Ophir to review, analyze, comment upon and process the 

application. 

Joseph Waller    Date 

________________________________               ____________________ ����	�������
 ���������

����!��������#��������" ���������������$�����  �����������������������	����
�
���������������

140�
Page 26 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 27 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



APPENDIX C   ZONING, HAZARD AND SOURCE WATER PROTECTION MAPS          TOWN OF OPHIR LAND USE CODE 
140�.� Page 28 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



There are not currently any specific plans for structures to be built.  The intent is to sell 
the properties as build-able residential lots. 

The intention of this application is specifically for a change to the Official Town of Ophir 
High Hazards Map regarding lots 1-10, block two.  The applicant is not asking to change 
of any aspect of the current Town of Ophir Zoning Map. 

140�.4�	�140�.�

Page 29 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 30 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 31 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 32 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 33 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 34 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



 NATURAL HAZARDS IN MOUNTAIN COLORADO

 JACK D. IVES, ARTHUR I. MEARS, PAUL E. CARRARA, AND
 MICHAEL J. BOVIS

 ABSTRACT. Interdisciplinary field studies and remote sensing techniques were
 used to delineate mountain areas in Colorado subject to such natural hazards as

 snow avalanches, mudflows, rockfalls, and landslides. The old mining townsite of

 Ophir in the northwestern San Juan Mountains was used as a case study. Its serious
 snow avalanche hazard has been made even more critical with prospects of new

 housing developments. Techniques in remote sensing and geoecology have been

 applied to the solution of practical land management problems at the county and
 township levels of local government. The rapidly increasing hazard to human life

 and property results directly from accelerated growth of the winter recreation in-

 dustry and construction of mountain homes. Many of the world's temperate zone

 high mountains urgently need development and application of new land manage-

 ment policies. KEY WORDS: Avalanches, Geoecology, Hazards, Land management,
 Mountains, Remote sensing.

 THE mountain section of Colorado has ex-
 perienced accelerating pressures from

 rapid development of the recreation industry,
 principally winter sports expansion and the
 spread of second homes. The population ex-
 plosion along the Front Range urban corridor
 over the past ten years has induced the comple-
 tion of the Eisenhower Tunnel bypassing Love-
 land Pass and bringing large sections of Sum-
 mit, Eagle, and Pitkin counties within two to
 three hours' driving time of Denver; the twin-
 ning of 1-70 (partially complete); and the cre-
 ation of a new type of boom town, the ski
 resort, as exemplified by Vail.

 The inflow of population has placed large
 numbers of people with little or no mountain
 experience in high mountain terrain. Land val-
 ues exceed $70,000 per acre in some of the
 more attractive sites, and land speculation is
 rife. Only a limited amount of land in the
 Rocky Mountains is suited for home and con-
 dominium construction. The inevitable result-
 a combination of speculation, ignorance, and
 the very speed of the development itself-has
 been land sales and actual construction in areas
 subject to a variety of natural hazards: ava-

 Dr. Ives is Director of the Institute of Arctic and Alpine
 Research (INSTAAR) at the University of Colorado
 in Boulder, CO 80302; Mr. Mears is a natural hazards
 consultant in Boulder; Mr. Carrara is a geologist with
 the United States Geological Survey in Denver; and
 Dr. Bovis is a Research Associate at INSTAAR.

 lanche, landslide, mudflow, rockfall, and moun-
 tain flood.

 Over the past three years the Institute of
 Arctic and Alpine Research (INSTAAR) has
 been seeking to develop methodologies, includ-
 ing a combination of remote sensing techniques
 and interdisciplinary field studies, to assist gov-
 ernmental agencies at the township, county,
 and state levels to alleviate this serious land
 management problem. The initial studies were
 conducted near Vail, with smaller scale studies
 in Telluride, Crested Butte, Silverton, and
 Ophir. The special situations and problems of
 Ophir, San Miguel County, provide an excellent
 case study to demonstrate the methodologies
 used. No new development has taken place
 near Ophir, and the use of these methodologies
 to prepare hazard maps can give local planning
 authorities a better opportunity to control fu-
 ture growth patterns. The possibilities for the
 success of such an approach were greatly aug-
 mented in 1974 with the passage of Colorado
 State House Bill 1041 which, in part, requires
 each county to prepare maps of land subject to
 a variety of natural hazards. The legislative
 step has been reinforced by the development of
 hazard criteria and definitions by the Colorado
 Geological Survey.'

 1 W. P. Rogers et al., Guidelines and Criteria for
 Identification and Land-use Controls of Geologic
 Hazard and Mineral Resource Areas, Special Publica-

 ANNALS OF THE ASSOCIATION OF AMERICAN GEOGRAPHERS Vol. 66, No. 1, March 1976
 ( 1976 by the Association of American Geographers. Printed in U.S.A.

 129

This content downloaded from 132.174.250.143 on Mon, 25 Mar 2019 18:01:33 UTC
All use subject to https://about.jstor.org/terms

Page 35 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



 130 0ACK D. IVES ET AL. March

 TELLUR IDE

 Denver

 + asack

 COLORADO ~~1 355 Mtn. OR < FI Palya
 Pea If' 1 a,

 Ophir Loos P- Pe
 6 ~ 13446 o,- 16

 N *~~~* Ophir Loop L~~~~~~~Okut 11 oadT PIR Je X. Pea_ k
 | cj O Miles 1 2 l LMajor Ridges Ps

 Kilometers

 FIG. 1. Location of the Ophir-Telluride area, San
 Juan Mountains, southwestern Colorado.

 OPHIR AND SPRING GULCH

 Ophir is one of many relics of the early Col-
 orado mining boom. During most of the present
 century it has remained a small, almost for-
 gotten, group of houses with a total new mi-
 grant population of fewer than thirty persons.
 The town is in the northwestern San Juan
 Mountains at an elevation of 2,973 meters, 9.6
 kilometers south of Telluride, the county seat
 of San Miguel County and the site of a recent
 ski development. Mountain ridges exceeding
 3,962 meters separate the two settlements (Fig.
 1). Ophir occupies part of the floor of a spec-
 tacular glaciated valley which is drained by
 Howard Fork, a tributary of the San Miguel
 River. The townsite is north of the stream on
 the western sector of a large alluvial fan em-
 anating from Spring Gulch.

 The main source of avalanche hazard is
 Spring Gulch (Fig. 2 and PLATE I). The total
 vertical range of its catchment basin is 1,100
 meters from the summit of Silver Mountain
 (4,100 meters) to the vicinity of Ophir, making
 it one of the largest in Colorado. The snow ac-
 cumulation zone above 3,300 meters is almost
 entirely above treeline. Less than fifteen per-

 tion No. 6 (Denver: Colorado Geological Survey,
 1974).

 cent of the total area is too steep to accumu-
 late a deep snowpack. Most of the accumula-
 tion basin consists of smooth slopes with
 average gradients of 300 to 400. Much of this
 basin could probably release simultaneously,
 given appropriate snow and weather condi-
 tions. These steep, smooth slopes also have
 many active mudflow channels and extensive
 areas of soil creep, indicating instability that
 would provide serious difficulties for any fu-
 ture attempt to construct supporting structures
 to anchor the snowpack.

 Below about 3,300 meters the mass of mov-
 ing snow released from the accumulation basin
 (starting zone) becomes concentrated into the
 deeply entrenched channel of Spring Gulch,
 which serves as the avalanche track. All ava-
 lanches, regardless of type or size, utilize this
 channel, which has an average gradient of 260
 (45 percent) between 3,400 and 3,150 meters.
 Cross sections of previous avalanches have
 been surveyed (Fig. 3). The cross section of
 the April, 1973, wet snow avalanche indicates
 that the major powder avalanches of the past
 were much larger, partly because of the tur-
 bulent, high-velocity powder cloud which is
 assumed to have accompanied them. Measure-
 ment of broken trees along the margins indi-
 cates that the depth of the destructive moving
 fronts of past major events exceeded sixty
 meters.

 The lower part of the Spring Gulch catch-
 ment basin (run-out zone) is a gently undulat-
 ing alluvial fan. The undulations, with low
 ridges approximately perpendicular to the con-
 tours, are the result of numerous mudflows
 and/or debris flows. A local relief on the order
 of two meters is of considerable importance
 for wet snow avalanches, but has much less ef-
 fect on dry snow events. A small stream chan-
 nel extends from the apex of the fan down its
 western edge, and a steep-sided gully cuts into
 the surface east of the center line. Occasional
 conifers grow near the town, south of the
 county road, and in the upper part of the
 stream channel, which also contains patches
 of aspen and willow. Otherwise, the alluvial fan
 is treeless, although the eastern forest border
 (PLATE I) is abruptly uneven and indicates that
 timber probably has been cut in the past. The
 color infrared air photograph gives an excellent
 overview of the townsite and the immediate
 hazards that threaten it. Coniferous forest
 (dark red on the photograph) can be dis-

This content downloaded from 132.174.250.143 on Mon, 25 Mar 2019 18:01:33 UTC
All use subject to https://about.jstor.org/terms

Page 36 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5

admin




 Prepared by INSTAAR under NASA-PY Grant number NGL-06-003-200

 GENERALIZED AVALANCHE HAZARD MAP

 Major avalanche paths Houses in Ophir -12200

 J Small avalanche paths Cutroad

 ij Major alluvial fans .~-- Jeep trail

 1140~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~4

 "000~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ iiOOO

 Geological Survey.teva 20 f e

This content downloaded from 132.174.250.143 on Mon, 25 Mar 2019 18:01:33 UTC
All use subject to https://about.jstor.org/terms

Page 37 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



 132 JACK D. IVES ET AL. March

 tinguished from the aspen forest cover, which
 should always be viewed as an indicator of po-
 tential instability. The linear patterns in the
 vegetation, perpendicular to the contours, are
 diagnostic as a preliminary sign of avalanche
 hazard. This type of photograph has been a
 vital tool in all phases of the natural hazard
 delineation.

 The present residents have come to Ophir
 over the last three years. They have reincor-
 porated the town and have formed a small
 but very active group of modern "mountain
 men"" who obtain their livelihood largely by
 working in Telluride. In addition, the land-
 owners, deriving their land from early mining
 claims, are moving to place many housing lots
 on the market; ski resort speculation is appar-
 ent, and thus the ingredients for serious prob-
 lems in local planning are already assembled.
 This study was requested both by the people
 of Ophir and by the San Miguel County Plan-
 ning Office.

 THE PROBLEM

 A reconnaissance of Ophir and Howard
 Fork Valley in September, 1974, indicated that
 the major hazards threatening the existing
 houses, and especially the undeveloped area
 of the platted townsite to the east, were peri-
 odic wet and dry snow avalanches from Spring
 Gulch. The inhabitants were also in danger
 from avalanches crossing the access road be-
 tween Ophir and Telluride. Secondary hazards
 include the Waterfall Avalanche path, which
 ran and temporarily knocked out the town's
 water supply in January, 1975; a series of small
 avalanche paths north of the town and west of
 Spring Gulch; and a variety of mudflow, debris
 flow, rockfall, and associated problems (Fig.
 2). A growing tendency for cross-country
 skiers to use Ophir as a car park and ski up the
 valley toward Ophir Pass constitutes an addi-
 tional hazard not considered in the present
 study.

 The difficulties of assessing avalanche mag-
 nitude and frequency (recurrence interval) in

 Assumed powder avalanche

 POWDER

 AVALANCHES

 OF PAST Elev. 10920 t.-

 WET SLIDE OF 1973
 0 100 200

 Elev.:-.10290 F.Feet

 FIG. 3. Cross sections of three Spring Gulch ava-
 lanches.

 areas such as the European Alps, where hun-
 dreds of years of historical data are available,
 are formidable.2 In Colorado historical data

 frequently are entirely lacking, especially for
 Ophir, where none of the pre sent residents has
 lived in the area for more than three years,
 although we have some information dating
 back to the early years of the century. Since
 the physical properties of snow vary rapidly in
 time and space, the difficulty of predicting ava-
 lanche size is basically a problem of inadequate
 snow mechanics theory. Two main forms of
 torrential snow mass movement must be con-

 sidered: dry powder avalanches, sometimes ac-
 companied by an airborne powder cloud, that

 2 H. Aulitzky, "Endangered Alpine Regions and
 Disaster Prevention Measures," Nature and Environ-
 ment, No. 6 (Strasbourg: Council of Europe, 1974);
 H. Frutiger, The Avalanche Zoning Plan, Translation
 No. 11 (Alta, Utah: U. S. Forest Service Alta Ava-
 lanche Study Center, 1970); and 0. Voellmy, On the
 Destructive Force of Avalanches, Translation No. 2
 (Alta, Utah: U. S. Forest Service Alta Avalanche
 Study Center, 1964).

 PLATE I. Color infrared photograph taken from 70,000 feet as part of a NASA underflight
 mission in support of LANDSAT I. The townsite of Ophir, Spring Gulch, and the alluvial fan
 are conspicuous. Aspen and coniferous forest and vegetation trimlines emphasize the avalanche
 paths. A recent mudflow, which originated right of center, has swept down the gulch east of
 Spring Gulch and run along the bed of Howard Fork. (Enough reproductions of this photograph
 for insertion in each copy of this issue of the Annals were provided under the auspices of NASA
 Grant NGL-06-003-200 without cost to the Association of American Geographers.)

This content downloaded from 132.174.250.143 on Mon, 25 Mar 2019 18:01:33 UTC
All use subject to https://about.jstor.org/terms

Page 38 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5

admin




 1976 NATURAL HAzARws IN COLORAOo 133

 r.. - N' I !A.~~~~~~~~

 ~~~~ ~~~~~ ii ~~~~~~~~~~~* *1~~~~~~~~~~l

 " I

This content downloaded from 132.174.250.143 on Mon, 25 Mar 2019 18:01:33 UTC
All use subject to https://about.jstor.org/terms

Page 39 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



 1976 NATURAL HAZARDS IN COLORADO 135

 may travel up to 120 m/sec (250 mph); and
 wet snow avalanches that travel much more
 slowly (up to 22 m/sec, or 50 mph), but also
 produce formidable pressures in the run-out
 zone.3 Assessment of hazard must consider the
 maximum possible run-out zones both of wet
 and of dry snow avalanches, recurrence inter-
 vals, and probable pressures in the run-out
 zone. Two extreme cases would be one in
 which an avalanche discharges at least once
 each winter and one in which infrequent oc-
 currence-perhaps less than once in 100
 years-even allows reafforestation of the track
 and run-out zone. The first should be so self-
 evident that it is usually avoided automatically,
 but the second type may escape recognition.
 Serious loss of life and property may result in
 areas such as Colorado, which have rapid pop-
 ulation growth and few historical data. On the
 other hand, the indirect methods of prediction,
 if indicating a recurrence interval of more than
 100 years, may limit otherwise usable land and
 will probably be more difficult to maintain in
 a legal action, given the obvious margin of er-
 ror in interpretation of the field data. The
 concept of the 100-year avalanche (best de-
 scribed as a one percent chance of an ava-
 lanche in any one year) has not yet remotely
 attained the legal and planning respectability
 of the 100-year flood.

 This study used indirect and direct field
 methods, applied available, albeit imperfect,
 flow laws, and used any historic data that
 could be collected from interviews with local
 residents. To the problems of determining the
 magnitude and frequency of natural cata-
 strophic events must be added the challenge of
 translating the research results into meaning-
 ful recommendations so that the responsible
 decision-makers can improve mountain land
 management within the limits set by the dem-
 ocratic process of local government. We rec-
 ognized that snow avalanches were the major
 source of hazard facing Ophir. Although other
 natural hazards, including mudflow, debris
 flow, rockfall, and mountain flood, are present,
 major emphasis had to be placed on the deter-
 mination of avalanche magnitude and fre-
 quency.4

 3 M. Mellor, Avalanchles, Monograph A-I1d (Han-
 over, New Hampshire: U. S. Army Cold Regions Re-
 search and Engineering Laboratory, 1968).

 4 NASA EROS underflight imagery, false color,
 flown at high altitude (20,000 meters) in support of

 TYPES OF AVALANCHES

 The types of avalanches in Spring Gulch
 differ greatly in extent, velocity, flow character-
 istics, and mechanics of impact, and they must
 be considered separately if defense structures
 and new habitations are to be planned.

 Wet Snow A valanches

 Wet snow avalanches have a density of 300
 to 400 kg/m3, although they may attain maxi-
 mum velocities of 22 m/sec in the main gully
 of Spring Gulch. Because of their relatively low
 velocities, they tend to follow irregularities in
 the terrain fairly closely and are more easily
 controlled in the run-out zone than are dry
 snow avalanches. Nevertheless, the paths of wet
 snow avalanches are less predictable because
 channel blockage by the debris itself can cause
 lobes to break out into entirely new courses.
 Wet snow avalanches can also produce high
 impact pressures and could conceivably reach
 any section of the Spring Gulch alluvial fan.
 Three houses in Ophir have been moved by
 such events.

 Dry Snow Avalanches

 An avalanche of mixed dry flowing and
 powder snow is the most dangerous and de-
 structive type emerging from Spring Gulch. It
 is also the most difficult to control. It occurs as
 large releases of cold, dry snow, generally in
 midwinter, and consists of two parts. A lower
 part, with a density of 60 to 90 kg/M3, tends
 to follow terrain irregularities and probably at-
 tains velocities of up to 90 m/sec in the ava-
 lanche track. These velocities will drop fairly
 rapidly in the run-out zone because of the
 great reduction in gradient. The widespread
 open ground encourages the flowing snow mass
 to extend laterally and become more shallow.
 High velocity in the gully, however, creates a
 low density, high velocity suspension of snow
 and ice particles which is called the powder
 cloud. Its density probably ranges between 2
 and 10 kg/M3. Damage to tree limbs on the
 sides of Spring Gulch apparently was caused
 by this portion of past avalanche events, indi-

 LANDSAT-1 (ERTS-1) imagery interpretation proj-
 ects, was the principal tool used for mapping the more
 conspicuous physical features and the significant vege-
 tation cover types. Maps thus generated were then used
 during fieldwork, together with the USGS 1:24,000
 topographic map series and the air photo interpreta-
 tion maps.

This content downloaded from 132.174.250.143 on Mon, 25 Mar 2019 18:01:33 UTC
All use subject to https://about.jstor.org/terms

Page 40 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



 136 JACK D. IVES ET AL. March

 FIG. 4. Mature conifers at the extreme limit of the
 Spring Gulch run-out zone have been trimmed by the
 impact of the powder cloud of fast-moving snow and
 air blasts (photo by Jack D. Ives).

 cating a flow depth of at least sixty meters. Al-
 though the powder cloud will also tend to
 widen and decelerate on the alluvial fan, it can
 overtake the denser body of flowing snow,
 completely cross the fan, and damage mature
 coniferous trees on the south side of Howard
 Fork, a full 800 meters from the mouth of
 Spring Gulch (Fig. 4).

 DENDROCHRONOLOGY AND DEBRIS

 The avalanche paths themselves are rendered
 conspicuous on the air photographs and in the
 field by major vegetation differences resulting
 from the magnitude and frequency of avalanche
 occurrence (PLATE I). An idealized cross sec-
 tion of the middle reaches of an avalanche path
 has an inner zone of alpine plants. or aspen and
 willow, where avalanches are frequent and
 relatively small; an intermediate zone of de-
 stroyed mature trees with seedlings or saplings
 of either conifers and/or aspen where ava-
 lanches are less frequent and larger: and an
 outer undamaged zone of mature conifers (Fig.
 5). The outer edge of the undamaged mature
 stand is usually trimmed by the rare major ava-
 lanche. The height of snapped limbs can be
 used to calculate the cross section of the major
 event, the marginal pressures generated. and
 the maximum horizontal spread if the edge of
 the run-out zone has mature stands.

 COMPARATIVE WIDTHS OF AVALANCHE TRACKS

 TRACK OF MAJOR
 INFREQUENT AVALANCHES

 TRACK OF SMALL A
 FREQUENT AVALANCHES

 FIG. 5. Idealized mid-track cross section of an ava-
 lanche path showing vegetation trimlines.

 This idealized description is frequently de-
 veloped in the field to a sufficient degree to
 facilitate the application of standard dendro-
 chronological methods.5 Scars, discernable in
 cross section or increment core. are produced
 by physical damage to the tree, including
 breakage of limbs. In addition, the occasional
 pressure against trees at the edges of the ava-
 lanche path may bend rather than break limbs
 and stem. A bent coniferous tree forms reac-
 tion wood (compression wood) on the down-
 slope side and frequently has compressed tree
 rings on the upslope side. The reaction wood in
 conifers is reddish Xellow and shows thick
 walled cells under the microscope (Fig. 6).
 Ring compression was not observed in aspen,
 but reaction wood is common and has a dark
 red-broxwn color.

 Several natural limitations in the Ophir area
 restricted the collection of data through appli-
 cation of these principles. The primary limita-
 tion is the age of the tree itself. Coring of En-

 j N. Potter. Jr.. Tree-ring Dating of Snow A valanche
 Tracks and the Geoo7orphic Activity of Avalanching.
 Absaroka Mountains, Wyoming. Special Paper No. 123
 (Boulder. Colorado: Geological Society of America,
 1969).

This content downloaded from 132.174.250.143 on Mon, 25 Mar 2019 18:01:33 UTC
All use subject to https://about.jstor.org/terms

Page 41 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



 1976 NATURAL HAzARDS IN COLORADO 137

 6Diagm f cn f

 FIG.ase 6. Diagrkambfrosseion. h ofergconhife show-y
 haing avlnhe impawhct damag-e ad r9 eatio weood. the
 scinezonewaofcreactionmwoodrproducedawhile the tree

 Tad he gap on therih secide faesulthedfo avalanchetrcan

 impact, the point of the impact being on the opposite
 (bottom) side. This shows one-direction bending since
 the tree had become strong enough to resist bending in
 all directions except the main one.

 gelmann spruce (Picea engelmannii) in the
 avalanche-damaged forest area southeast of
 Ophir revealed that most dated from the turn
 of the century. A few were more than a hun-
 dred years old, although there were insufficient
 numbers of these to provide data with a high
 level of statistical significance. Trees were also
 cored in reforested areas at the bottom of

 Spring Gulch which have several aspen (Popu-
 lus tremuloides) trinilines but, again, age of the
 trees limited the historical record. The other

 major limitation was the general absence of
 trees on the main part of the Spring Gulch fan.
 Thus, allowance must be made for the possible
 occurrence of quite large avalanches (which
 could cover much of the townsite) that left no
 record in the forest stand at the extreme edge
 of the run-out zone.

 These applications indicated that the for-
 ested area southeast of Ophir was struck by a

 fi~~~~~ ,&,6a-

 FIG. 7. Avalanche debris on the Spring Gulch fan.
 This photograph gives a graphic impression of the
 proximity of the existing settlement of Ophir to ava-
 lanche activity (photo by Jack D. Ives).

 large avalanche in the late 1950s. The damage
 indicates a dry powder avalanche, which sug-
 gests the January event of 1958, rather than
 the wet slide of April, 1959, known from re-
 ports of local residents. An avalanche in the
 early 1950s is evident in several trees north-
 east of the town, but the recorded avalanche of
 January, 1951, although large, apparently did
 not cross Howard Fork.

 Trees cored in a control forested area show
 no recent avalanche damage, yet indicate dis-
 turbance in the middle to late 1880s and pos-
 sibly in the early 1860s. Few trees cored pos-
 sess a tree ring record that extends back this
 far, but it appears that avalanches from Spring
 Gulch crossed Howard Fork at least once and
 possibly twice in the latter half of the nine-
 teenth century.

 A histogram showing the number of distur-
 bances (compressed rings and reaction wood)
 noted in the tree ring analysis has been weighted
 to account for the fact that many trees did not
 have an early tree ring record. No tree ring
 evidence indicated the avalanches of 1918 and
 1959 which ran close to Ophir. Evidently these
 avalanches did not run across Howard Fork to
 be recorded in the tree ring record. Other ava-
 lanches also may have gone unrecorded be-
 cause of the lack of forest.

 Finally, tree and rock debris scattered across
 Spring Gulch fan (Fig. 7) were mapped sys-

This content downloaded from 132.174.250.143 on Mon, 25 Mar 2019 18:01:33 UTC
All use subject to https://about.jstor.org/terms

Page 42 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



 138 JACK D. IVES ET AL. March

 tematically, since their distribution provides
 good evidence for the minimum extent of ava-
 lanche activity. Such debris, however, is prob-
 ably the result of multiple events: debris may
 not necessarily be carried all the way to the
 extreme end of the run-out; and tree debris may
 be absent from some areas because of distur-
 bance by man. Nevertheless, useful supple-
 mentary data were obtained and used in the
 compilation of the hazard maps (Figs. 2 and
 10).

 HISTORICAL DATA

 Old photographs, newspaper files, and the
 recollections of long-term residents add con-
 fidence to the indirect evidence, but this type
 of data also must be used with caution, since
 human recollection of events can give indica-
 tions larger than reality; remembrance of actual
 dates can be particularly faulty. Convergence
 of different types of evidence becomes a valu-
 able test of reliability, and in Ophir such con-
 vergence indicates a high degree of accuracy
 in reconstruction. Mr. and Mrs. Randolphe
 Belisle, long-term residents of the area who
 currently live at Ophir Loop, say that ava-
 lanches from Spring Gulch have reached the
 vicinity of Ophir four times in the last fifty-six
 years. Large wet slides reached the town dur-
 ing May, 1918, and April, 1959, and dry snow
 avalanches approached the town in midwinter
 1951 and in January, 1958. The 1958 event
 crossed the creek at the extreme edge of the
 alluvial fan and hit mature trees, causing dam-
 age to limbs. Snow accumulated in mid-fan to
 the height of the telephone poles (nine meters).
 Mr. Fred Eanes, a present Ophir resident, re-
 ported that a moderately large wet snow ava-
 lanche from Spring Gulch in April or May,
 1973, split into three lobes; one ran to within
 100 to 200 meters of the existing houses. Since
 this avalanche is the best known to the present
 residents, it provides a useful base for com-
 parison with larger events of the past. The
 relative size of the track cross sections indicate
 that the destructive front of the 1973 event, as
 it passed through the lower gully of Spring
 Gulch, was small in comparison with past
 events, but wet snow deposits on the upper and
 middle part of the fan were up to ten meters
 deep (Fig. 3).6

 6 Fred Eanes, personal communication, February,
 1975.

 4Z<
 v 6 -P.

 \ a - -O

 FIG. 8. Photograph taken about 1950 showing how
 major avalanches cross the access road between Ophir
 and Ophir Loop (photograph by Mrs. Randolphe
 Belisle).

 Mrs. Belisle was also able to provide infor-
 mation on the avalanche paths that threaten
 the access road. They may be expected to cut
 the road every three to four years (Fig. 8).
 The present residents had their first experience
 with this phenomenon in January, 1975, when
 the road was buried in at least four places by
 the Howard Fork, Magnolia, St. Louis, and
 Badger avalanche paths (Fig. 2); the Colorado
 avalanche reached the edge of the road, as did
 the Needles avalanche, while the Butterfly
 and Terrible ran out onto the highway west of
 Ophir Loop. This type of hazard is significantly
 more severe today with daily movement be-
 tween Ophir and Telluride than it was fifty
 years ago, when the residents were more or
 less closed in for the winter. The historical
 record is impressive enough, but other large
 avalanches may have gone unnoticed if their
 debris was covered by new snow during mid-
 winter snowstorms.

 FREQUENCY OF LARGE AVALANCHES

 Historical data indicate that four avalanches
 have either reached or closely approached
 Ophir during the last fifty-six years. Tree ring
 analysis substantiates and reinforces this recol-
 lection of local residents. From a combination
 of the two lines of enquiry, the broad picture
 of avalanche activity has been put together

This content downloaded from 132.174.250.143 on Mon, 25 Mar 2019 18:01:33 UTC
All use subject to https://about.jstor.org/terms

Page 43 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



 1976 NATURAL HAZARDS IN COLORADO 139

 NUMBER OF DISTURBANCES

 (COMPRESSED RINGS AND/OR REACTION WOOD)

 0~~~ _ -4 -) OD0-FQ M N -4

 , 1880-89

 -1 1890-99

 o 1900-09

 0 1910-19 tn1920-29
 C
 m 1930-39

 D 1940-49
 m 1950-59

 1960-69

 FIG. 9. Frequency of avalanche occurrence as in-
 terpreted from the tree-ring record.

 (Fig. 9) as the basis for subsequent recommen-
 dations on land management.

 Powder avalanche impact on trees in the
 run-out zone, south of Howard Fork, occurred
 in the late 1950s and probably in the middle
 to late 1880s. Two cores suggest avalanche im-
 pact south of Howard Fork in the early 1860s.
 Young, uniformly aged aspen stands on the
 lateral track boundaries between 3,200 and
 3,300 meters elevation are fifteen to twenty
 years old. They correspond to the lateral flow
 boundaries of the avalanches of the late 1950s,
 which were considered large since they reached
 the town limits. Avalanche damage and trim-
 lines extending farther up the sides of the gully
 indicate that Spring Gulch has run much
 larger in the past.

 When the historical and tree ring records
 are combined, there is substantial evidence for
 six major avalanches, all capable of reaching
 Ophir (1860?, 1885, 1918, 1951, 1958, 1959),
 in the last 114 years. We conclude an average
 recurrence interval of approximately twenty
 years, indicating a five percent probability of
 occurrence in any one year. The total number
 of events and the length of the record weaken
 any statistical approach, but, as a first approxi-
 mation, we argue that the conclusion is highly
 relevant to land use decision-making. In ad-
 dition, the Spring Gulch fan has no forest
 cover, so that the six avalanches identified rep-
 resent a minimum number of occurrences. The
 1918 and 1959 avalanches are not revealed in
 the tree ring record. Evidently they did not
 run out across Howard Fork into the forested

 area. The very absence of trees on the fan it-
 self is an indicator of a geomorphologically ac-
 tive environment, although some timber may
 have been cut, especially along its eastern
 margin.

 EXTENT AND IMPACT PRESSURE OF

 RUN-OUTS

 Mapping of debris and damage to living
 trees, historical data, and dendrochronology
 give good indications of the frequency of ava-
 lanche occurrence. They also assist in delinea-
 tion of the extent of the run-out zone and in
 calculation of impact pressures. As a further
 cross check, the extent was calculated mathe-
 matically by using Voellmy's equations of ava-
 lanche flow, which are applicable to dense,
 flowing avalanches, both wet and dry.7 They
 do not consider lateral spreading in diffuse
 powder avalanches of great height, so we used
 independent methods to calculate the forces
 associated with the high velocity powder head
 which accompanies dry powder avalanches in
 Spring Gulch.8 Additional modifications were
 made to Voellmy's approach following the
 work of Schaerer.9 The basis for these compu-
 tations, however, is an expression derived by
 Voellmy equating avalanche kinetic energy
 with frictional work, viscous energy dissipation,
 turbulent energy dissipation, and potential en-
 ergy, solved for calculating run-out distance.
 To check the applicability of the Swiss work to
 Ophir, the run-out distance was measured in
 the field to coincide with the outer limit of
 timber destruction on the south side of Howard
 Fork. This agreed very well with the computed
 figures.

 The next step was to calculate impact pres-
 sures across the. run-out zone. It was necessary
 to estimate the deceleration of the flow as it
 crossed. the fan. For the powder avalanches, the
 velocity at the top of the fan was calculated us-
 ing Voellmy's equations, and the velocity at
 Howards Fork was calculated from observed
 impact effects on mature trees.10 We assumed
 that velocity decreased between these two
 points proportionately. The velocity remaining

 7 Voellmy, op. cit., footnote 2. In practice, modifi-
 cations were made to Voellmy's approach. Any one
 who would like a detailed explanation should write to
 the senior author.

 8 Voellmy, op. cit., footnote 2.
 9 P. A. Schaerer, personal communication, 1975.
 10 Voellmy, op. cit., footnote 2.

This content downloaded from 132.174.250.143 on Mon, 25 Mar 2019 18:01:33 UTC
All use subject to https://about.jstor.org/terms

Page 44 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



 140 JACK D. IVES ET AL. March

 at the bottom of the run-out was calculated by
 assuming that the flow was nine meters (?
 one meter) deep as it hit the trees. This figure
 was obtained by measuring impact trimming
 of limbs. The velocity was assumed to have a
 logarithmic velocity profile, as is common in
 turbulent shear flow. Diameters of broken trees
 compared with adjacent surviving trees pro-
 vided data for derivation of impact pressures,
 again using Voellmy's methods." We took the
 conservative approach of assuming that trees
 failed by "static" rather than by "dynamic"
 loading.

 An alternate method calculated the velocity
 through simple conservation of energy. The
 kinetic energy per unit of flowing mass is 1/2 V2.
 This is transformed into potential energy

 gained, gh, friction work, (g cosO)jld, flow
 work, and drag on surrounding air, where h is
 the height climbed, 0 the average slope angle,
 ji the coefficient of friction, d the slope dis-
 tance, and g the acceleration caused by gravity.
 If flow work and drag are assumed small as
 the avalanches climb the slope south of the
 Howard Fork, then

 V2
 V gh + (g cos0) ld.

 The distance, d, was measured as 75 meters in

 the field, h is 13.5 meters, 0 is 130, and tk is
 assumed to have been 0.5. The velocity cal-
 culated in this manner is 31 m/sec.

 The two methods give velocities at the
 Howard Fork of approximately 30 to 50 m/sec
 if dynamic loading is assumed, and 30 to 65
 m/sec if static loading is assumed. If an aver-
 age velocity of 45 m/sec is taken and a velocity
 of 100 m/sec is calculated at the top of the
 fan, then a velocity decay between these points
 can be obtained. The velocities calculated in
 this way were converted to impact pressures,
 P, through the relationship

 p 1 V2
 2 g

 where y is the density, in order to subdivide
 run-out hazard maps into two zones of impact
 pressure.

 These calculations and a plot of the debris
 distribution were combined for construction of
 preliminary hazard maps. Subsequent discus-
 sion with local residents, examination of winter

 11 Voellmy, op. cit., footnote 2.

 field conditions, and collection of more de-
 tailed information on the location of wet snow
 avalanche lobes led to modifications and the
 production of the final maps (Figs. 2 and 10).

 The final avalanche hazard maps follow the
 traditional Swiss and Austrian approach and
 show three zones of intensity.'1 In Zone I, ava-
 lanches will occur every twenty years or less
 and produce impact pressures greater than 3
 t/m2.13 Zone II will have avalanches with a
 recurrence interval greater than twenty years
 and with impact pressures below 3 t/m2. Zone
 III is considered free of avalanche hazard. Any
 method of avalanche prediction has built-in
 uncertainties and limitations, but combining
 them in hazard assessment maps provides a
 reasonable first approach. This approach
 should be supplemented by a coordinated pro-
 gram to observe and survey avalanche events.

 The avalanche run-out zones that cross the
 access road from Ophir to Ophir Loop have
 not received the detailed attention given to
 Spring Gulch. The run-out zones as plotted
 present a conservative viewpoint, and the re-
 currence interval of three to four years, based
 upon Mrs. Belisle's recollection, is short enough
 to emphasize that a considerable hazard exists,
 but it is an entirely different hazard from that
 facing houses. A house needs to be hit only
 once with its owners inside for danger to life
 and property to be high. Avalanches may cross
 the access road many times with little chance of
 hitting a vehicle, and inconvenience is the
 more probable result. Nevertheless, the hazard
 will grow in proportion to any increase in
 population, so that development of effective
 land management policies is vital.'4

 PLANNING RECOMMENDATIONS

 We recommend that no construction be per-
 mitted within Zone I on the avalanche hazard
 maps. Any new buildings in Zone II, south of
 Howard Fork, where damage is primarily the
 result of powder avalanches, should be de-
 signed to withstand 3 t/m2 impact loading. The

 12 Aulitzky, op. cit., Frutiger, op. cit., and Voellmy,
 op. cit., footnote 2.

 13 The Swiss Federal Government prohibits con-
 struction at pressure above 3.0 metric tons per square
 meter (t/m2) = 615 psf.

 14 E. R. LaChapelle, Encounter Probabilities for
 Avalanche Damnage, Miscellaneous Report 10 (Alta,
 Utah: U. S. Forest Service Alta Avalanche Study
 Center, 1966).

This content downloaded from 132.174.250.143 on Mon, 25 Mar 2019 18:01:33 UTC
All use subject to https://about.jstor.org/terms

Page 45 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



 1976 NATURAL HAZARDS IN COLORADO 141

 Cor. No.4 , / Cor. No.3

 F;~~~~~~~~o IS, LL I[ U M
 r /i

 \K i%1 ?t i ,-s.~ / / /. Y 1l111 ;- II
 Hor N o sI mov. by wEt sw r.

 OuterlimitZoneI LK1 iIfEmpIc

 pressures based on Voelimys OPHIR TOWNSITE
 eqt/luatios mvdb e SAN MIGUIEL COUNTY

 N ~~~STATE of COLORADO
 < 4 Outer limit of avalanche debris - assigned to Zone I From Town Plat Book no.28,pg.12

 Estimated run-out of 1973 wet spring avalanche Redrawn July, 1974 by DRJ

 Outer limits of estimated wet spring avalanche that moved 0 200Feet

 "-- Zon<houses I and 2 b
 Zone s <61 5 psf impact pressures based on VoellmyMs equations A

 Outer limit of wet spring avalanches from adjacent valley sides
 classed as within Zone I |_MA_ P

 Prepared by INSTAAR under NASA-PY Grant number NGL-06-003-200

 FIG. 10. Detailed avalanche hazard map, Ophir.

 uplift force of the aerodynamic loading must
 also be considered. Wind blast from powder
 avalanches may also occur close to the indi-
 cated run-out limits, and even pressures less
 than 0.5 t/m2 are potentially destructive for
 normal buildings. Windows, for instance,
 should not face the apex of the Spring Gulch
 alluvial fan. The other areas of Zone II indi-
 cate a recurrence interval greater than twenty
 years and diminished impact pressures, al-
 though the same building restrictions should
 apply.

 Dry and wet snow avalanches originate on
 the aspen-covered slope just west of Spring
 Gulch and on the hillside southeast of the
 town. We recommend that consideration be
 given to the feasibility of evacuating the threat-
 ened section of the town of Ophir at times of
 extreme danger from large wet snow ava-
 lanches from Spring Gulch unless defense mea-
 sures are undertaken. A successful evacua-
 tion policy will depend upon improvement in
 current forecasting. Although much progress
 has been made in predicting the timing of wet

 snow avalanches, based upon recent work in
 the Red Mountain Pass-Silverton area on the
 far side of Ophir Pass, much more is required
 before a practical evacuation scheme can be
 developed.15 Finally, there is some undeter-
 minable possibility that an even larger ava-
 lanche in the future will sweep through most of
 the existing built-up area. In the absence of his-
 torical evidence for an event of this magnitude,
 we are dealing with an extremely long recur-
 rence interval that cannot be incorporated into
 any realistic land use policy.

 For reduction of existing hazards that
 threaten Ophir, six standard mitigation ap-
 proaches should be considered.

 Warning and Evacuation: Local residents
 might be evacuated before a major avalanche if

 15 R. L. Armstrong, E. R. LaChapelle, M. J. Bovis,
 and J. D. Ives, Development of Methodology for
 Evaluation and Prediction of A valanche Hazard in the
 San Juan Mountain At-ea of Southwestern Colorado,
 Occasional Paper 13 (Boulder, Colorado: Institute of
 Arctic and Alpine Research, University of Colorado,
 1974).

This content downloaded from 132.174.250.143 on Mon, 25 Mar 2019 18:01:33 UTC
All use subject to https://about.jstor.org/terms

Page 46 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



 142 JACK D. IVES ET AL. March

 competent local observers are available, but
 a successful evacuation program depends upon
 the credibility of the scheme to the local resi-
 dents. Prediction is extremely difficult and, with
 a recurrence interval of twenty years for major
 events, the Austrian and Swiss experience
 would indicate that a high degree of success is
 unlikely.

 Explosives: Control of avalanching snow by
 explosives is widely practiced at ski resorts
 and along highways. The run-out zones are
 evacuated before release. This system is not
 used for built-up areas, because permanent
 buildings cannot be moved from run-out zones,
 and controlled releases are sometimes much
 larger than anticipated. These methods would
 pose complex legal problems in the event of
 property damage or personal injury.

 Structures in the starting zone: Such struc-
 tures have been used in the Alps with some
 success, although there is virtually no experi-
 ence in the United States with large-scale struc-
 tural control in the starting zone, and in addi-
 tion, costs would probably exceed $200,000
 per acre of defense structure.'

 Structures in the run-out zone: Dense, low
 level avalanches, both wet and dry, may be
 controlled by placing obstacles in the run-out
 zone to dissipate avalanche energy or to deflect
 the flow. These structures are largely ineffective
 against high velocity dry snow avalanches, es-
 pecially when accompanied by an airborne
 cloud, but wet snow avalanches are the great-
 est hazard to the existing houses. The most
 promising structure would be a large earthen
 dam designed to split the flow 150 to 300
 meters northeast of Ophir. This dam might be
 combined with an array of earthen mounds to
 dissipate the flow energy and with an afforesta-
 tion program (Fig. 11). An alternative ap-
 proach, which could also be used in conjunc-
 tion, would be to barricade the mouth of the
 small stream channel running down the western
 margin of the fan. Such a barricade could de-
 flect wet snow avalanches down the fan's center
 line.'7

 Protection structures for individual build-
 ings: Special building design has proved effec-
 tive in the Alps when individual buildings re-
 quired protection. Such structures are designed
 to withstand high impact pressures or to split

 16 H. Frutiger, personal communication, 1975.
 17 Fred Eanes, personal communication, 1974.

 the flow of snow, but diverted snow may dam-
 age adjacent, closely spaced buildings in a
 town. Nevertheless, development of new indi-
 vidual buildings in Ophir may produce candi-
 dates for such an approach.

 Afforestation: Extensive afforestation of the
 Spring Gulch alluvial fan northeast of the ex-
 isting buildings could be beneficial. Such a
 scheme should be used only in conjunction
 with earthen deflecting structures, and would
 render them more acceptable esthetically. Af-
 forestation is used primarily in the avalanche
 starting zones. Large avalanches may sweep
 away a forest in the run-out zone which does
 not have adequate earthen structures, and the
 ram effect of the tree trunks carried down with
 the slide may increase the damage.

 An additional and obvious alternative is to
 do nothing, let avalanches occur, and accept
 the risk. This risk may be approximated statis-
 tically through the concept of "encounter prob-
 ability."'" For instance, if an avalanche has a
 recurrence interval of twenty years and a build-
 ing in its path has an estimated life of forty
 years, there is an eighty-six percent chance that
 the building will be hit by an avalanche once
 during its life. If it is occupied by one family
 for ten years, that family has a thirty-nine per-
 cent chance of being hit. The probability of
 impact carries the possibility of death or per-
 sonal injury. Also, it is one thing to adopt a
 "do nothing" policy for buildings which have
 stood for many years, but quite another to per-
 mit erection of new buildings. Future construc-
 tion should be vigorously controlled by the
 county planning authorities.

 CONCLUSIONS

 The Alpine countries are experiencing a
 rapid acceleration in the rate of avalanche and
 other hazard-induced death, injury, and prop-
 erty damage.2') This accelerating loss, and the
 concomitant increase in expenditures for pro-
 tection, is a result of a rapid growth in popula-
 tion based primarily upon modern two-season
 tourism which has become characteristic of
 high mountains in temperate latitudes.2' The

 18 Frutiger, op. cit., footnote 2.
 19.! LaChapelle, op. cit., footnote 14.
 2t Aulitzky, op. cit.. footnote 2.
 21 This phenomenon has been identified as a major

 study area under the UNESCO Man and the Biosphere
 Programme (MAB). MAB Report 14: Programme on
 Man and the Biosphere, Working Group on Project 6:

This content downloaded from 132.174.250.143 on Mon, 25 Mar 2019 18:01:33 UTC
All use subject to https://about.jstor.org/terms

Page 47 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



 1976 NATURAL HAZARDS IN COLORADO 143

 Possible site for
 barrage against Spring

 wet snow aval- GuIch
 anches

 West slope runout - |

 0000nlocation of
 mounds and

 ~~~.---- ~ deflecting

 Approximate |
 site for afforte / Southeast corner
 estation / avalanche runout

 o 500 1000 Feet

 0 100 200 300 Meters

 FIG. 11. Projected outline of avalanche defense possibilities for Ophir. Any detailed planning
 would require an in-depth engineering site survey.

 phenomenon is acute in the Alps; it is becom-
 ing acute in Colorado and other parts of the
 North American mountain west. Natural haz-
 ard mapping, now in its infancy, still awaits de-
 velopment of prototype thematic maps at dif-
 ferent scales-the general scale of 1: 24,000
 or 1:50,000, and the site scale down to
 1:1,000. There is also the opportunity for ap-
 plication of remote sensing techniques, partic-
 ularly NASA-LANDSAT underfiight imagery
 interpretation. Satellite imagery should be use-
 ful for rapid reconnaissance mapping at scales
 of 1:100,000 to 1:500,000 for the state as a
 whole. Such highly generalized maps, although

 Impact of Human Activities on Mountain and Tundra
 Ecosystems (Lillehammer, November 20-23, 1973),
 Final Report (Paris: UNESCO, March 20, 1974).

 of little direct value for site survey and design,
 would delineate critical areas and provide a
 powerful tool for assault on another associated
 and complex problem: public awareness.

 Another major problem is establishment of
 criteria for designation of the 100-year ava-
 lanche run-out zone-the analogue of the 100-
 year floodplain-for planning and legal pur-
 poses. The solution of this problem would be
 facilitated by systematic collection of data re-
 lating to avalanche events. A start could be
 made through the training of local volunteers
 for recording size, type, and date of avalanche
 events; additional mountain weather observa-

 tion stations would also be useful. Finally, de-
 tailed mapping and derivation of hazard maps
 for individual communities such as Ophir would

This content downloaded from 132.174.250.143 on Mon, 25 Mar 2019 18:01:33 UTC
All use subject to https://about.jstor.org/terms

Page 48 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



 144 JACK D. IVES ET AL. March

 assist in the identification of alternate building
 sites.22

 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

 We are indebted to Joseph Vitale of the
 NASA Office of University Affairs, monitor of
 Grant No. NGL-06-003-200 to the senior
 author. His enthusiasm and encouragement
 have been invaluable. Mark Frauhiger, County
 Planner, San Miguel County, was largely re-
 sponsible for the initiation of the project. The
 residents of Ophir and vicinity have provided
 hospitality and historical data, and have offered
 to become Colorado's first volunteer avalanche
 observer team; this study is dedicated to them
 and their children. Paula V. Krebs, INSTAAR
 research ecologist, established the dendrochro-
 nological approach, and Hans Frutiger and

 22The work described here has been identified as
 part of the United State's contribution to the UNESCO
 Man and the Biosphere Program (MAB), Project 6:
 Impact of Human Activities on Mountain and Tundra
 Ecosystems.

 Edward LaChapelle have provided advice and
 encouragement in the development of IN-
 STAAR's applied mountain geoecology pro-
 gram.

 Throughout the development of INSTAAR's
 work under the NASA-PY grant- Application
 of Space Technology to the Solution of Land
 Management Problems in Montane Colo-
 rado-numerous graduate students and staff
 members have assisted and thereby have
 strengthened the research base for the present
 paper. These include Jim Clark, D. M. Glenn,
 D. P. Groenveld, R. F. Madole, Janet Nichol,
 Betsy Palmer, Marith Reheis, D. R. Sharpe,
 and L. D. Williams. The cartography was un-
 dertaken by Marilyn Joel.

 The work was inspired by the UNESCO
 MAB-Project 6. The senior author, in partic-
 ular, has benefitted from the infectious en-
 thusiasm of Francesco di Castri and Gisbert
 Glaser of the UNESCO MAB Secretariate,
 Paris, and of Donald King, U. S. Department
 of State, Chairman of the U. S. National Com-
 mittee for MAB.

This content downloaded from 132.174.250.143 on Mon, 25 Mar 2019 18:01:33 UTC
All use subject to https://about.jstor.org/terms

Page 49 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 50 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 51 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 52 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 53 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 54 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 55 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 56 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 57 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 58 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 59 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 60 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 61 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 62 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 63 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 64 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 65 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 66 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



















Page 74 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 75 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 76 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 77 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



Page 78 of 78

Complied by Ken Haynes Ophir Town Manger 6/5



The applicant is requesting that lots 1-10 block two be removed from the High 
Avalanche designation on the Town of Ophir Hazards Map.  
 
The property, lots 1-10 block two, has been in the Cornwall family since 1942 when 
Henry Cornwall, the book keeper for the Silver Bell Mine, purchased it from the County 
of San Miguel *(1404.2).  The Property was at the time, and continues to be zoned as 
Residential (R) *(1404.4).  
 
In 1976 the Institute of Arctic and Alpine Research, was seeking to develop 
methodologies, including a combination of remote sensing techniques and 
interdisciplinary field studies, to assist governmental agencies at the township level, and 
to alleviate land management in natural hazard areas; including avalanche, landslide, 
mudflow, rockfall, and mountain flood *(INSTAAR).  As a part of this project, INSTAAR 
published a case study for the town of Ophir based on the Ophir Area Plate 9 open-file 
report provided by Art Mears to the State of Colorado in 1975 *(Special Publication 
Plate 9).  The Mears open-file report includes 15 hazard mapping area's initially done on 
1:24,000-scale (forty foot intervals) U.S. Geological Survey topographic maps.  The 
Plate 9 avalanche hazard zone map is defined by High Hazard Zone l, Moderate 
Hazard Zone ll, Zone Boundary, and Small Avalanches.  Small Avalanche areas are 
designated as Groups A, B, C, and D reflecting Small Avalanche Path's that are not to 
be included in either high or moderate hazard zones.  INSTAAR addresses Group A, B, 
C and D as minor paths indicated by arrows Fig. 2. 
 
The adopted Town of Ophir Hazards Map applies the High Hazard designation to lots 1-
10, block two, yet, on the INSTAAR map produced for the Town, the Property lies 
outside of the INSTAAR Zone 1.  On the INSTAAR map, the Property corresponds with 
Group B, and or minor paths according the the INSTAAR report Fig.2. *(2002 Mears 
Report), *(2007 Wilbur Report). 
 
Additionally, INSTAAR Fig 10., references "Houses moved by wet snow avalanches" 
and identified those as 1 and 2 on the map, yet no such homes exist on the Map of Old 
Ophir *(Map of Old Ophir).  The Telluride Historical Museum database has information 
and photos relating to a "Spring Snow Slide at Old Ophir May 13 1918".  The 
information and photos supplied reference two structures, however analysis of the 
supplied photos show that the area in question is by the Telephone Office (J) located on 
Granite Ave and Second St. *(Spring Snow Slide May 13 1918). 
 
It appears that the inclusion of Lots 1-10, Block 2 in the High Avalanche Hazard zone 
may have been based on an incorrect interpretation of the INSTAAR report information.  
The applicant requests that the map be amended to reflect the removal of the Property 
from the High Avalanche Hazard Zone. 
 
 







This content downloaded from 132.174.250.143 on Mon, 25 Mar 2019 18:01:33 UTC
All use subject to https://about.jstor.org/terms





































Cornwall-Whitaker
400ft public noticing area

This map is a user generated static output from an Internet mapping site and is for
reference only. Data layers that appear on this map may or may not be accurate, current, or

otherwise reliable.

4,514

0.1

THIS MAP IS NOT TO BE USED FOR NAVIGATION

1:

Miles0.10 0.07

Notes

Legend

San Miguel County, Colorado 
Map Viewer

www.sanmiguelcountyco.gov

Map Generated 
6/26/22 1:20 PM

San Miguel Road Label
Road
Tax Parcels cache
Tax Parcel







r.

OPHIR ZONING
ORDINANCE NO.

AN ORDINANCE TO REGULATE AND RESTRICT THE HEIGHT, UUHBER OF
STORIES, AND SIZE OF BUILDINGS AND OTHER STRUCTURES; THE PER-
CENTAGE OF LOT THAT HAY BE OCCUP"IED; THE SIZE OF YARDS, COUR'f'S
AND OTHER OPEN SPACES; THE DENSITY OF POPULATION; AND THE LO-
CATION AND USE OF BUILDINGS, STRUCTURES,. AND LAND FOR TRADE
INDUSTRY, RESIDENCE, OR OTHER PTTRPOSES IN OPHIR, .COLORADO; --
TO REGULATE AND REDISTRICT THE ERECTION, CONSTRUCTION, REcon-
STRUCTION, ALTERATIO~, REPAIR, OR USE OF BUILDINGS, STRUCTURES,
OR LAND IN THE AFOREMENTIONED AREA; TO D1VIDE THE SAID AREA
INTO ZONINf'. DISTRIC'rS AND PROVIDE FOR THE BOUNDARIES OF SAID
DISTRICTS AND THE MANNER IN WHICH SAID DISTRICTS SHALL BE DETER-
MINED, ESTABLISHED, AND ENFORCED, AND FROM TIME TO TIr1E AIwfENDED,
SUPPLEl-1ENTED, OR CHANGED; BY PROVIDING FOR ZONING CERTIFICATES
AND APPLICATIONS; BY MAKING CERTAIN EXCEPTIONS; 1\Y CREATING
THE OFFICE OF ZONING INSPECTOR AND BOARD OF ADJUSTI1ENT; BY
PROVIDINJ. FOR THE ENFORCEJ.1ENT OF AND THE PENALTIES FOR THE
VIOLATION OF ANY
HEALTH, SAFETY,

OF ITS
I10RALS ,

tt ordAined by the TOWIl BOARD OF the Town or TTHEREFORE, be
Colorado:

NO'"
OPHIR,

~RTIJLE I
rR~LIMINARY PROVISIONS

SECTION 101. TITLE
This ordinance shall be knovm 8S the Zoning Ordinance of

Ophir, Colorado.

SECTION 102. CONTENT
This ordiance includes 8 map designated as

pj~p of Ophlr, Colorado. This Zoning Map and
r~fcrenc~8, and oth~r information shown on
o~d1nanoe and have the same effect AS
ordinance.

5:~CTION 103. FILING
This ordinance, together

is on file in the Office
is on file with the Town

it,
copy

SECTION 104.
The Board of

report of the
r6pOl"t includes
ordinance and
that it is
to adopt the
Ophir.wlth a
congo!Stlon
to provide

LEnISLATIVE INTENT
Trust~es of The Town Ophir has received the

appointed which final
conJprehens lve plan and propos ed form of zoning

is therefore d~clared by the Board of Trustees
health, welfare and safety,

the Town of
n~ces~ary to the publio

within Zoning Ordinance as
compr~hen!ivo plan and

in th~ ~treets; to promote
adequate light and air; to

P.M. and duly recorded in Boc

850~Gay Cappl~orderby "'7 ~'-/ ~
ffI
IDeputy

1

...

PROVISION~ ;
AND GENERAL

FOR THE
\IELFARE

PURPOSE
OF THE

OF PROHOTING
CQI'1j1UNITY.

the ofricAl Zoning
all notations,

are part or this
it ~\lly set forth in thi!

it

with the Zoning Map which 11 part of
ot the County Reoorder end 8 certified

Clerk.

it provide~
furnl!he~ a de~ign to l~~!on

health and gonersl welr~~~;
preT$nt the overcrowding of

1



populat1on; .and thi. ordinance 3ccomp11sh~8 the.~ objectives
taking into consideration in particular, the character of the

existing uses of lands and improvement! within the Town of Ophlr
and reasonable conserve the value of the building. now in ex-
l~tence and encourages the most appropriate ute of land thro-
oughout the town.

ARTICLE II
DEFINITIONS

DEFINIT IONS
of this ordinance, the following words and
the following

SECTIOli 201.
For the purpose

phrases shall have

201.1
the use
building
the ,altJe

Aooessory
of \-1h1oh 1.

or to the
lot or

Building:
customarily

main use of
parcel with the

buildings shall not be provided
ent to render them suitable for

201.2 Alley: A public way permanently re!erved as a
means of access to abutting property.

201.3 Building: Any perman~nt etruoture, built for the shelter
or ~nolosuro of person!, Animals, chattels or property of any
kind, ~nd not including fences.

201.4 Building, H~ight of: The vertical d18t~nce from the
average elevation of the ground around the structure to the hir~-
est point of coping of a flat roof, or to the deck line of a
mansard roof, or to the meanhelght level betw~en eaves And ridge
for gable, hip or gambrel roofs.

The Planning Commission or Ophlr, ColorAdo.201.5 Commission:

Condominium: A building, or buildings, consisting of
fee simple estates to individual units of 5 multi-unit
together with an undivided fee simple interest in common

201.6
sererste
propertye1ement~ .

A permanent building or portion thereof:
private ~esidence or sleeping place of one
but not including hotels, motels, tourist

clubs, or hospitals: ~nd not including
structures such as tents, rail~oad 'oars, trailers,

prefabricated seotions, or similar units.

A detached building containing

Dwelling:
used as the

human beings,
resort cabins,

..,201.
which 11
or more
courts,
temproary
!treet cars, metal

Dwelling, One-Family:
dwelling unit.

201.6
oneonly

meaning:

A detached 8ubordinate building,
incidental to that of the main

the land and whic~ i8 located on
main building or U8~. Accessory
with kitchen facilities 8ufficl-
permanent residential occupancy.

s6condery

2



201.9 Dwelling, Two-Family:
only two ~w~lllng unlt~.

FamIly: Any IndI'
, blood or ma~r 18ge

relationship, or '

person" e~cludlng

201.10
r'!lat!Jd by
reloognlzed
unr~latod
1ng \Ullt.

201.11 Floorall floor! of It .

exterior 'Wal18 0:
1ng!, but not in,
retailing.

or Area: The turn of
8 building mO88U~ed

or from th~ centerincluding cellAr or .

201.12 Garage, Private: A building used only for the housing
of motor vehic1~s, without their equippage for operation, repair,
hire or sale.

:?Ol.13 Home Ooe
'.-1ith~n8 dwelling un
and carried on by ~

and :'Iecondnz'y to t'
does not change th6

Occupation: }ny bu8ine3~
: unit, an enolos cd garage
y tho': inhabitAnts, which'
0 the U!l~ of the dwelling
th6 ch6ract~r th~r~or.

201.14 Lot: J parcel of real
FInd distinct number or letter on .

'~ounty Court House, or Hhen not s
ion; a pErcel of ~~al property ab1
!tr6~t And held under ~~pAl"3t(., 0'

201.1.C5
fro II! th~

!.lne ,Lot
!tr~et.

Lot Line,201.16

201.17 Lot Area:
lines of 8 lot.

~Ol.l~ Lot of' ~eco~d: A lot or parcel of land, the deed to
\t~1ich ha.. been recorded in th~ offic., of th" County Rt"cordnr
prior to the adoption of th1! ordln8nc~.

261.19 ~Iobile H9r.J~: Any vechiclo or :! iniilar port~ble !:tru.::
originally constructed to hav~ no foundation otb~r than ",help.l!!,
j&cks or post end so rlesigneJ or cunstru~ted to p~roit occupenc
&3 11~lng or ~l~~plng quat~rs.

?Ol.lP'
\;~1ich ha Cf
prior to

201.20 iion-Gonforl':1ing Buildings:
portion thereot oouflioting w:th th~
f.pJ.licobl~ to the-. Zvl1e 111 't-!h1ch ~t 1:'f

Adetach"d bu 11d 1np;

(2) or roo
In:! there 1
more than
,pylny the

containing

Any individual, or two (2) 0
ma~ri8ge or between whom the
hip, or a group of not more
~cluding s~rvant8, occupyiny

persona
le~811yve <5)

me duell-same

. the gross horizontal .r~as of
from the exterior faces of the
line of walls ~eper8tlng bu11d~
basement !pgce not used foror

conducted principally
lor accesftory building
UEC is clearly ~ncid~nt8.l
; for dwelling purposes add

!ho~'..n with a :'tep~r-3te
'"ded 1n the SAn j-t:'..gue 1
,n 8 r~cordod subd1vl~-
~t le~~t o~o public

'8al property O! shm.'t1 .
on n plat :r~cor~d~d in

~t so pIntt..,d, in 8 r~c
r abutting upon At Ie!':!
., ownership.

The prOpdrty 1111& dlvldividing 8 lotFront:

Roar: The lin6 oppozlt! the front lot l1ne.

The total horizontal Bras within the lot

Any vech1clt) or ::!in;
to hav~ no foundation
signed or cunstru~ted

!imilllr lar port~ble ~truJture
otbt".r t.han \"hep.l~,
to r~rolt OCcupEncy

or

A bl\11d1ng
P!'OV 13 ion~

!ltUBtE:d.

, structure or
th1e ordlan~.:.

or
vf

3



?~1."1 Non-Confurr1ing U"3: Th.~ US! of n :'It1'~~~'~1'CI
\W a~1Y pol't L)I'"! '"hore:of c0l"4~11ct lng ',ri";}-. the, prO'1f ~~ lol'\~
...'.: 1n:1r.c.,.

Natural mater1al~:201.22
:201.23 Occupied: Th6 l1o:t"d "occupied" 1nclude~ arranged, :ie-

!lgn"d, built, altered, oonv.,rted, ~ont:"C: 01" lees~1, or lnt6nd~d
to b~ occupt.~d..

201.24 Open-use Recreation
n.':'~! f'.1)j" j"l;'crootioH, including

pl£y-;~~li!, g~lr, t~nn18 and s

.201.~5 Recrn~tlon Club:
eluding such ;30:11tl~s DS
ho'UJJe, t~nn15 club hf)l1S~, p
cont~r~, or club hOU~~3, nn
bl)" ~..~ 11:, rr.~\Jt 1ng rUOf;)!, 1

20i.~6 Sign: An3 d~v~u~ ;ix~d to, p&lnt~d on or inCOrpQ~Ht~d
in t~~d building ~urrace, or displaysd froro1 or wit;"" 8 bui1~ir>6 or
~tru~~u~o, or free 2tand1ng upon the aito and which 1s vi!ible
from the public rlght-or-~.,a1; d~!gill~d to conveyor dlruot 8
'jt:!:!~~~ to th~ public concerning the identification of the prf'."
..It~c;~ or to advertintl or P:J:'o."ote tho ~.11t~:::'b:1t!' of ~ny private 0:£'
p.lbl1~ .i'll"ln, per~on ur .0rgnl1izat ion.

~('ll.27 str~Qt: .6pu'blic .?;:.y otll.~;r then S.11 alley, Hhlch arfOl:'~::'
th~ p:r,tl1c1pl'.1 .'1"f\n~ 0; ACC'.:!~ to libutt~ng property.

201.20 Structure: Anything constructed
:c-.!qu irc:! locnt ion on tho ground or attached
e location on th6 ground, but not incluclng
8! f~nces le!! than 8ix rc~t (6) in h~ight.

201~?9 U~o: The purpose for ~mlch lnnd or 8 building i! do31g-
nated, nrr~ng~d, or intended, or for which it ~1ther i~ or may be
occupied or m81nteln~d.

201.30 Y~r~: ft 'pace on the !amo lot with n p81ncipa; bui1diS
Opt,n, unoccupie.d, :lnc1 unobstructed by buildings pr 8 tructurt\'

f:."ot.1 the. ground up\-!~rd, ~xo~pt as ot~1:,;r~'11s') pro\'"ld d here In.
~vl~.31 Yer(l, Front ft. yard o.r.t'.:r~1<l1ng the full ~'11dth or the lot

. or pal'c~l, the (h;pth of l~1-.i.1ch is -mft8sured in the l'!,.,:!t horlzol1t~:"
dl '!1.l'nce batt'I~'JrJ ":1H... froi1t lot l:tn,~ nnd th(1 (1c.'3..~;:!t will of the

}:;r::uaipnl bu';'luing'i such d1!t8nc~ being rc:L~r'.d to ~! thl3 front
yar.1 ~:ti>"~:':.

201. 32 Ys!'d t :tear: .6. J:l:~ cxte:!ciing the full ~.r1dth 0; tho lot
or pk;('cel, the dJpth or llh1ch 1! n!~:lilr~d in t~e leAst hor1zont~1
d1!tanoc bet~udn t~~ roar lot 11n~ ~nd t~.~ nearest ~~ll vt th~
~::';'l'.c':p~l ou:'..1c11nci DUC!\ d~pth belng :CC.l(;l't'Ct] to ElS th3 l'\;IlIr yard
3etbac:':.

Stone, wood, or 8ta1n~d w~ud.

n Site: Land devot~d to the public
~uoh rnc1l1ti~~ a, ~16ygrounde and

siMilar cu~rt inatnllation.

b: ~ building d~vot~0 to publio u~~ :n
iii gulf clu'b hou~e, :Hl1..m~ing pc,c.l ~lul>

plaY3round and play-rl~ld qctlvlty
And Inay lnclude 1d.to~'1~n fac111tle!IJ, c.~",

locker fAcilities, eoa.
C. !II "! .~ :-1-

or orecttJd, \.~hlch
to som~th1ng having
rence~ or N~ll! U!ed

4



201.32 Yard Sid~:
r~ar yard, the width
distGnce b~tw~en th~

principal building.
201.33 Yard, Service: Any yard area utillzed for storagu of

m8terial~ accessory to, or used in conjuction with tho princ1~al
use of the lot or building. or used for garbage or trash contain~r!,
or for the location of mechanical equipment accessory to the
principal building or use.

20l.3f' Utilltes: All poles, line3, cablc3 or other trnnsmis!ion
r11stribution facilits! of public utilities.or

ARTICLE III
GENERAL PROVIS IONS

301; DISTRICTS
~urposes of thes ordinence, the Town of Ophir, Colorado,

divided into three zoning districts to be kno\~ as follows:
SECTION
For the
herebyis

RES IDENTA L DISTRICT
OPEN SPACE DISTRICT
AVALANCHE H~ZARD DISTRICT

SZCTION 302. ZONING H,\P
Th~ boundarics ot these dl!triot~ are ~hown of

j-iap ~ntitlcr'. "Zoning District J-!ap" of the To~"l1 of
~~loh acco~panle~ end
o~:i.Blnal of this map
t~le To\.m Clerk, rmd
th~ SAne forc~ and

SECTION 303. G~ffiRAL REQUIRMENTS
10).1 No building shall be eredted J converted J '~nlai'8~d, fl)OVeO

o~ !tructurally altered, nor !hall any building or premises be
U!C'j for any prtpose other than permitted in the dl!:trict in ",hl~h
~uch building or preMis~! i~ loc.t~d. No building shall be erected,
~nlErgedJ r'loved or ~tructurally altered except in conformity '1ith
t~e height, yar1 and other r~gu13tlons pr3scribGd herein for thed lstrict 111 Hl"lich such lot is located; evary part of a r..,~n ll'(>u .

;:-a.rd !hall be open to the d!(y, unobstri..l/.:;t,~5, ',:xc':;lJ't C! hcr0 innfter
provided; and no yard of lot area shall be reduced so a3 to be
smaller than the applicable diatrict requ1rem~nts.

30).2 Every building herein~fter erected or structurally alt~red
shall be located on a lot 88 defined in Section 201.14. End in no
case shall more than one residential building be located on a lot.

303.3 All building's exterior siaing shall be of natural
materials.

yard to the
horizontal

of tnu

A yard ext.~nding froM thl"J front
of which is measur.:d in the least
sidl"J lot liDs and the n~ar~st wall

th~ ofricial Zoning
Op~ir, ColorAdo,

pa~t of this ordinnnco. ~he
attested to, And 1s on file with
all inforld&tlon ~~10wn therlon 8h811

fully S9t forth or described herein.

IIJsdfJ a
properlymap and

as if

18
is

said
effect

5



ft. HT I C.~ L J:.l
R'~S IDEUTIAL DISTRICT

SECTION 4°1. RESIDENTI.'t DISTRICT USE REGULATIONS
Intention: To ~llow utilization ot land for residential purposo!

and cu~tomary acci.sory U8el. Recrcational and institutional uses
cul!ltomarily found in the proximity with residential uses are'inoluded.

SECTION 402. USES~.PERMITTED
402.1 One family dwelling, two !e:rnily dwelling, accelHlory buL'ldinga

and use, home occupations.
402.2 F~l1Ce!, hedhes or \-.'81121 subject to requirements 'W1der

regulations.supplen:sntary
SECTION 403. USES-COl{DITIONAL

403.1 R~oreatlonal Club, open use recreation subject to th~.
arproval of the Board of Trusties.

403.2 School, church~ hospital or public building subject toth~ approval of the Boa~d or Trusties. .

SECT I 01: 404. HIND-iUH LOT

404.1 5,000 !quare fe~t

SECTION 405. NIND-rm-t FROIIT
~.O5.1 Buildings .10

Corn~r Lotl~ (both405 . 2
side.

SECTION 406. J1INDiUM SIDE YARD

Buildings.

HINIHUlw'i

406.1 All

SECTION 407.
llO1.1 All Buildings .10

SEeTION 408. i-1AXIl1UN BUILDING
408.1 All Buildings 25 feet.
SECTION 409. NININUM ROOF PITCH

409.1 .All Buildings... .l.'to

BOOK 383 PAGE 855

dwelling)(per

dwelling

Y.o\RD

J\RE.~

unit.per

feet.

5 feet,etret'ts) . . . . .10 fe~tl front;

reet.
YARD

. . . .5

REAR

feet

HEIGh"T

4.

6



. -
ARTIcrE. V
OPEN SPACE DISTRICT

SECTION 501. I~~ENT AND PURPOSE
To in~u~e that land Intonded for open sF~ce U~e 1s ret8in~d

end devclop~d in such a manner that the land retaJns its natursl
character and intended use while not exerting a disruptive inrlu~nce
on adjacent uses of land.

SECTION 502. LIHITATIONS OF ZONE DISTRICT
This zone di!trlot shall be applicable only to land dedicated to

an1/or o'lned by th~ Town' ~Ophlr or San Miguel County, unla!3
SJ:'OC ifically roque! tea by a private proport-y owne-r \-11 thin th" To\.m
lllrilt~ of th() Tmm of Ophir.

SECT ION 503. USES PERHITTE'D
11.;), ;Open space recr&ation uses which shall include thI'J retention

Ul land in it~ natural state and/or the provision of such uS~!
which ~re compatible with the natural state and/or the provision
of such us~s which are compatible with the natural environment
include bu" hot be limited to walking and hiking trails, nature
etc. Uses p5rmitted shall include necessa~y access for public ..
utilities an9Podestrian bridges. Vehicular 'bridges and roads shall
be p~rmitted only after notice and public hearing before the ~oard

of Trustess. Vohicul9r bridg~s and roads, if approved, shall be
clo!~d to public traffic. Also, certain areas of tho op~n !p~ce
district may b~ fenced for the protection of c3rtain natural fea~~
!jure!. If such area~ are fenced, the fencing shall be limited toa hJight of 36 inchcs. .

503~'2 :.'R1vcrfront open space uSeS which shall include but notbe 11f1'1~Od to \-Talking and hiking trails, bik~ paths, occas ional . .

benches nd other such passive r~creation uses. Uses permitt~d
shall i elude:) necessary access for public utilities and ped0~trian
bridges. Vehicular bridges and road! ~ha~l be permitted only aft,r
notice and public hearing bafor.) th~ Board of Trustees.
Vehicular roads, if approved, shall be closed to public traffic.
Flood control activiies within tho riverfront open space district
shall be l1nlited to proper rip-rap and natural vegetation types
of control measures.

S3CTION 504. USES NOT PERHITTED
It is the specific int~nt of this

of uses in the open spa~~ district.
such a ployflelds, caf:1pgrounds, court
centers, permanent buildings and any
eluded within this district.

P.RTICLE VI
AVALANCHE HAZARD ZO~

SECTION 601. IHTmfTION
To define areas where avalanches !nay
restrict buildings on these areas.to
SECT ION 602. USE" PERiUTTED
Op~n space rcacreation.

ordinanc~ to limit the range
All active recreation uses

installations, activity
other 5imilar uses are not in-

pas! over the ground and

7



t. R'.:'I~LE VII
~Hrrr.~i-!F.NT!1:fV ~:P.GUI:aTION~.

~ECTION 101
Regulations
:mb .1e at to

s pee iried in
the followingbe

701.1 All ru~l storage tanks shall be oomplete1y buried
beneath the surfaoe of the ground.

701.2 Utilities; Nothing in th~8e regulstions shall be
construed to prevent the construction or installation, in any zone

district, of A public utility use or structure necessary for the
trensnlis s ton of oommod it i.e:J or serv ioe s of " ut ili ty col1lpany in-
cluding mains, transmission ~nd distribution lines, sub-stBtions
and exchanges, provided that all mains, transmis!ion and distri:'.',
button lines ere ool~pletely buried beneath the surface of the
ground.
ftPTICLE VIII
~nMTNr~TRATION AND ENFORCEMENT

~ECTION ~Ol ftDMINI3TRATION

~~ol:l Enforcing Orficlel: The provision! of this orni8r~~
5h~11 be admini,tered end enforced by ths Building In!p~ctcr
of the Town of Ophir, hi! authorized representlve and or !\1ch
other ~uthority as appointed by the Board of Tru~t~e!.

~Ol.2 Ri~ht to Tro8p~ss: The B~1ldlng In~~ector or any
duly 8uthol'lzed p~rson shall have th:) right to tinter uron any
prelttises at lIny r6Qsonable tiroe for the p'Jrpo!e of JI1aking lnsp~c-
tlons of buildings or premises neC~!:!8ry to carry out hi!. dutl~!
in ~k- 6nforceMent of this ordienco.

AO2.2.1 Liability of builing insp~ctor
The Building Inspector or any employee chArged with the cnforce-
m~nt of this Code. acting in goo~ faith and without mslice for the
~own in the discharge of his duties, shall not therebe render him-
s~lf li8bl~ personally and he is hereby relieved from all por:on~l
lt~billty for eny damage that may accru~ to person! or prop~rty as

3 r~~ult of any act required or by reason of any act or ol~i!!1on
in the di~charge of hi~ duties~ ftny suit brought against the Bu~)ding
Inspector or employee. bocause of such act or omission perforMed"'
by him in thft enforcement of any provls1on9 of this code, shall b~ .

defended.by the legal department of th~ To~ until final torrnination
of th~ proc~edings.

~0l.3 Stop Ordt'rs: ~enever any bu1ldin~ wo~k 1s b~ing done
contrary to the provlcions of this ordinanne, th~ Building !n-
s~,~ctor May order thG work stopped by notlc~ in writing !erv~d on
eny p~r8on engaged in doing or cAusing such wor~ to b~ done, end
uny such person shall forthtlith stop !uoh ~ork until authoriz~d by

th~ Building In~pector to proceed wl~h the '4or~~
~ol.l. Zoninp PerMit Requlr~d: It ~hall be unlawful to

COJlWH.Hlce th~ ~xcRv(\tlon tor or th~ construction of
or oth~r structure, including accessory structures

~ther sections of thi8 ordinance shall
Interpretetions end exc~ptlon8:

an,. 'building
until th~ Build-

~



11/30/2020 theCountyRecorder - Print Page

1/2



11/30/2020 theCountyRecorder - Print Page

1/2



11/30/2020 theCountyRecorder - Print Page

1/2



11/30/2020 theCountyRecorder - Print Page

1/1



',iNt[ TO REGULATE AND RE.STRICT THE !i1?1~!IT. H""!U'. or . :,ir~. AND SIZE ('"
,:; AHD OTIIER STRUCTURES. THE PERC£II;AroE or Tm lOT 1H"1 M.A", :'E CCCUrlEt:; ~ E
"I 1ARDS: TIlE DErISITV or POrULATII)fI; /1:1(0 "ii[ 10-:;,\:: '~; AI;" "': ':F 1!\1!lDTHr.:,. IIII:l5, IINO lAND rOM RESIUFNCES OR OTHER l'UkPCT; I~ OPlli" COlORM'). T:J :,'~.

;, 11'[ lI~lCTION. CONSTRUCT/OUt RECONSTPUCTIOO. AU£kIlTfO!I,J:.E PID IC'/'iIR OF
'I. .)\1:;;S, STURCTURES OR LAND IN OPHIR. TO Dl'lIOE 1;i'IiPI ::nl.:~IJ'CWG OI~TRICiS 1..'lj0 ~

;d~ I'OR TilE BOUND.\RIES OF SAID DISTRICTS MO T,';: '!A:I';~R I~i WHICH SAID DISiP,:fTS
I. [il OEHRHIHEO. ESTABLTSIIED AND ErlrORCEti, AHD rQ 11 .'1.1£ 7': T :~'E AHmCLD. ~o: i n-
o!.'1l C",,"(iCD; BY PROYIOI'fG FOR CUlLiJING rEluw~ :,."WPl:r~II(;'IS; 3Y CRE.\'~\:

0 or"c~ OF UUllOING INSPEC10R; (IV P\l.OVIDWC rOE l'IL nlrORCn~Ellr :.F AfH) iHE r-[MlUE~
, 'HL ViOlATION OF AtIV or IT~ PROVISf~~. r0~ TBf PIIRr~"SE or r:,;U'I()TlN(j THE !,P',lTH.

.1 r If AND G[fIflAL WElFARE or nlE cn~'MlJIl~TY.

~

,: TlI[kUORE be it ordJtned hy th~ r.icneral ,'.s~c".!:ly r

ilL[ I. '1~'ItARY PR()VISJ.Q.~~.

'ion !Ol. Title
O.-dinance shill) be knuwn do. the Zoninq ~I ~inan.:c

,lioll 102. Content
':is Ordinance contains a map ~'~S;9"dtf'.d ilS the Offici." 7on1...~ "'I'.p of Cphi, , Ccl"rado.

p,;<; 10ni/19 H.1p, iln 111 notation:;, refi!,.neces -'d CUIQ,' ir.fo,"'~'i-.n shO',," ., !t ~re
I "'l fit this Ordinanc! and hav!! the S,ln~ ef!'~ct as If fu11)' Sf:': r.,rth.

,~lion 103. Filing
: is Ordinance. together with t,,~ Zoninq ,~;) wbld, atc...",!.\ie~ i!. \s on ':', ..,Iot\
"00 '..m Miguel County Clerk itld a certHie4J ro... IS on I; .,. wi:~ ~he Town '~;t:I"k of Opnlr.
.. lion lO4.leoisldtlve intent
.' lolli' of Opitir decli!res thi!t in the int~l'\~st of protl!.1 inq our '1.0$~ vri.lc~'

IIIll"rl', the natural environll-ent, while at the sarre tlfI'P. Jl1owi...g for use lIf the
IlId, t"ls loning ~rdinance shall be adopted. rt>... loni!\"; o)rd1n3l1ce provl:!t!s the
'.111 or (}phir with a con"rehensive plan and order11 design to l~s,>(:n con';JC'stion In

'. I' ..trt'cts. to prevent the overcrowding of popuht,ion, to promitc health ,~IId r..neral
. ;f,m', to provided adequate Ilyht and air, tI,'d to prov:~': II ~afe envin.'..fl.l1t in
. .LlIHs residPnts can live. It. is the intent of the Gen~"al As!;e!'bly trl t'"..1i,.~,in

III!! historical fhvar the the tc'wn.w.i1e al1owin.~ for hunrt)nfou5 new CO!1o;~rlKtion.

{~;.~ry- ~!!.iJd_i.!'JI: A dl!lachc1 subordinate but hHng, the!:
.,-"tlcal Lo that of the nl3in h'Jlldin3 01" to U1C~ 11'.<1'0 U';.' .
. located on the Sa'1C lot or p:lI"cr.l ',11th the lO.:Iin b:ln~"1
nuld not be provided with k itchcn faci 11 ties sufficien,
" IlI'el'l3ncnt ",-sidentfal OCCtJpanr.y.

r' ~rjr. (~1ort~J;. ;',1', t ..'

\; t)f r. Colora.Jo.

,: ,I of whi ch is CU~ to'roari 1:,'
f tile lilnd ond \'1/\; ch

I Of ;,:f' , Acu!~sory bull,~in9S
~"r "':'1 !r.dng thc'll ~uit...ble

I':'~C\!. .



1"1

10 'il';II'Jt.o~f$_t of: The vertical distance frO'" th.~ ",erage elevati';" ')~ It : "nund
0 0 1:11: !;IC structurc to the hbJhest poinl of cophl(: : ! a (tal roof. ..,.. to t..,,' Je:\
:.' 0.;>1 an mansard roof, or to the Rean hei',:lll1ev,:i ~;etwce'l ~"eea\lf';)n1 r;~je L'o

0 "1°, hip or ganbrcl roofs.
. '.!',T,i"il1lUlll: " building. or buildinlJs. con!.istinl! . i seruat,. fet slfl1)le (".~ ,~es .

h:l.viTui1 units to individual unit!. of i'I 1;~llli-'.r\il prC';""'ly lo~ht~".. wit', dO
. ',I,J...d fee silllple interest ill C""'1I(ln elc'I"'~~'

,'...i:.i!'g: A pernlo1ncnt ~ui1dln9 or porUof'. th~rctlf wllch i:; - ,""as the p,'i\'dtt:; r",:;:'lence
I'" ~lcl'pin9 place of one or more hun1o1n b~ln~s. hut not loc1.'-:":9 ho'}~ls, lI'()~cts..,.-1st cabins. resort cabins. clubs or hospit~ls. "d not ,. ~ludin(J tef!1)roary . :,"rtures

:~I, a~ tents, railroad cars. trailers, street c;!!.. .t~tal ;I:.~..bricated sectlo"~.. or
,'..llar units.

l!.!!!.9., One-Family: A dctal:h~'d bufldincJ conl.d"i., only:', ~: I :"J cotto

,':Jfng, Two-Family: A detached buf1ding cont<llni'\'J ~;.c~ d-,' 111n9 l.,'its.

"u~: Any individual. or two or more p(!rs:>ns reiatr,j fly tJl00d or t'l r.,rriar;e t'.
:. tween whOlll there is a 1egal1y recognized rehlionship, or it f1"O\;~' of "f}t Jr...I'C ..;'~n
fiV(' unrehted persons. exc;1udlnq servants, occuPyinq the ";I-e buil..tinr;.

! lr,or Area: The sum of the gross horizontal a""ol~ of a11 fhors of a bu~\,:UI1'J
. .j<:uri'if'"""(rom the exterior faces of the exterior walts or from the cen~~; Un! of
.,lls, but not including cellar or baselrCn~ space not used ~or ret.-oiHn:-.

.'I':'J~ t..!rivate: A building us~d only for the 110usinn or Jr..t"r vehicles. ."it.IOI.t
",\dr equppage for" operation. repair or hire 0" :>iJlc.
. '.nl' 9ccupation: Any busines!: conducted ;)rimari 1y wi thj', a ,. :ellin;l uni t, an
, Ilcluseo garagt> or accessory building and carl'i~d orl lJ, the inhabitants. I-ohich u')!!
i; c1early inddental and secondary to the use [of the dwe11 ing for dwe11ing
,'nlposes and does not change the character tht'I\~;,r.
. fit: A parcel of real property ar shown with a separate and distinct flld1er or letter

I; iI plat recorded in the San Miguel County Court lIous\!.

l(;t- Li!'.£.JJ.~!.t: The property line dividinq the 1ot (r')l1 tfJe ~treet.

I:.~t line. Rear: The line opposite the front 1it'.:.

II ""t'~: T1\e total horizontal area within the i: t 1 ;n,,~ (:f, lrt.
.. ." 11 0_.. . -L.'-'- -- -:-,,-- L.'-' 0 __L.:__", '_A... '...J A. L.....,'.011\' IIUfJII:'~; /ln1' ~t:n'~11: ur :>Imllar I'U,-\."ullr :.~rUl.\.un: ur";H14llf 'nL~nQ!U \.U IIaYo:
II,-tOiindatTOn other thiln wheels. Jacks or !,ost. liod so dc.,i",~~ ,.) pe" ;t occupal'l;Y
,'- living or !>lecping quarter..,

."'.CCJf\!~!!1.t_~-.Bu.!..ldi.,!g~: 1\ building or strw:lup: or I,,"olion tt-erl'of conn, "
."~ng II. Ihe provlsTOI1$ o"-th15 ordinance applic:.1bk to the zonc in rl"ic.h it to. ~llual("J

".

...

~



r r~ . t

,/ Ii
'.:

~ ~

~;1.2~ NAtural i!i:\terlnl,: Stone, WI):"]. or .t.1ned W'.L..
. ::1.2'\ Occupied: Th(, \1:Jt'd "occupio r' incl'ader ,.:'"r8r\R-c.' i~-

"'-,:I-d. built. oltored. oCJn7.,rt,.t1. r.t:~,: or J, ,1, ur lnt6ndo')
'. h~ nccl1p~.d.

;'1'1_"1. Cpcn-u:oe necren"'ion,~1te: L:mc: drn...::'ed to the "nbl:'o,;
~" 1'0",' t;ro:ntlU1I, including r.\.:ch :-,\cl'l~';1t.. "' ~)'.:rgroumlp end

;l;;,-:~,"'..h. g"lr, :a:nnl!' :md s~ld.l1! \".::.~ In'~:'Il1~tlon.

~'~'l.::'> R~cr'np.t:lon Club! ,'b;jnn~ns ']:"0',' :.'J t'Jbllu \..1- :n
'-'II:llng such ~":\:):l.al,~r. 01 gulf clu? hou~,:, ~~'!~,I..1r.~ pClc.l ::":~~. I'Jrct, trJ'lul1u club h'11J:J"I, ~'lcj.~rl)unJ nod ,1:1::-."l,:d ~.~t1v1t:,.

n~'!J':-, or cl'",b hOU:U:3, nod I/IIIY in~l"o~ ~~t.u~'I~n r:'c111tlc~. :..~.,.,.;-
-: :;:H:-. ~"tlng ruo'J~, loc:'-er r"c~Ht.~e:l. e~;.

:--'.l.~~' Sl~n: .A.ny dtV~~~' ri.1.I1,J to. ;'Ii~:1'.e1 l!\ 0:' i.\:o~'J.t..' .:;.,'1
"- :.:." 1,ll1101nl:; ~-..:rrGc", ~t. rl13play,d frol.J or ...:i!~:1 '. '"",11"::'1.0 or
.,: 'J:"';~O. or !'t.~~ 'tAndln~ u~on the "it... :ml H;I:'ch ~, vh1blo
"'0::' t}lI~ pnbltc rlr.ht-o:--~181; J~!'g~'!'J \.'" ':c:',':,,)' or <ilr(j~t A

... '..~~ to tl-." cubllc !:,)n~ern1M lh~ ~J"'lIt \ no:>\; Ion DC the trt>-
"'. .-~r t:l' r"iv~rtlr1t: or ~l,..J.1tol;;' tho :.II ~:.. \,r :11.y p'l/1't!l 0.'

:.j ~"; ;tl"", p!:l'~on IJr \J1'!;r.~\tZl1t!.Ofl.

~Ol,:i) Stl'\,;.C~Ure: -t.nythl~ con,trucL(d Clr or!!ct..,-1. "hlc1.
,tllr~17 loc'1tlon on the 3rol1nd or nttl\ch~d to aol"lt'thlng havtnr.

. lrJoctt'Jn on th~ r.roul1d, bat not In:luc:r1\ ~.,!-,\:~~ :.:r "'~.!.l! 'H-'~
~ r.moe, It:H t~nn six rc~t (6) 1n l",l~hl.

:?Ol.~", i.T~u: The rurpoao for uhhh l~nd 01' (I building h d.,:tlg-
o...t...c.l, 1-:'r~nc.,d, or !ntrn.jed, or for \.:h1::h ~:. ..,lther ~, or r:,y be

":\lr:1ed or Innlntelrlt d.

;Ol.P Y"1'-.): ,. "pace on tho t'nrno lot \!1t~, n ppLn~1pn: '"-".'~1d1r.
j'. n. ':I'\'j~cuplc.d, .,nd unobatructotl by n\1'~ ld l1'..~:! pr II true t a:-II'
"" th!", Ground up"~.:\l'd. ,'xo'pt as ot:"..l"'~!') j..:,..'.-ld...C\ hcrfJl!lo

"':,.:';1 Yore1, F"unt. ,~yoX'd (! t'.7~..~il'1t-. ~,!'.e :,,;11 "/l1~h c"'~ th~ let
.., (311'('...1, t.h~ ""pt.h of p:".lch l!!"ratl.18ul'dd ir. the l$,.::t h!Jd;.ou~":'
'.i"lAnC~ b.t"~.,r. "~'I'" !':"O.1t. lot U.n.; nn:1, th., "," est. ~t"ll f)r th..
. :..,11,.:.1 bu;llllnu'; such d1!tAnc~ bf".~r.~ :",,:.'::, 1 to A! tho! :,':',"".t'
':': .:t~ :....

":'1. ';~ l!&!,j, -.le,:,,': ~ :;:I"~ ~,:..t.I.:'.I:'I~I.: -;1\0 :ull "r.!.;~th 0; t:1 11,:;
; h 1'10: , j,. ;;he d;;p:-'h ();' uhlo}1 1~ rllI..::,::.j in t~HJ lcAst hor1zont:'::'
L~~nl:t' b.,t~:".H\ till) r<Hl!' lot lin'3 u\d t:.! 11""I',nt .. .11 \,:- t:.'I'
".:.:...i. i,)\IU:::l~; :m;;i, d\:'Fth o~~llO J.~;-~.'I",:l to at ti"13 1',:'" Y:I.'J:...::...1. o\lU~l~;

.t.htlc:'.



I- - - '1<390 ~'rU: ' ~1,. .. . ; ';lde: A yard extneding from the front yard to till! ; t')r 1artl, the width of ;ihic.';
'. '" ,.;;I;red in the least horizontal distance betwl'.C'.n I.I,I~ si.Je lot line and the neare'\l
,. " till! tht' principal building.

, ",1. :>ervice: Any yard area used for storage of W;jU', !5 accessory to or used in
.1:1, ;ullction with the principal use of the lot or buils' "1. or u<;(" for 9arba9~ :.r
t ,,',It eontai ners. or for the 1 ceation of meehani ca I p'Iui prrent aCf("i<;ory to the'Hir,clpal building 0" l:.e. .

ill'! itle II'
1:'~I.~_R..r..L PROVISIONS

~.',Llun 301. Zoning Districts. " the purposes of this Ordinance. the Town of Ophir. I Jlorado is hereby diviJ(!d
'It" three Zoning Districts to be known as fol la..,t; ,

Residential District:
~valanche Hazard District
Open Space District'

.~ttion 302. Zoning Map
!II(! boundaries of these districts are shown on thp Qfflctal Zonlog Map ')f the -'.lwn
. ! lJphir which accol1'4'anies and is made II part of this Ordinance."

Jt ii,.' r.1.

fIction 303. General Requirell'-lnts.
. No building sha 11 be erected. converted. en lar:.;d v ~ lructura 11y illtp.red. !"or

'1:\111 any building or premises be used for any p'Jrpo::.c !)lher than perdtted in the
:i!.trict in which such buildin!! or prenises is 1:Jr.:!tcd. No building sha11 be

,'reeled, enlarged. noved or structural1y altered cxcl'lll in conformity with tht
h('ight. yard or other regualtions prescribf:d herein f,)" the district in tthith the
'llch 10t is 1 ocated; every part of a requi red yard ~";Jll be cpcn to tl~~ skj .
;,wbstructed, except a~ hereafter provided; l:> yare 0: any lot shali !H~ rcdl.ce:J
\I as to be smal1er than the oJpplicable district rc:;uirelrent.

. . 1 Vu,'y building hereinafter erected or structurally 11terecJ ~I! )11 l;('. located on
lot as defined in Section 201. and in no case shall I'.ore than one rc<',idel'lt;.)1
.,lding be located on a lot.

1\11 buildings shall have natural mat~rials 015 ext(!rior matcri.lh.

rtitle IV
'...!sidenttal District

.I'ct ion 401. U~e Regulations
Il\lenliun: To allow uti liut ion of land for res Identlal j)urposes and t:J~~(ln')I"Y
"I.cp.ssury uses. Recreational and institutional uses clJsto:~arlly focnd in the
"'-Cltintity with residential uses are included.

!Lction 402. Uses Permitted
I. (Jne-Family I>Nellings, accessory buildings anti use, Iw,' OCC"Piltl~""'.
.'. ' Ices, hcdCjcS or "/iIlls, s\tJjt~ct to supplel:c.twy n';I'.1Jtfons.

:~

(.

Ie~ '.

'.
fi

i
I



I

1 I'rclc:\?oure Tor :»peCHIl use yennu .v. Application for a SUP shall be submitted to the General Assembly at i~;
, 'I'JI..r meeting. An application shall be obtained from the Town Clerk of Ophir.

h. At that same meeting, the General Assembly shall appoint a Zoning Commission
I ~t least 5 qualified electors who shall study and review the Application and ~
(C'lIlfJdnytng evidence, and shall prepare a report to the General Ass_ly recom-. ill!ing that the SUP be either approved, disapproved or approved with IIIOdifications

II' c lJllditions attached.
:. Iha General Assembly shall rule~~ the application as follows:

1. A public hearing on the appli~atlon sh~ll be held as indicated in Section
::]-2, below, and such permit may be granted or denied, or granted with modifications

, c;ondi t ions attached. .
2, The General Assembly shall act upon the Apvlicalion within 30 days of the

, ;, i i c hearing, or such lonlJl!r peri ad as may have tHcn agreed upon by the appli Clnt.
3. The sur must be used only by the Applicant and can not be transferred, and

."ires after one year unle..s it is used.

,'...fure granting a SUP, the General Assembly shalt hold a public hearing on the
'...Jlter, and notice of such hearing shan be pwlished one tift! at the expense of the
'~~licant in a newspaper of general circulation within the Town of Ophir at least
.~ days prior to the hearing date. In addition. written notice o' the hearing shall
~"~ lIIIiled to the app~icant and to all adjacent property owners to;the project It
~~dst 14 days prior to the heartng date.

',c'ltion 404. Usp.s Not Permitted
:, Industrial Uses, including but not limited to lumber and ore mills, mines, '

Iu",'ries, sand and gravel operations tailings sto,'aye areas and adjacent industrial
;\ulldings.
:'. Mobi Ie Homes

';rction 405. MinilOOlll lot area per dwelling.
J. 5000 square feet per single family ~el1in9

-~, 10,000 square feet per 2 fanrily dwelling lmust first be. given a SUP)
-- - ... - - . u

I

~~ttion 406. Minimum Front Yard
1. Butldtngs l0 feet
~. Corner lots (both streets) .
Section 407 . Minimum Rear Yard
All buildings lO feet

Sett1on 408. ltin1111U11 Side Yard
~11 buildings 5 feet

Section 409. M1n1l111111 Roof Pitch
All bu1ldings 1 to 4

Section 410. Maximum Building Height
AI1 bui1dings... .25 feet~.'

'ft
.~

4,'

1IIr

,\h~10 feet - front. 5 feet - sfdes

J
:"
1



I\rltc1e V
°pl2". Space 01 s tr1 ct

'Jeclfon sot. Intent and Purpose
To insure that land intended for open space lAse is retained and cleve h;led in such
d manner that the land retains its natural character and intended USf.

~cction SO2.Limitations of Zone District
Ihis lone shalt include only land which has lJ('en dedicated to or is ~ned by the
.\)Nn of ~hir. unless specifically requested by a property owner within the Town
uf Ophir. .. J

'.r.ction 503. Uses Permitted ...
I)pen space recreation uses which shal1 include the retention of land in its nathral
.tate and uses which are colJ1)atible with the natural environment, including but not
limited to walking and hiking trails, nature trails and natural areas. A~so, certain
.Ireas of the open space district can be fenced in urder to protect certain natural
features, provided that approval is optained from the General Assembly and the
height of the fence does not exceed 48 inches. There Is Jlo;o created a riverfront
"~!n space district subject to the same uses.
. l'ct1on ~4.
,'II other uses, includirl} horse pasture, fences, ..oads an.1 vehicular access. ar1<!
I'edestri an br1 dges over the ri ver shall be subjc( ~ to toh ~pecia 1 US!! P!!r"!1i t pn'ICes,>.

.ect ion 505. Uses not permit ted
:Ir!janized recreation uses. inr.1ud1ng but not lhlit.ed to
perlllanent buildings or other silllnar uses.

I\rtic1e VI
~\~lanche Hazard Zone

',.'rtion 601. Intention
:u define areas where aialanches may pass Oycr the grolJlH! and to restrict building
;11 those areas.}.
o,'ctlon 602. Uses Pennitted
';,en Space Recreation only.

'ection 603. Hap Adopted.
;:le Town of Ophir has adopted a Avalanche Zone as indicated by the attached map.
:t is the intention of the Town of Ophir to allow building of residences on
',uilding sHes which have at least 50% of their area outside of the designated
; Vii 1.lIIche hIla rd zone.

1 ;rtic1e VII
'/I!I»)£!!entary_Regul atf ens

-'.11 ities: Nothing in these regulations shall be construed to prevent the con~otruction
1)1 .:I publiC ul111ty or utility structure necessary for the transmission on colil1idities
. r services of a utility cof11Jany including mains, transmission and distribution lines,

,")vidcd that all mains, transmission and distriuutfon lines are coq)lctely buried
'0 "".Jlh the surface of the ground, All construction and i~rovement of l;~ility Hnes
I'.d '\truclures are slbject to the Special Use Pl'l1nft V":"~SS.

~~

i'i'

t

1l00K 390 PAGE 751I

'11' "

:.ry~L.
"'i'f

>~'t:'~. '

I(:~f,
./~;

..~ .

;1
If '.



Ih.le VIII
:'~lllIi~tration and Enforcement
.f . IIJII 001 Administration

" r,ururc~ng Of~iC~~: The provisions of this OrdinClnce, shall be enforced a"d ad-
"IIi'.lere y t e ul1ding Inspector of the T~n of Oph1r. his authorized repre-

'1'l1l.1tive, or such other authority as appointed by the General Assenbly of the
, \111 of Ophi r.
. Right to Trespass: The Building Inspector or any duly authorized person shall have the
" "t to enter upon any oremises at any reasonable time for the purpose of making

:-I~pl'ctions of buildings or premises .ne~essary to carry out his duties for the'dorcenent of this Ordinance. . . .
'. liab~it.J: The Building Inspector or' any empleyee charged with the enforcement of
..is'Co ,acting in good faith and without malice for the Town in the discharge of

lis duties, shal1 not thereby render himself liable personally and is hereby relieved
" al1 personal liability for any damaqe which 1:lc)y accrue to persons or property

J r~sult of any act required or by rcason of any act or omission in the discharge
I his duties. Any suit brought against the building department shall be defended
I the Town of Ophir.
, St('~ders: Whenever any building work is hell,,] dO, "e contrary to the provisions
, tlilsOrO1nance, the Building Inspector may order ti1e work stopped by noti ce in

:1 itfng served on any such person engaged in dOII1,! or causing such work to be done.
./IV such person shall forthwith stop such worl-, unti I authorized by the Bui Iding Inspector
10 resulIW! work,. Building Permit Required: It shall be unlawful to commence the excav~ i0" for or
Ih~- constructlon of any building or any other structu.~, including accessory
lructures until the Building Inspector of the TO\II1 t;f Ophfr h.,5 is!oued ;J building
,"'" it for such work.!:_~tion for Permit: Application fer a buildinn permit shall be made to the J

':uild!ng Inspector of the Town on forms provided for tilat purpose.
".~quireuents for Permits: The Building Inspector of the Town shall require that
V'!'"y application for a building pennit shall be accorranied by 2 copi~s of a plan
'r"wn to scale and 3 elevation drawings and sh~Ing the following in sufficient,l(.'ta11 to enable the Building Inspector to ascertain whether the proposed excavation, .
\on~truction, reconstructton or conversion, n~ving or alterati~n is in confO'Mance
..fth this Ordinance. Al1 building permits expire after one year if the Building r
I"spector deternli nes that i nsuff! ci ent progresc; hi!'> been made.a. Lot lIi liens ions and corners: The actua I "hap\: , rroporli on and dil.ens Ions 0 f "

'he lot to be built on, and satisfactory eviden-e thi.t actual Co,"ne:-s of the lot
'It! known and are established on the ground,

b. Proposed Structures: The shape, size and lOC'llion of _111 buildint;s, fen"!',,, ,}ther structures to be erected, altered or nlt)ved ",,': ;}f ar.'; buildings, fe!'ces (If
~ """ <;tructures already on the lot.

c. Use of Structures: The existin\) <:Ind inll!IH,Jed ij;:,'~ 'If tllC building and
Iher '.itructures. .

d. Existing Yards: The dimensions of all 'lards -!".j such other inform;ltlun
- ""Il','nln9 the lot or aJjoining lots as nlilY I,!' .,r,senl i : 1 for deterlllininr. \'i"~ther
I , proviaion:; of this Ordinance al"c beit,,! oI)~t!I...cd f"":iJ,"ding ~'ards, <:I rc as , tlnd

.'r such requirements or standards.
e. Building Code: Any other inforlllatloll .;', retluin',j by lhe l:nifol1" !.illil':illlJ (l-de.
f. l\ny planned roads or access.

" 1~,i!!~'~,2_f_Pe!!1!!J..: If the proposed excav..lion. constru(,tion. n~vin9 e,r alteration
, set forth in the ilpplical;on is In confromily with the 1I"'Jvisiono; ot this
.dlnance and all other Ordillanccs of the Town. the Bui ldirll, Inspector' !,I, !11 f!.$lle

,L'"iluinq Penl1it.
.0.. liis_~lJ!pro_v;)J__~f PI~""it: Iran application 1'0" ,) bui1!',,!) [)f;rrnit is not appor,.',I,

j

1<

\~

II BOO, 190 PAGE 752
\"
.~



'.

"","
'~, 0',

~ .~: J

-,0 .

~,~

~t
~r.I ~,
, ~-

II. 11..11 and Void Permits: Any pennit issued in (;onOict e1th tht provisions of
,jO~ Ordinance shall be null and void and may not be construed as waiving any
:wovlsion of this Ordinance.
:Z. Certificate of Occupancy Required: After the effective date of this Ordinance
I IIJc.lid nge in the use or occupancy orland, nor any t.llilnge of u or occupancy in
.,/1 existing bu11ding other than for single family residence shall be made, 1I'.'t sh.,11
.t"v new bui lding be occupied for any purpo:>e other than sin91e f.:mi1y residrn,',e use'
olllO II certificate of occupancy has been issued b)' the But1d!ng Inspector of the
lIMn of ()Phir.
IJ, Record ke t b the Bu11d1n Ins ct r: A recurd of all certificates of occupancy. t-oIl e ept on e n t e oft ce 0 4Oth'e Building lll!.pedor, and copie~ sh'.!11 be
11"'lIi~hed on request to an at the expC!l)Se of any pe~on having .t proprietory intcl£'st
;.. !he hnd or bui1dlng affected by such certificate of occupancy,
>'\ I\'p£!al from dec1s10n~: The applicant may appeal to the General Asseably of the
1..,.,ij-oTOphir in the fOTT~ing manner. The aggreiveo applicant must fite notice
.;: ,'weal with the Town Clerk of Ophir within X) dJYs of the mailin«:J of the written
"",!..'r of the Building Inspector. The Town Clerk $1.111 place the al'Pf"al 011 the agcnda
01 the next T~n Meeting, The General AsSet:bly :;h,.l1 consider the reconlncndations
"I the Building Inspector and the arg~nts of tIll! Jggreived ap~1icant, and shall,.. lhin X) days of the f111ng of sdi j u;;~..i. eith"f confirm or oyp.rrule the. dsion of the Bulldtny Inspector.

I. l iell IX
i'n'!ndnen~.

';"ctfon 901. Procedure
C. Amendments, supplements, changes or repeals of this Ordinanc~ or any article
I'lcreof, or to the official zoning map may be InitialeJ by application of:

a. Any qualified elector of the Town of ~)hir or any properly ~M'~r within t~
Town of Ophir.

b. The Town of Ophir, by and through its staff or elected ohlda1s.
"I.. Application for an all'end1renl to this Ordinilflw shall be fi1c(~ with the :",",., (Jerk
ur Ophir, and shall contain the following infon:1iItion:

a. ~script ion of the land to be rezoned. anJ requested new class i 4"i cat: on, .1I"ng
with a sketch to scale showing boundaries of area ,'equested to be I"{" \l1i~J. ) 10111)
with an indication of the existing zoni"g on all sides of the area.

b. A statenent of justification for the rezoning. Including one of the fo110.'/11I9
conditions: Changing 3rea conditions, conronnanl.c to master pl;'tn fo, the .sreil.
or peculiar suitability of the site to a;certal~ use.

c. !»scr1jition and sketches, if available, of buildings or u!.<?s within ;"00 feet
of the proposed area of change, in all directions.

d. Time schedule for any contemplated new con~truction.
e. Justification for any business or indusll"i<ll II'.iC.
f. Effect lhat the zoning would have on' adjacent uses.

1. . .' .'. ','.. . : ~

, '

~

~,,~;,)

Section 902

f\11 app1tcat1ons for changes to the Zoning (lltU"i)!!!.\: or r,::) ~il..l1 be n:fe d by
Ihe Town Clerit lo the Gener'al AssEmbly, who shal1 decfdt: l.,jt.hN' for ('Ir i1'.;.!in~t
th( cahnge al its nexl neetin9, unless it is dcten.~j,'d ttrll~ LI,:'itioll.:1 il'hrn:ati<.Jn
i ~ needed from the appli cant.

.

I!

~.ha11 be



800« )Q~ ~... 154
~

'.,ld In the manner described in Section 902. Notice of the PIbHc hearing shall
, puhtished at least 14 days prior to the dale of the hearing and written notice

',11011' be 111111ed to owners of land within 100 feet of the prl;;Iosed change in Zoning.
" 1",)1 14 days prior to the hearing date. Cost.,r such n(.lice shall be borne by
:,he .tppHcant.

PCt . on :IV,,; nme HI
Jiul..Uon of any article. section or subsection of this Ordinance is hereby deened
f C) be a lIidelicanor and any person folllld gui Ity ht.:'r<.:under shall be fined not less
than $5.00 nor more than $:1)() or sehte!1ced to jail for a .tertl of not less than
I day or not more than 90 days or by tioth such fin\! and sentence. Eve..)' day this
~Irdinance is violated sha11 constitute a separo1te offense.

'.t!ctlon 905: COIrCJh.nts
r.ny person il9~wclYCd by violation or aNI,'rcnl vio1.1tion of this Ordin,"'ce shal1
file a wrltte" cOlrCJlaint with the Building In~rcctor. who ~hall immediately
investigate ~uch complaint and take leqal a~tlon tc have the violation pen~llzed
dnd removed If such a violation Is found to ~zj~t.I

Interpertation and Va1idftyS(!ction 906
The provisions of this Ordinance shal1 be il:trrpn'ted and applied to be the
minjmtJII required for the proper protection of t.hl~ public t1t~alth ud safety and
welfare of the residents of the Town of Ophir.

S~ction 901 Conflict
~he"ever the$c regulations are in conflict with any other lawfully adopted regu-
lations, rules or Ordinances, the nost restrictiv~ shall apply.

Jcction 908 Severability
If any part or parts of this Ordinance or any article thereof are for any rl'J'5on
10 be held invalid or unconstitutional. su~h decision shall not affect the validity
or constitutional~ty or the enforceability of the remaining portions of this
\)rdinance.

II .\1 lJermH .:IS requt red by the Bunding Code sha It lJe f s!>u~d IIlIt i1 the: fee
I"cscrtbed by the TOIl" of Ophtr has been paid.
fhe Town shall adopt fees for adln.inistratioli of the SI.cLial Use Permit procr.ss.

~

.~

.."

JI



: i,'r:(ODUCEO. READ. PASSED AND ADOPT!';O ['Y 'rH~ CI:.N~i\AL ASSEMBL! uF '1'
'l,':IU OF OPHIR ON THIS 21rd D~v of Maf".h. 1980 at, a rel",ulat' rneetiM,
. r the Town of Ophh'. 5t:tte of Color'lIlIo.

,'rr!::~T, I certify thnt the abnvf! Cr'(llr.,,~. ',> No. t'.(~-l ""',s introduce1
'0 the Ceneral Assembl.v on Janu:'\ry 27, 1'; '~), with a i'.t!)llc :'~;Irinp'
I,n in" held on that sam date, " first "..,.1 in~ of the ahove 1'1"1 innn!'.....
'10. 80-1 wn~ held on Yebru"ry 24, 19JiO, "11" R~r.onti :'\')1 ~:~.t!. read in"

~s held on March ~J, 1980. ~~ ,). - ..f .
'tOWN .ERK. '-.....-

')
't'
.

. "
,-~ .,~/?_// -:?

~~~y~ ~~
"', V;I)r.:A '( .i ~

',i

,'~'
~

..~..."

';~

f,:

~ ,













1

Ophir Clerk

From: Steve Johnson
Sent: Wednesday, February 13, 2019 1:33 PM
To: 'Ken Haynes, Town of Ophir'
Cc: Corinne Platt (mayor@town-ophir.co.gov); 'Amy Ward'; 'Joe'
Subject: RE: High Hazard Avalanche Zone
Attachments: 071115 Avalanche Study for Cornwall property.pdf; Schultz, Development and Liability in the Ophir 

Valley.htm; Richert Avalanche Study_3-04-2015 (1).pdf

Ken – I  suggest you review these documents, LUC article 8,  and the LUC article 14 map amendment procedures (I’ll 
need to refresh), then call me. 
According to Mr. Waller, the updated Wilbur study will show parts of some lots as completely outside of high zone, and 
some lots or parts of lots outside of the moderate hazard zone. 
I think they (Cornwall /Whitaker) are looking at both map amendment, from high hazard to moderate or in some cases 
to no hazard (hazard zone exclusion), and possibly rezone of underlying zoning if that is not residential (should have 
been open space as per my 2004 letter to Cornwall). 
If parts of lots 1‐10, Block 2 are mappable outside of any hazard zone, then they may also want to subdivide (replat) to 
create new lots with adequate square footage, etc. 
If all of that is approved, to build actual structures, they will also need special use permits. 
We have the further issue of whether any new construction can be approved in the moderate zone, and whether 
construction can occur on a lot that is partially within the moderate zone (outside of the zone). 
I believe our current interpretation is that only reconstruction of existing grandfathered structures is allowed in the 
moderate zone, although an exception was erroneously made once (2015, Richert/Sloan). We don’t want to advertise 
that fact. 
A recent would‐be‐purchaser of lots in the moderate zone, Gerdts, was told within the last year no new construction is 
allowed there. 
Apparently Wilbur, who used to work with Mears, is the only avvy hazard consultant in the state, if Mr. Waller is correct. 
If so, we will probably need to reach out to Colorado Geologic Survey or look for Utah consultants to obtain some 
independent review of their updated report. 
Regards, Steve 
 
Stephen B. Johnson Law Firm, P.C. 
155 Trunk Rd. 
Placerville, CO 81430 (courier only) 
PO Box 726 
Telluride, CO 81435 (US mail only) 
Tel. No. 970‐728‐5301  
steve@8750law.com  
http://telluridecolawyer.com 
 
From: Ken Haynes, Town of Ophir [mailto:admin@town‐ophir.co.gov]  
Sent: Wednesday, February 13, 2019 9:06 AM 
To: Steve Johnson <steve@8750law.com> 
Subject: High Hazard Avalanche Zone 
 
Good Day Steve, 
 



2

We are getting some inquiries regarding building in the avalnche hazazrd zone. Specifically at this point Block 
2, which is clearly within the high hazard zone. I joined P&Z in this discussion last night and would like your 
guidance on how to direct the individuals for this potential project and others moving forward. 
 
Thank you, 
 
Ken Haynes, Town Manager 
Town of Ophir 
PO Box 683 
Ophir, CO 81426 
970-728-4943 



Schultz, Development and Liability in the Ophir Valley

file:///C/...ting%20Packets/P&Z%20Packet%207-7-22/Schultz,%20Development%20and%20Liability%20in%20the%20Ophir%20Valley.html[7/5/2022 6:27:48 PM]

 

Development and Liability in the Ophir Valley, Colorado

Joseph Shults

 

Telluride Ski Patrol, P.O. Box 720, Ophir, CO 81426; tel. 970-728-2939; email. ppt@rmi.com

 

Ophir, Colorado, a small mining town located 8 miles from Telluride, Colorado, was heavily damaged by
avalanches in the early 1900s. By the 1960s it was nearly a ghost town, but currently it is experiencing a
revival. Much of the town and the 3 mile road up the valley lie directly in avalanche paths, making it one of
the most threatened, habited valleys in North America. The dense concentration of large avalanche paths in
combination with high land values make the Ophir valley an ideal case to study some of the social and legal
questions associated with land development in and near areas threatened by avalanches. Some of the
issues to be discussed include: What are the responsibilities of developers to disclose the hazards and
possible costs of mitigation? Who pays for mitigation if there is any? What are the rights and responsibilities
of land owners who own portions of a path? And, of course, who pays if things go wrong? Information has
been gathered from local legal advisors, residents, and local avalanche professionals.

Keywords: Liability, avalanche, zoning, mitigation

 

 

1. INTRODUCTION

Throughout the 70, 80’s and 90’s people have been flocking to the mountains throughout the West. Some
just visit but many others have remained and made it their home, with areas surrounding or near ski resorts
seeing exponential growth. In South West Colorado’s historic mining areas there has been a rebirth of
several small mining towns and an interest in land development on existing mining claims. Associated with
this has been skyrocketing land values for one but also the associated avalanche hazards and legal
questions.

2. HISTORY

 

The town of Ophir is located

approximately five miles south of Telluride, Colorado in the San Juan Mountains. It sits at an elevation of
9,600-9,800 feet and is hemmed in by 13,000 plus feet peaks on the North and South sides. This in
combination with the infamously unpredictable, Continental snow pack of the San Juans, makes it a
somewhat hazardous location to reside in occasionally during the winter months.

First, a brief history of the valley. The area was discovered to be rich in minerals in 1875 and by 1881 it was
an incorporated town. The population fluctuated through boom and bust cycles but in 1885 Ophir had a
population of 200 people and by 1891 the population had grown to 400 people and 70 houses.



Schultz, Development and Liability in the Ophir Valley

file:///C/...ting%20Packets/P&Z%20Packet%207-7-22/Schultz,%20Development%20and%20Liability%20in%20the%20Ophir%20Valley.html[7/5/2022 6:27:48 PM]

Winter storms isolated the town for weeks at a time and produced large avalanches which destroyed many,
many, mine buildings, a portion of the town itself, and killed numerous miners and residents.

By 1910 people were leaving Ophir as mines closed down. Silver and other metal prices dropped in the early
twenties and Ophir’s population continued to shrink. By the early 50’s Ophir’s population was down to two
residents, and by 1970 there was only one full time resident. But in 1972 the Telluride Ski resort opened and
the population has rose steadily since to a present level of about 130 residents.

In 1973 Art Mears was contracted by the State of Colorado to complete a study and produce a hazard
evaluation map for the valley from the town of Ophir down to the Ophir loop. What this map shows is that
roughly 70% of the three mile road into Ophir can be reached by avalanches with return periods of 10 to 50
years

and several other paths reaching the road quite regularly. Also above the town itself two very

large paths could potentially affect a large portion of the platted town. Although these paths run less
frequently (four large cycles have been noted in the last 80 years) they present a greater hazard due to the
exposure time of the residents.

Since this map is based on very little historical data and Voellmys equations, Art clearly states that it has its’
limitations and possible inaccuracies, but the lines which he drew have become very clear-cut and definitive.
With the value of 50 x 100’ lots now approaching $100,000 people want to know if they are in the avalanche
path or not. More recently people have been purchasing mining claims throughout the valley and once again
the lines which Art drew 25 years ago can have a significant affect upon the land value of a particular parcel.

3. SO WHAT DEVELOPEMENT DO WE CURRENTLY HAVE WITHIN THE DELINEATED HAZARD
ZONES?

 

Up to this point there has been no construction of new homes, but extensive renovation of existing homes
has occurred along with the construction of new homes right up to the hazard zone lines.

4. DO PEOPLE HAVE THE RIGHT TO BUILD IN A KNOWN PATH?

At this time regulation 1041 does allow new construction within an avalanche path if no safe area can be
located on the parcel, but the

building must be engineered to withstand the expected impact pressures, along with no commercial use in
the winter, and several other restrictions.

5. WHAT IS THE CURRENT CONTROL PROGRAM?

San Miquel County took control of the road in 1942, but since the population was almost zero no real control
program was initiated. Sometime in the 1970’s they started to bring in some guns from the state, generally in
the spring, and did some sporadic control work over the road, but not over the town itself due to liability.
Sometime during this period a round caused a release of the entire North side of the valley at once, thus
showing that control of the road and town were occasionally the same.

In 1984, Helitrax helisking was started by Mike Friedman and several other locals. This gave the county a
new option. Currently Mike Horner, the County Superintendent, along with Helitrax decided when to
implement control work.



Schultz, Development and Liability in the Ophir Valley

file:///C/...ting%20Packets/P&Z%20Packet%207-7-22/Schultz,%20Development%20and%20Liability%20in%20the%20Ophir%20Valley.html[7/5/2022 6:27:48 PM]

Since at this time there is no actual forecaster for the area, the closure of the road itself only occurs when
control work is actually in progress. Although no one has actually been buried yet there are stories of close
calls and hair raising adventures.

6. SO WHAT IS THE LIABILITY ISSUE?

Up until 1998 the country and Helitrax were doing this control work without liability insurance. In 1998 Helitrax
decided not to continue to do work for the county unless they were indemnified. Both the county and town of
Ophir attorneys felt that since Helitrax was a subcontractor they were not covered under the government
immunity laws. Getting this coverage took some time but since no houses were actually in the mapped
runouts of the paths getting controlled there were able to secure a policy.

Acquisition of this policy was down to the wire with the largest storm cycle of the winter, and at one point due
to the delay, the school bus ceased to travel the road. Along with this policy, signed waivers were acquired
from the owners of the two existing homes most threatened by control of the road were acquired.

During this time there was talk of trying to acquire waivers from all of the land owners in Ophir, so that control
over the town could be done, but initial attempts at this proved difficult.

7. LEGAL QUESTIONS:

 

7.1 SO WHAT ARE THE RIGHTSOF PRIVATE LAND OWNERS AS FAR AS CONTROL WORK ON
PRIVATE LANDS?

 

This appears to be an untried area. Can a land owner prevent explosives from being used on his/her
property? The general response I received was yes, unless a case was made that a public emergency
existed, then a court order could be retained. But most of the starting zones, in Ophir at least, are large
enough that no one land owner has control over the entire starting zone.

7.2 CAN A PRIVATE LAND OWNER PREVENT SLIDES FROM BEING RUN OVER THEIR PROPERTY?

Another gray area, but generally it was felt if you were in no way depriving that landowner of the economic
benefit of that property it was probably acceptable for the public welfare. You could possibly be liable for
damage to timber if it was shown to have economic value and certainly to any structure on the property.

7.3 WHAT RESPONSIBILITIES DO DEVELOPERS OR REAL ESTATE AGENTS HAVE TO REVEAL THE
HAZARDS?

As you might imagine they are responsible to disclose any geologic hazard to the property that they know of
and is on public record. As far as the road hazards go, things were not so clear. Although every realtor I
spoke with said that they did disclose the road hazards, not all of them believed, since it did not directly effect
the property that it was required.

7.4 HOW ABOUT A PRIVATE SELLER?

 

No one knew of a case were a private seller was actually found liable for not disclosing hazards on a
property.



Schultz, Development and Liability in the Ophir Valley

file:///C/...ting%20Packets/P&Z%20Packet%207-7-22/Schultz,%20Development%20and%20Liability%20in%20the%20Ophir%20Valley.html[7/5/2022 6:27:48 PM]

7.5 SO WHAT IS THE OPHIR COMMUNITY FEELING ON ALL THIS?

Like most small communities, the people of Ophir want to have control of their own destiny, generally they
are willing to accept the risks that come along with living in a high mountain valley. But what risk is
acceptable? Will peoples perception of acceptable risk change after an accident?

8. WHAT IS IN THE FUTURE?

Well, the control work over the road seems to be mostly solved for the moment, although some type of local
forecasting should probably be initiated so the road closures are more effective and timely.

As for the control work with explosives this would probably not be acceptable due to the unpredictability of
avalanches. Most feel that defense structures in the runouts are probably the most effective option. But due
to the very limited financial resources of the town I do not foresee anything along these lines in the near
future. Also, even when these proposals have been mentioned some residents object on the grounds that it
would make the town have a safer feeling and thus increase the rate of development.

9. WHAT DOES ALL THIS MEAN TO YOU AS AN AVALANCHE PROFESSIONAL?

 

I believe that these remote high mountain properties are going to continue to see ever increasing
development in the future and thus a need for more study, delineation, and mapping of avalanche hazard
areas. Those of you who do take on this consultation work are going to have to be sure to have a complete
understanding of the procedures currently in use for the detailed evaluation of avalanche hazard areas and
methods for quantifying risks, design parameters, mitigation procedures, and legal implications.

Keep in mind that that cold North facing hillside property might not look like much today but it could be the
home of the rich and famous tomorrow

10. REFERENCES

Collman, R., McCoy, D. A., and Graves, A., 1993: The R.G.S. Story, Volume III, 13-493.

Mears, A.I., 1975: Snow Avalanche Hazards Of The Ophir Area, San Miquel County, Colorado. Open File
Report, 1-13.



P.O Box 683, Ophir, CO 81426                                                                                          970.728.4943 
admin@town-ophir.co.gov                        fax 970.728.4943 

 
 

May 19, 2009 
David T. Cornwall 
Joyce A. Whitaker 
2186 Brittany Colony Dr.  
League City, TX.  77573  
 
Dear Mr. Cornwall and Mrs. Whitaker,  
 
I am writing in response to your letter dated May 1, 2009 to Ophir Town Clerk Rhonda Claridge re 
Cornwall Property Block 2, Lots 1 – 10 and accompanying  Land Use Code (LUC) Amendment 
application seeking to rezone the same as “buildable lots in a moderate/blue hazarde zone area.” It is 
understood that these ten lots currently fall within the Town’s high hazard avalanche zone district.  
 
As Town Manager, I have undertaken a completeness review of your application, and note that Ophir 
Land Use Code provides in pertinent part: 
 

§ 1402.2 Application for an amendment to this LUC shall be filed with the Town Clerk of 
Ophir, and shall contain the following information: 
A. A legal description of the land to be rezoned, and requested new classification, along with a sketch to 
scale showing boundaries of the area requested to be rezoned, along with an indication of the existing 
zoning on all sides of the area. 
B. A statement of justification for the rezoning, including one of the following conditions: Changed 
conditions in area, compliance with the Town of Ophir Master Plan for the area, or peculiar suitability of 
the site to a certain use. 
C. Description and sketches, if available, of buildings or uses within 200 feet of the proposed area of 
change, in all directions. 
D. Time schedule for any contemplated construction. 
E. Justification for change of use. 
F. Effect that zoning would have on adjacent uses. 
 
§1403. APPLICATION SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS. 
§1403.1 Ten (10) copies of a complete application as set forth in Appendix A. Forms: Land 
Use Code Amendment Application. 
 

Moreover, Appendix A: Form for Land Use Code Amendments requires: 
 
(4) Proof of Ownership by title commitment or attorney opinion. 

mailto:admin@town-ophir.co.gov


P.O Box 683, Ophir, CO 81426                                                                                          970.728.4943 
admin@town-ophir.co.gov                        fax 970.728.4943 

You inquired as to this proof of ownership requirement in a phone conversation we had regarding 
your forthcoming application, and after soliciting the opinion of our Town Attorney, I responded via 
email on April 24, 2009 that you should “provide either a copy of the actual deed to the property or a 
copy of the current title insurance policy.”  Unfortunately, the real property tax document you provided 
does not identity you as owners of record of the property. While you noted that you are in the process 
of having title transferred to you as a result of certain probate matters, you did not provide proof of 
ownership by a title commitment or attorney’s opinion as required by the LUC and application. 
 
While I am entirely sympathetic to your ownership argument and have no reason to believe that you 
will not succeed in having title transferred to you, I am not in a position to make any independent 
determination or opinion of property ownership, nor am I qualified to do so. That is exactly why the 
title company or attorney opinion documents are instead required. 
 
Accordingly, I have no choice but to find your application to be incomplete and am therefore returning 
your application fee check in the amount of $500, together with all ten copies of your application. 
 
In the future, should you choose to resubmit once you are able to establish ownership, please also 
address the following items in order to have a complete application:  
 

x clarify zone district classification sought;  
x include sketch to scale, zoning designation of surrounding properties (not copy of report excerpt);  
x include description of uses and buildings if any within 200’;  
x time schedule;   
x address 1402.F.  For example, if rezoning to Moderate Avalanche Hazard District occurred and (up to 

5) buildings were then built in the rezoned area after receiving a Special Use Permit, please have your 
engineer address the potential effect of the deflection of snow would have on adjacent uses.  This may 
include, but is not necessarily limited to, the impact to buildings potentially affected by any deflected 
avalanches and the secondary effects any such residential rezoning may have on snow removal efforts 
activity in the area.  

 
Should you have any questions, please contact me at your convenience at the Town Hall office. 
 
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
Jason S. Wells,  
Ophir Town Manager  
   
 
Cc:    

Stephen B. Johnson, Town Attorney 
Rhonda Claridge, Town Clerk 
Randy Barnes, Mayor of Ophir  
Suzanne Beresford, Chairperson, Ophir Planning and Zoning Committee  

 

mailto:admin@town-ophir.co.gov


 
 

            Stephen B. Johnson Law Firm, P.C. 
526 W. Colorado Ave 

P.O. BOX 726 
TELLURIDE, CO  81435   

Telephone: (970) 728-5301  Fax: (970) 728-4271  Email: steve@8750law.com 
 

 
 
 

 
 
January 18, 2008  
 
 
Mr. David Cornwall 
Mr. Gary Whittaker 
Ms. Joyce Whittaker 
2186 Brittany Colony Drive 
League City, TX  77573 
 
 
Re: Response to your Letter to Rebecca [Levy] Dated January 4, 2008  

Concerning Lots 1 – 10, Block 2, Ophir, Colorado 
 
 
Dear Mr. Cornwall, Mr. and Ms. Whittaker: 
 
Ophir Town Administrator Rebecca Levy has referred your above-referenced letter and attached report 
(“Wilbur Report”) to me for response to you, due to the explicit threat of litigation against Ophir in your 
letter. 
 
In your letter, you demand that the Town of Ophir “release” your properties from the Avalanche Hazard 
Overlay Zone “control restrictions”. You request a response within 90 days, and state that you are 
prepared to take legal action “if necessary”. You allude to a future court proceeding and discuss potential 
evidence involved. 
 
Your property is currently in the Avalanche Hazard Overlay Zone, High Hazard Area. The underlying 
Zone District is apparently Residential, although that appears to possibly have been a mistaken 
designation as virtually all other Avalanche Hazard Overlay Zone properties have Open Space as the 
underlying zoning. Thus, if your property were to be completely “released” from the Avalanche Hazard 
Overlay Zone District, it may not currently be subject to any avalanche mitigation requirements, despite 
your suggestion that mitigation would occur. 
 
The Wilbur Report does not provide any basis for “releasing” your property from the Avalanche Hazard 
Overlay Zone. Rather, it suggests that the property is incorrectly classified as High Hazard, whereas the 
property should instead be classified as Blue/Moderate Hazard (which is still a classification within the 
Zone). 
 
If your property were to be rezoned from the High Hazard to the Moderate Hazard Zone, it would then 
become eligible for consideration for issuance of a Special Use Permit for mitigated residential dwellings. 

mailto:steve@8750law.com


2008-01-18 ltr to Cornwall 
 
 

 
 

 
2 

Issuance of Special Use Permits for construction within the Avalanche Hazard Overlay Zone is 
discretionary with the General Assembly, and is based on a site-specific design for a particular proposed 
structure, which mitigates against the identified avalanche forces. The Special Use Permit provisions of 
the Ophir Land Use Code have recently been amended. Unexecuted copies of Ordinance Nos. 2007-2 and 
2007-5 as passed are included for your information and review. These Ordinances are still in the process 
of execution due to Mayoral change. 
 
In my opinion, the proper way to proceed with your request, which if successful could effectively result in 
“release” from high hazard avalanche control restrictions, is to formally submit a rezoning request 
pursuant to Article XIV of the Ophir Land Use Code, requesting redesignation of your properties from 
High Hazard to Moderate Hazard Area. A copy of Article XIV is available for inspection at www.town-
ophir.co.gov.  It is quite possible that you would also be asked to apply to redesignate the underlying 
zoning from Residential to Open Space as part of the review process or as a condition of approval. 
 
A rezoning application requires submittal of ten application copies, a $500.00 application fee, some 
additional information referenced in Article XIV (although the Wilbur Report is the main information 
needed), possibly a map showing the proposed revision to the zoning map, and obligates you to pay the 
Town’s review fees. Such fees will include legal review fees; fees of any independent avalanche hazard 
consultant that may be hired by Ophir to review and advise Ophir concerning the rezoning application; 
and any professional planner fees.  The Ophir avalanche hazard consultant would be asked to review the 
appropriateness of the assumptions, data, methodology, and results of the Wilbur Report. Ophir is 
currently in the process of retaining an avalanche hazard consultant.  
 
Once a complete application has been submitted, a public hearing by the Ophir Planning and Zoning 
Commission as well as two hearings before the General Assembly would be required in order to properly 
review and act on the application. The General Assembly can only effect rezoning by adoption of an 
ordinance, which takes two readings at two separate hearings. Initial hearing scheduling following 
submittal of a “complete” application would occur at the discretion of the Ophir P&Z Commission, 
probably after an independent avalanche hazard consultant has been retained and had an opportunity to 
review your application.  
 
If the proposed rezoning (from High to Moderate) were approved, you or any successor owner would then 
need to apply for a Special Use Permit (SUP) and obtain an approval for such SUP before any building 
could occur. SUP applications for building new structures require a similar process to the rezoning and 
are subject to similar cost obligations and procedures.  
 
It is most unlikely that the hearing process for any rezoning application that you may choose to submit, let 
alone review of SUP applications, could be completed within 90 days from the date of your letter. 
 
As you know, the Town of Ophir presently has an application pending by Mr. Glenn Pauls to rezone 
certain of his property out of the Avalanche Hazard Overlay Zone District. That application, and the new 
Mears Map and study, appear to apply only to the Pauls Property, as recognized by Wilbur Engineering. 
So contrary to your contention, you do not have an opinion from two experts that  your lots are eligible for 
inclusion in a “buildable” zone. And contrary to the statement in your letter, as noted above, the Wilbur 
Report does not in any way suggest or support your contention that your properties should be completely 
released from avalanche control restrictions.  



2008-01-18 ltr to Cornwall 
 
 

 
 

 
3 

 
There is a possibility that any application that you may choose to submit could be consolidated for 
hearing with the Pauls application. That would be a decision for the P&Z Commission to make. 
 
Unless and until you have proceeded through this process and been denied, there is no possible legal 
injury to your interests, and hence any threat of legal action is both premature and unnecessary. 
 
Please let us know should you choose to proceed with the process that is outlined in this letter.  
 
 
Sincerely,  

 
STEPHEN B. JOHNSON LAW FIRM, P.C.    

 
Stephen B. Johnson 
 
Encls. 
Rebecca Levy, Ophir Town Administrator 



 
 

            Stephen B. Johnson Law Firm, P.C. 
526 W. Colorado Ave. 

P.O. BOX 726 
TELLURIDE, CO  81435   

Telephone: (970) 728-5301  Fax: (970) 728-4271  Email: steve@8750law.com 
 

1 
 

December 14, 2012 
 
Bo James Nerlin 
J. David Reed, P.C.  
PO Box 196 
Montrose, CO 81402  Via email only:  bnerlin@jdreedlaw.com    
 
RE: Cornwall/Whittaker Property 
 
Dear Mr. Nerlin:  
 
This will respond to your email to Randy Barnes dated December 12, 2012 in which you stated "My 
clients would like an understanding as to why the 2012 application is deficient based on our pre 
application meeting, and why they cannot submit an application under the 2008 guidelines, or rather, why 
this application cannot be considered an update of the 2008 application and thus subject to the 2008 
rules." 
 
The 2008 application was never made complete. This fact was documented in a letter to David T. 
Cornwall and Joyce A. Whittaker dated May 19, 2009 by then Ophir Town Manager Jason Wells (copy 
attached). The application fee was returned to the applicants. The applicants never resubmitted the 
application to address the incomplete matters, and apparently abandoned the application. Therefore, there 
is no pending 2008 application, and the provisions of C.R.S. 24-68-102.5 would not entitle your clients to 
have any such application processed under the “2008 guidelines”. Your clients impliedly recognized the 
absence of a valid, pending application when they requested a pre-application meeting with respect to 
what you have described as the 2012 application.  
 
Because the "2008 guidelines" were subsequently amended by duly adopted ordinance #2009-4 of the 
General Assembly, the “2008 guidelines” are no longer legally effective and the current Land Use Code 
as amended and currently in effect must apply to any re-zoning application which your clients may 
choose to submit. Please refer to the September 15, 2012 letter to you and Jim Mahoney from Town 
Manager Randy Barnes, discussing items that would need to be addressed in order for the application to 
be considered "complete" and eligible for processing. Ophir simply has no valid pending application from 
your clients.  
 
Should you wish to discuss this matter further with me, please don't hesitate to contact me.  
 
Very Truly Yours, 
 
Stephen B. Johnson Law Firm, P.C. 

 
Stephen B. Johnson 



 
 
 

 
 
2 

 
 
 
 
 



1

Ophir Clerk

From: Amy Ward
Sent: Monday, June 10, 2019 12:36 PM
To: Steve Johnson
Subject: Fwd: Whitaker Map Amendment Application Packet

 
 
 

Begin forwarded message: 
 
From: "Ken Haynes, Town of Ophir" <admin@town-ophir.co.gov> 
Subject: Whitaker Map Amendment Application Packet  
Date: June 5, 2019 at 1:44:31 PM MDT 
To: "Amy Ward" <amywardski@gmail.com> 
 
Amy, 
 
The Application Packet is to large to share by our current email server. 
Please share the link with the Commission and any others request you see fit: 
 
https://documentcloud.adobe.com/link/track?uri=urn%3Aaaid%3Ascds%3AUS%3Aafb18543-
fc3b-4a3d-ac6a-b380cabe5ee6 
 
I have a copy on CD in the office if Phil can use that. I will also be able to put on a thumb drive 
or Cd tomorrow. 
Also would be able to print the 8.5 x 11 parts here in the office. 
 
Ken Haynes, Town Manager 
Town of Ophir 
PO Box 683 
Ophir, CO 81426 
970-728-4943 

 



1

Ophir Clerk

From: Ken Haynes, Town of Ophir
Sent: Friday, June 14, 2019 3:21 PM
To: Amy Ward
Cc: steve@8750law.com; sydney.roop1@gmail.com
Subject: Re: Town of Ophir 6/18/19 General Assembly Meeting Agenda

As far as page 6 is concerned, the applicant representative, Joe Waller, was not aware that there was a page 
missing when he received the information from the applicants. He is researching the reason for the deletion and 
will explain why at the GA. 
 
Ken Haynes, Town Manager 
Town of Ophir 
PO Box 683 
Ophir, CO 81426 
970-728-4943 
 
--- amywardski@gmail.com wrote: 
 
From: Amy Ward <amywardski@gmail.com> 
To: Steve Johnson <steve@8750law.com> 
Cc: "Ken Haynes, Town of Ophir" <admin@town-ophir.co.gov>, sydney.roop1@gmail.com 
Subject: Re: Town of Ophir 6/18/19 General Assembly Meeting Agenda 
Date: Fri, 14 Jun 2019 14:10:02 -0600 
 
The application did not contain page 6 of the Wilbur study, is that correct Ken? Is this what you were waiting to 
hear back on? 
 
Amy 

On Jun 14, 2019, at 1:32 PM, Steve Johnson <steve@8750law.com> wrote: 
 
OK, I was unclear on the dates… 
Still waiting to hear back on the missing page on the Wilbur study. 
  
Stephen B. Johnson Law Firm, P.C. 
97 Red Rock Trail 
Placerville, CO 81430 (courier only) 
PO Box 726 
Telluride, CO 81435 (US mail only) 
Tel. No. 970‐728‐5301  
steve@8750law.com  
http://telluridecolawyer.com 
  
From: Ken Haynes, Town of Ophir [mailto:admin@town‐ophir.co.gov]  
Sent: Friday, June 14, 2019 11:14 AM 
To: Steve Johnson <steve@8750law.com> 
Cc: sydney.roop1@gmail.com; amywardski@gmail.com 
Subject: RE: Town of Ophir 6/18/19 General Assembly Meeting Agenda 



2

  
The applicant first went to P&Z for a hearing for P&Z to give a recommendation to the GA. The 
GA will not see this until the July GA at the earliest. 
 
Ken Haynes, Town Manager 
Town of Ophir 
PO Box 683 
Ophir, CO 81426 
970-728-4943 
 
--- steve@8750law.com wrote: 
 
From: Steve Johnson <steve@8750law.com> 
To: Sydney Roop <sydney.roop1@gmail.com> 
Cc: Amy Ward <amywardski@gmail.com>, "Ken Haynes, Town of Ophir" <admin@town-
ophir.co.gov> 
Subject: RE: Town of Ophir 6/18/19 General Assembly Meeting Agenda 
Date: Fri, 14 Jun 2019 10:52:27 -0600 

I thought there was going to be a hearing on Cornwall Whittaker rezone application and a follow‐up 
matter: 

  

Public hearing on P&Z recommendation concerning application for rezoning of Lots 1 through 10, Block 
2, Town of Ophir, to remove subject property from the Avalanche Hazard Zone designation, maintaining 
existing Residential zoning. 

  

Agenda language: Consideration of Authorization for Town Mayor and Manager to contract for technical 
review and comment services from a avalanche hazard mapping consultant or agency win connection 
with review of the Cornwall‐Whittaker rezoning application for Lots 1‐10, Block 2, Town of Ophir.” 

  
  

Stephen B. Johnson Law Firm, P.C. 
97 Red Rock Trail 

Placerville, CO 81430 (courier only) 
PO Box 726 
Telluride, CO 81435 (US mail only) 
Tel. No. 970‐728‐5301  
steve@8750law.com  
http://telluridecolawyer.com 

  



3

From: Sydney Roop [mailto:sydney.roop1@gmail.com]  
Sent: Friday, June 14, 2019 10:00 AM 
Subject: Town of Ophir 6/18/19 General Assembly Meeting Agenda 

  

Good morning Ophirians! 

                                       Please find attached the agenda for next week's general assembly 
meeting. We hope to see you there! 

  

Best, 

Sydney Roop 

Town of Ophir Clerk   

 



Additions to 7/7/22 Ophir P&Z Agenda Packet 

For 9/14/22 Ophir P&Z Agenda 

 





P.O Box 683, Ophir, CO 81426                                                                                          970.728.4943 
admin@town-ophir.co.gov                        fax 970.728.4943 

 
 

May 19, 2009 
David T. Cornwall 
Joyce A. Whitaker 
2186 Brittany Colony Dr.  
League City, TX.  77573  
 
Dear Mr. Cornwall and Mrs. Whitaker,  
 
I am writing in response to your letter dated May 1, 2009 to Ophir Town Clerk Rhonda Claridge re 
Cornwall Property Block 2, Lots 1 – 10 and accompanying  Land Use Code (LUC) Amendment 
application seeking to rezone the same as “buildable lots in a moderate/blue hazarde zone area.” It is 
understood that these ten lots currently fall within the Town’s high hazard avalanche zone district.  
 
As Town Manager, I have undertaken a completeness review of your application, and note that Ophir 
Land Use Code provides in pertinent part: 
 

§ 1402.2 Application for an amendment to this LUC shall be filed with the Town Clerk of 
Ophir, and shall contain the following information: 
A. A legal description of the land to be rezoned, and requested new classification, along with a sketch to 
scale showing boundaries of the area requested to be rezoned, along with an indication of the existing 
zoning on all sides of the area. 
B. A statement of justification for the rezoning, including one of the following conditions: Changed 
conditions in area, compliance with the Town of Ophir Master Plan for the area, or peculiar suitability of 
the site to a certain use. 
C. Description and sketches, if available, of buildings or uses within 200 feet of the proposed area of 
change, in all directions. 
D. Time schedule for any contemplated construction. 
E. Justification for change of use. 
F. Effect that zoning would have on adjacent uses. 
 
§1403. APPLICATION SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS. 
§1403.1 Ten (10) copies of a complete application as set forth in Appendix A. Forms: Land 
Use Code Amendment Application. 
 

Moreover, Appendix A: Form for Land Use Code Amendments requires: 
 
(4) Proof of Ownership by title commitment or attorney opinion. 

about:blank


P.O Box 683, Ophir, CO 81426                                                                                          970.728.4943 
admin@town-ophir.co.gov                        fax 970.728.4943 

You inquired as to this proof of ownership requirement in a phone conversation we had regarding 
your forthcoming application, and after soliciting the opinion of our Town Attorney, I responded via 
email on April 24, 2009 that you should “provide either a copy of the actual deed to the property or a 
copy of the current title insurance policy.”  Unfortunately, the real property tax document you provided 
does not identity you as owners of record of the property. While you noted that you are in the process 
of having title transferred to you as a result of certain probate matters, you did not provide proof of 
ownership by a title commitment or attorney’s opinion as required by the LUC and application. 
 
While I am entirely sympathetic to your ownership argument and have no reason to believe that you 
will not succeed in having title transferred to you, I am not in a position to make any independent 
determination or opinion of property ownership, nor am I qualified to do so. That is exactly why the 
title company or attorney opinion documents are instead required. 
 
Accordingly, I have no choice but to find your application to be incomplete and am therefore returning 
your application fee check in the amount of $500, together with all ten copies of your application. 
 
In the future, should you choose to resubmit once you are able to establish ownership, please also 
address the following items in order to have a complete application:  
 

x clarify zone district classification sought;  
x include sketch to scale, zoning designation of surrounding properties (not copy of report excerpt);  
x include description of uses and buildings if any within 200’;  
x time schedule;   
x address 1402.F.  For example, if rezoning to Moderate Avalanche Hazard District occurred and (up to 

5) buildings were then built in the rezoned area after receiving a Special Use Permit, please have your 
engineer address the potential effect of the deflection of snow would have on adjacent uses.  This may 
include, but is not necessarily limited to, the impact to buildings potentially affected by any deflected 
avalanches and the secondary effects any such residential rezoning may have on snow removal efforts 
activity in the area.  

 
Should you have any questions, please contact me at your convenience at the Town Hall office. 
 
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
Jason S. Wells,  
Ophir Town Manager  
   
 
Cc:    

Stephen B. Johnson, Town Attorney 
Rhonda Claridge, Town Clerk 
Randy Barnes, Mayor of Ophir  
Suzanne Beresford, Chairperson, Ophir Planning and Zoning Committee  

 

about:blank






1

Ophir Clerk

From: Joseph Waller <joseph@josephwaller.com>
Sent: Friday, September 9, 2022 3:53 PM
To: Ophir Clerk; John Wontrobski
Subject: Re: July 7th P&Z Deflection Request

John, 
 
Please include this response to the deflection request. 
 
On Sun, Aug 21, 2022 at 1:01 PM Joseph Waller <joseph@josephwaller.com> wrote: 
John, 
 
The remaining item that P&Z requested is to have an engineer address the potential effect deflection of snow would 
have on adjacent uses.  As the Town Attorney mentioned at the P&Z meeting, this request stems from the Jason Wells 
email and the Jason Wells letter.  These documents are based on the assumption that structures were affected by a 
wet slide as quoted from his email dated 01/22/2019. 
 
  "And while you noted that your lots have never been subject to avalanche events to your knowledge, I have been 
informed that structures below your properties have in fact been affected, a fact which obviously carries some 
pertinence." 
 
The two San Miguel County Tax Roll reports provided in the July 7th application, as well as the additional tax roll 
request by P&Z, "to provide an expanded search beyond the hazard map" dated July 22 show that the Jason Wells 
statement is not accurate. 
 
Mr. Wells's letter dated 05/19/2009, asks to address LUC 1402.F.  This LUC does not exist.  His letter has reference to 
rezoning to a Moderate Avalanche Hazard District, which is not our request.  The action sought in the application is the 
removal of lots 1‐10 block 2 from the high hazard area designation on the Town of Ophir Hazards Map. 
 
The request for an engineer to address the potential deflection effect can not be fulfilled as the property is outside of a 
hazard zone. 
 
Kind regards, 
 
Joseph Waller 
joseph@josephwaller.com 
480 639 7307 
‐‐  
Kind regards, 
 
Joseph Waller 
480 639 7307 
joseph@josephwaller.com 



1415. 
C. There is demonstrated to be a material and substantial error in the existing zoning 
map or LUC text, the correction of which justifies the proposed amendment. 
 
D. The proposed amendment is in conformance with or would implement the Ophir 
Master Plan, as amended. 
 
E. The area proposed to be rezoned or reclassified with regard to a hazard overlay is 
peculiarly suitable for the uses permitted in the proposed new zone district or districts. 
 

. 





MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF PLANNING AND ZONING COMISSION 

TOWN OF OPHIR, CO 81426 

Thursday, July 7th, 2022 7:00 PM 

REMOTE MEETING VIA ZOOM PLATFORM 

CALL TO ORDER 

(TIME: 7:10 PM) 

P&Z Members: Phil Hayden (Chair), Mark Rikkers, Jen Rose, Ernie Watenpaugh, Janice Gerona, Judah 
Kuper (joined 7:24) 

Public: Mason Osgood (Clerk), John Wontrobski (Town Manager), Steve Johnson (serving as Town of 
Ophir Attorney), Joe Shults, Todd Rutledge, Stacy Passmore  

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Janice Gerona motions to approve the July 7th, 2022 P&Z Agenda, Ernie Watenpaugh seconds 

Voting Members: Phil Hayden (Chair), Mark Rikkers, Jen Rose, Ernie Watenpaugh, Janice Gerona 

Not in Favor (Nay): None 

Motion to approve the agenda passes unanimously 

 

PUBLIC HEARING 

2a  Project Name: Cornwall Property Project Summary: The evaluation of avalanche hazard 
and mapping within lots 1-10, block two, Article 804 overlay adjustment, Appendix C Town of 
Ophir Hazards Map. Action Sought: Removal of lots 1-10, block two from the high hazard area 
designation on the Town of Ophir Hazards Map Legal Description: Lots 1-10, Block Two, Town of 
Ophir, Colorado Address: TBD Aurum Street Owner: Joyce Whitaker, David Cornwall Applicant: 
Joseph Waller 
 
John Wontrobski presents historical timeline for the Cornwall Whittaker Property with the Town of Ophir 
 
Steve Johnson explains the decision before P&Z this evening: either to approve, approve with conditions, 
or deny the Cornwall Whittaker Property to remove those specific lots from the high avalanche hazard 
zone. The decision would then go before the GA, with a recommendation from P&Z.  
 
Steven Johnson asks P&Z members if anyone has a conflict of interest in this public hearing, all members 
reply “no.” (Judah Kuper not present for this question) 
 
Applicant Presentation- Joe Waller presents the application and his packet materials, included in the 
7/7/22 P&Z packet. He utilizes several different avalanche hazard maps to present to P&Z and the public, 
and believes the INSTAAR map does not match the current hazard map. 
 
Steven Johnson is recognized by the P&Z chair to ask questions on behalf of staff. He asks 1) What 
research has been done to confirm if houses 1 & 2 in the Art Mears Figure 10 map were moved after the 
April 1959 wet slide and whether these structures were on the ground in 1952 as shown in the 1952 Ophir 



Plat map. Waller confirms he can do research to expand this question on what houses were potentially 
moved in this timeframe, and any assessed improvements on these lots.  
 
The P&Z Chair closes the applicant presentation and moves to public questions.  
 
Stacey Passmore is recognized, and asks if there is a debate whether there was an avalanche in the 
applicant’s discussed location or is the debate whether or not the buildings were moved by the avalanche. 
Waller responds—the application is based on the INSTAAR map, and these three referenced houses are 
not in the hazard zone. He says the INSTAAR map says “estimated slide,” and we therefore do not know 
about this hazard zone. Stacey asks, has the town considered further impacts on open space, and water 
resources if they consider different applications similar to this, and further development in this town. She 
also asks if the town has standards for developing in the moderate hazard zone. Phil Hayden (chair) 
responds—yes there are standards to protect the safety and welfare of this community. Phil recognizes 
Steve J—Steve responds that the towns current position is Ordinance 2007-05 that no new structures can 
be built in moderate hazard zones, but only improvements of historical structures. Phil recognizes Joe 
Waller—applicant is asking that their lot be removed entirely, and correct the map. Waller also 
responds—the family has owned these lots from 1942 and have been paying taxes on it for this long and 
he says if he was on P&Z then these lots would be grandfathered in, and eliminate any other situations 
like this in the future. Steve Johnson is recognized and responds to the moderate hazard zone question—
he clarifies that Waller is asking for complete removal from the hazard zone, Waller confirms.  
 
Todd Rutledge is recognized, and asks about the INSTAR map, which seems to state as fact that houses 
were moved by avalanche, and the second reference to it, the outer limits of the wet spring avalanche. He 
asks, “are you reading the avalanche that moved from the wet spring avalanche, that may have been 
moved”? Joe Waller responds—if it was that clear, why did they not use the symbol that they use in the 
rest of the maps? Rutledge asks, isn’t this a statement of fact in the map that these houses were moved? 
Joe Waller responds—this is why he can do further research to confirm this 
 
Joe Shults is recognized, and asks if the INSTAAR map the dotted line in Old Ophir is the outer limit of 
zone 1. Waller responds clarifying the different avalanche zones in the INSTAAR map 
 
Phil Hayden moves the discussion to questions from P&Z commission members 
 
Janice Gerona asks about grandfathering in these lots, and if the Town is able to grandfather in lots and 
have an indemnification clause. Steve Johnson responds—yes we have indemnification requirements for 
structure in the hazard zone. He also says if we grandfather these zones, we would have to open up other 
similar lots or else it would be a denial of equal protection. 
 
Ernie Watenpaugh asks Waller—on Resolution that is referenced about the adjustment of boundary in 
Block 11, and asks why it was included. Waller responds that this ordinance coincides with the same 
month that the modern map was made and this confirms that there were inconsistencies with the new 
map, and that corrections were made to match the INSTAAR map. 
 
Mark Rikkers is recognized, and asks does the applicant have quantitative data questions or the 
understanding of trying to put together different story lines and gaps. Mark clarifies asking multiple times 
whether Waller has actual data rather than inferring for this question at hand. Mark also says that one be 
taken over the other without quantitative data for one over the other.  
 
Jen Rose, Judah Kuper, and Phil Hayden have no questions for the applicant 
 



Steven Johnson is recognized, and asks why do you think the town is bound to restrict its mapping to the 
INSTAAR locations, and that the four variances are errors, do you not concede that they could have been 
made intentionally different based on knowledge not in the INSTAAR report, such as knowledge of a wet 
slide avalanche moving structures? Joe Waller responds-the reason this resolution presented is important 
is because the town defines match the west side of Block 11 with the INSTAAR map, they want the map 
to match INSTAAR. Steve responds with a question—is it your position that the Town is required to limit 
its hazard overlay map to the INSTAAR boundaries of zone 1 and 2? Joe Waller responds no.  
 
Steve continues—speaking about houses 1 and two, and about how houses can create deflection. Steve 
clarifies that P&Z would like to have a deflection analysis done on this zone and is part of the application 
to satisfy the application requirements. Steve advises that this is included in supplemental information, 
the original ask is found in an email from Jason Wells, for example, what happens when new buildings 
are built, what type of deflection structures are needed. Phil Hayden confirms, this is necessary for the 
application.  
 
Steven Johnson advises Phil to request supplemental information and re convene when this is done and 
finish deliberations.  
 
Phil asks Steve if he will stick around for deliberations.  
 
Steve responds and says he advises that P&Z requests this supplemental information and then comes back 
at a later date and deliberates.  
 
Phil asks if there are any closing remarks of staff. Steve Johnson recommends that P&Z is ready to make 
a motion to continue to public hearing and ask the application for supplemental information on Lots P &  
Q, pre and post 1959 avalanche, and submit engineering analysis for avalanche deflection on Cornwall 
lots if there are to be developed. 
 
Mark Rikkers—so moved on the motion proposed by Steve Johnson. Jen Rose seconds this motion  
 
Joe Waller—closing remarks on motion on the table. He has qualms about the engineering analysis and 
how he says the Cornwall lots are no in the hazard zone, but that Steve wants him to do an analysis on the 
basis that they are in the hazard zone. Steven clarifies that the engineering would be for any structures 
developed on the Cornwall lots and any impacts of avalanche deflection to neighboring properties.  
 
Joe Waller asks another question—the town chose this as a high hazard zone, but why would you then 
include the Wilbur report, and yet Joe is asking for it to be removed from the high. Steve says whatever 
Mr. Wilbur would feel appropriate, but Joe says this is not what Wilbur would do, and Steve says there’s 
going to have to be some assumptions about what this deflection analysis would say. Steve says the 
engineer can make assumptions based on existing mapping. 
 
Ernie Watenpaugh says to base the deflection analysis on a 100 year event.  
 
Phil Hayden asks if there is any discussion on the motion. There is none. 
 
Phil motions to vote, Mason Osgood leads the vote 
 
All in favor: Ernie Watenpaugh, Judah Kuper, Phil Hayden, Janice Gerona, Jen Rose, Mark Rikkers 
 
Not in favor: - 
 



Motion to approve the continuance of this hearing and addition to supplemental information from the 
Application is approved. 

Phil Hayden motions to hold continuance of P&Z public hearing on Wednesday September 14th, Janice 
Gerona seconds 

All in favor: Ernie Watenpaugh, Judah Kuper, Phil Hayden, Janice Gerona,, Mark Rikkers 
 
Not in favor: - 
 
Abstain-Jen Rose 

Motion to approve the continuance of this hearing till Wednesday September 14th passes 

NEW BUSINESS 

No new business 

ADJOURN 

Having reached the end of the agenda, and with no new business presented, Phil Hayden declared the 
meeting adjourned at 8:50pm 

 

 

__________________________                    ___________ 

Town Clerk, Mason Osgood                               Date 

Minutes prepared by Mason Osgood, Town Clerk  

 

Audio recordings of all Planning and Zoning meetings are available to the public. Please contact the 
Town Clerk if you would like a copy of this month’s audio of the meeting minutes. 

 

 



   
 

   
 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF PLANNING AND ZONING COMISSION 

TOWN OF OPHIR, CO 81426 

Thursday, September 14th, 2022 7:00 PM 

IN PERSON AND REMOTE MEETING VIA ZOOM PLATFORM 

 

CALL TO ORDER 

(TIME: 7:10 PM) 

P&Z Members: Phil Hayden (Chair), Mark Rikkers, Ernie Watenpaugh, Judah Kuper 

Public: Mason Osgood (Clerk), John Wontrobski (Town Manager), Steve Johnson (Serving as Town of 
Ophir Attorney), Joe Shults, Joe Waller (Applicant), Jonathan Cooper 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Ernie Watenpaugh motions to approve the July 7th, 2022 P&Z Agenda, Mark Rikkers seconds 

Voting Members: Phil Hayden (Chair), Mark Rikkers, Ernie Watenpaugh, Judah Kuper 

Not in Favor (Nay): None 

Motion to approve the agenda passes unanimously 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

Ernie Watenpaugh motions to approve the August 4th, 2022 P&Z Meeting Minutes, Phil Hayden seconds 

Voting Members: Phil Hayden (Chair), Mark Rikkers, Ernie Watenpaugh, Judah Kuper 

Not in Favor (Nay): None 

Motion to approve the agenda passes unanimously 

 

BUSINESS ITEMS 

A. Continuation of a July 7th public hearing in regard to an application to change to official mapping 
to Lots 1-10, Block Two, Town of Ophir, Colorado 

Joe Waller Presents 

Questions from P&Z Board and Staff with responses from Joe Waller 

Public comments from Joe Shults (with presentation) 

Public Hearing Closed 

 

 

 



   
 

   
 

 

 

BUSINESS ITEMS (Cont.) 

Discussion among P&Z Board and Town Staff 

Judah Kuper motions to deny the application to change to official mapping to Lots 1-10, Block  Two, 
Town of Ophir, Colorado – Seconded by Mark Rikkers 

Motion 

I move that, based upon the application as amended and supplemented, testimony, evidence and 
public comments presented at public hearing on June 11, 2019,  July 7, 2022 and today, the Ophir 
Planning and Zoning (P&Z) Commission recommend to the Ophir General Assembly, that the 
Cornwall-Whittaker application to remove Lots 1-10, Block 2, Town of Ophir from the High 
Hazard Avalanche Zone District, be denied, for the following reasons: 

Applicant has failed to demonstrate by the preponderance of the evidence compliance with at 
least three criteria for approval of a zone map amendment. Specifically, P&Z finds that Land Use 
Code subsection 1415.C, REVIEW STANDARDS FOR CODE AND MAP AMENDMENTS  is 
not met, insofar as no material or substantial error in the existing zoning map has been 
substantiated by the Applicant. Figure 10 of the 1976 Natural Hazards in Mountain Colorado 
INSTAAR Report included at page 46 of the rezoning application, documented that two houses 
located downhill from the Owner's property were moved by wet snow avalanches. These two 
houses were depicted in a 1952 plat map. The Report referenced a 1959 wet slide avalanche, 
based on reports of local residents. Based on common sense that documentation  justified the 
Town including applicants' vacant uphill property in the high hazard avalanche zone district 
overlay when adopted in 1979, regardless of whether the INSTAAR avalanche modeling included 
the Applicant's property. Applicant's suggestions that a 1959 wet slab avalanche over applicant's 
property did not occur, and that those two houses were not moved by an avalanche, were not 
persuasive to overcome the INSTAAR documentation. I would also add the Group B avalanches 
shown on the INSTARR report looked clearly to me as defined as Zone 1 for the lots in question. 

Applicant has failed to provide any written narrative explaining how the standards for rezoning 
approval are met, as required by LUC 1405. Applicant only cited verbatim LUC 1415 subsections 
C, D and E as in compliance criteria. 

Applicant has refused to provide supplemental information specifically requested by P&Z 
concerning potential avalanche deflection if the rezoning were to be approved and structures were 
built on the owner's property. 

Applicant has not submitted any depiction of the structures that could be built upon the Owners' 
property if rezoning were to be approved, as required by LUC section 1408.4. 

The Owner's consultant, Wilbur Engineering, Inc., stated at page 6 in a 2007 Avalanche Study 
and Avalanche Hazard Analysis for the Owner's property, that the property is entirely within a 
"moderate/blue" avalanche hazard classification, but applicant has declined to seek rezoning to 
such classification. 

 



   
 

   
 

 

 

Motion (Cont.) 

The underlying zoning, which may be erroneous, is residential (despite open space being the only 
use permitted by right in an avalanche hazard zone). Ophir does not permit new residential 
construction in the moderate/blue zone. Accordingly, the application does not comply with LUC 
1415.E. 

The application fails to comply with the 2021 Ophir Master Plan, Goal M, detailed  objective 3, 
as required by LUC section 1415.D: 

Goal M: Prevent Damage Caused by Natural Hazards 

Ophir residents are susceptible to certain natural hazards given the town’s location and Ophir 
aims to protect its residents through ongoing awareness and education. 

Promote land use patterns that eliminate or reduce potential development in natural hazard areas. 

Voting Members: Judah Kuper, Phil Hayden, Ernie Watenpaugh, Mark Rikkers 

Not in Favor (Nay): None 

 

 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

Discussion of valuation of new building 

ADJOURN 

 Motion to adjourn by Judah Kuper, Seconded by Phil Hayden 

 

 

 

 



























































































Time Entries Professional = All (Active Only)
Group By Professional Group

Client - Matter = 10341.11 Cornwall - Whittaker 
Property (Active Only)

Task Code = All 
View = Original

From 09-01-2014 To 10-31-2022

Stephen B. Johnson Law Firm P.C.

10-10-2022 15:25:35 Page 4 of 4

Date Status Approval BillableType Task Professional Start Stop Duration Rate Amount
Town of Ophir c/o Town Manager
10341.11 Cornwall - Whittaker Property
09-13-2022 Billed  Billable Legal Services Johnson, Stephen B.   0.300 325.00 97.50

09-14-2022 Billed  Billable Legal Services Johnson, Stephen B.   1.800 325.00 585.00

09-14-2022 Billed  Billable Legal Services Johnson, Stephen B.   1.300 325.00 422.50

Matter Total 31.600 9,630.00
Client Total 31.600 9,630.00
Grand Total 31.600 9,630.00



NOTICE  

Of Pending Official Town of Ophir Hazard Map Amendment 
 

Project Name: Cornwall Property 

Project Summary: The evaluation of avalanche hazard and mapping within lots 1-10, block two. Article 804 overlay adjustment, 
                                 Appendix C Town of Ophir Hazards Map. 

Action Sought: Removal of lots 1-10, block two from the high hazard area designation on the Town of Ophir Hazards Map. 

Legal Description: Lots 1-10, Block Two, Town of Ophir, Colorado 

Address: TBD Aurum Street 

Owner and Applicant: Joyce Whitaker, David Cornwall 

Authorized Agent: Joseph Waller, joseph@josephwaller.com 
 

  
,  

COMPLETE INFORMATION REGARDING THE APPLICATION IS AVAILABLE AT THE
OPHIR TOWN HALL 36 PORPHYRY ST. (970) 728-4943 

 General Assembly Meeting   
 

DATE OF HEARING: November 15, 2022 

LOCATION:  OPHIR TOWN HALL, 36 PORPHYRY ST 

RECOMMENDATION MAKING BODY: GENERAL ASSEMBLY  



AFFIDAVIT 

Before the General Assembly of the Town of Ophir, Colorado: 

Project Name: Cornwall Property 
Project Summary: The evaluation of avalanche hazard and mapping within lots 1-10, block two, 
Article 804 overlay adjustment, Appendix C Town of Ophir Hazards Map. 
Legal Description: Lots 1-10, Block Two, Town of Ophir, Colorado 
Address: NA 
Owner: Joyce Whitaker, David Cornwall 
Applicant: Joseph Waller 

AFFIDAVITOF(Name) ~!(n'shh~\oeE) 
:,; 

The undersigned, being first duly sworn, states and declares as follows: 

1. That upon examination of a scaled map of the Town of Ophir, I determined which properties 
are within two hundred feet, exclusive of streets and alleys, of the property which is the 
subject of this affidavit; and 

2. That upon examination of the public records of the office of the San Miguel County Assessor, 
I verified the owners of record of property within two hundred feet of the property which is 
the subject of this affidavit; and 

3. Being duly authorized, I placed a true and accurate copy of the Notice of Public Hearing 
addressed to the property owners of record which I verified to be within two hundred feet of 
the subject property, a copy of which is attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 
reference, in the United States Mail, fi rst class postage prepaid on the I I -h-. day of 

Oc..fubw , 2-cJ :z... ').. to individual homeowners or by hand-delivery so long as 
such delivery is accomplished by leaving notice with an adult property owner at least ten (10) 
days prior to the public hearing 

4. Being duly authorized, I posted Notice of Public Hearing consisting of a sturdily mounted 
poster at least 24" x 36" in size at a conspicuous location on the subject property at least ten 
(10) days prior to the public hearing. 

FURTHER AFFIANT SAYE TH NOT. 

STATEOFCOLORADO ) 
) ss. 

COUNTY OF SAN MIGUEL ) 

The foregoing declaration was sworn to before me this ~a;; of Ooim:= ll)-Z, '2.-
by -t<c\5--\-m R0'o~ . . 1 

WITNESS my hand and offici 
My commission expires: - ~:-L-f-=.....__,f-;6-?.'/ 

ROBIN M WATKINSON 
NOTARY PUBLIC 

STATE OF COLORADO 
NOTARY!D19964010389 

Ion Ex res: tember 17, 2025 



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING BEFORE THE OPHIR GENERAL 
ASSEMBLY Whether to Approve a Rezoning Application

Notice is hereby given that on November 15, 2022 at 7:00 
PM, or as soon as possible thereafter, in Ophir Town Hall, 36 
Porphyry St., Ophir, Colorado, or at such other time and place 
as this hearing may be adjourned, a public hearing will be held 
to consider:
Project Name:  Cornwall Property
Project Summary: The evaluation of avalanche hazard and 
mapping within lots 1-10, block two, Article 804 overlay ad-
justment, Appendix C Town of Ophir Hazards Map.
Action Sought:  Removal of lots 1-10, block two
from the high hazard area designation on the Town
of Ophir Hazards Map and retaining underlying 
residential zoning.

Legal Description: Lots 1-10, Block Two, Town of Ophir, Colo-
rado
Address:  NA
Owner:  Joyce Whitaker, David Cornwall
Applicant:  Joseph Waller

More complete information is on file and available at Town 
Hall, 36 Porphyry, Ophir, CO. (970)728-4943.



NOTICE OF PENDING TOWN OF OPHIR HAZARD MAP AMENDMENT 
 
October 09, 2022 
 
RE: General Assembly Meeting 
 
Dear Property Owner, 
 
You are receiving this public notice as required by the Town of Ophir Land Use Code because 
you own property within 200 feet of a proposed Avalanche Hazard Map change. 
Notice is hereby given that on November 15, 2022 at 7:00 PM, or as soon as possible thereafter, 
in Ophir Town Hall, 36 Porphyry St., Ophir, Colorado, or at such other time and place as this 
hearing may be adjourned, a public hearing will be held to consider: 
 
Project Name: Cornwall Property 
Project Summary: The evaluation of avalanche hazard and mapping within lots 1-10, block 
two, Article 804 overlay adjustment, Appendix C Town of Ophir Hazards Map. 
Action Sought: Removal of lots 1-10, block two from the high hazard area designation on the 
Town of Ophir Hazards Map. 
Legal Description: Lots 1-10, Block Two, Town of Ophir, Colorado 
Address: TBD Aurum Street 
Owner and Applicant: Joyce Whitaker, David Cornwall 
Authorized Agent: Joseph Waller, joseph@josephwaller.com 
 
More complete information is on file and available at Town Hall, 36 Porphyry St., Ophir, CO. 
(970)728-4943. If you would like your concerns noted and reviewed prior to the hearing date, 
please forward your written comment letter to: 
 
Town of Ophir 
P.O. Box 683 
Ophir, CO 81426 
 
or 
 
Email document attachment with an email owned by the commenting individual to: 
clerk@ophir.us 
 
or 
 
Deliver in person to: 
Ophir Town Hall at the physical address listed above. 
 

 



To: Town of Ophir 

From: Mike Kuby, 105 Aurum St. 

Re: Objection to Cornwall Property Avalanche Hazards Map change 

Date:  October 25, 2022 

 

I am writing on behalf of myself and Lauren to object to the proposed change in the Town of Ophir Avalanche 

Hazards Map to remove Lots 1-10 of Block 2 from the high hazard area designation. 

 

Evidence that avalanches can reach these lots is apparent simply by looking in the meadow behind the 

Humphries, Kuby, and Cain homes on the north side of Aurum St. There you can see longitudinal debris flows 

coming down valley from Spring Gulch and ending behind these houses. These debris flows reach some of the 

lots in question and head directly towards the remaining lots further downhill. They are elevated several feet 

above the rest of the meadow. Given that mud and rock debris flows have reached these points in the past, it is 

likely that snow avalanches can go beyond the end of these flows to reach all of the lots in question.  

 

Although I am a Full Professor in the School of Geographical Sciences and Urban Planning, my specialty is not in 

physical geography. I therefore do not claim to be an expert in avalanches or debris flows. With that in mind, I 

would like to submit the attached scientific paper as evidence for the common-sense claim that snow 

avalanches generally can run out farther downhill than debris flows. I believe you will find that the evidence and 

implication of the attached paper is very pertinent and easily understandable. 

 

Decaulne, Armelle. "Snow-avalanche and debris-flow hazards in the fjords of north-western Iceland, 

mitigation and prevention." Natural Hazards 41.1 (2007): 81-98. 

 

The attached paper includes maps that show the runouts of both snow avalanches and debris flows in the fjords 

of NW Iceland. The photographs in Figure 2 show U-shaped glacial slopes similar to those in Ophir, with 

buildings on the flat bottom of the slopes.  

 

On the next page, I reproduce Figure 5 from this paper. I have added red arrows pointing to where the wide, 

light gray-colored runouts of the snow avalanches exceed the length of the narrow, dark gray runouts of the 

debris flows and reach the buildings also shown on the map. 

 

While of course there are differences in landscape and climate between Ophir and the fjords of Iceland studied 

in this paper, I think that glacial landscapes around the world are similar enough to establish the likelihood that 

the snow avalanches in Ophir would also run out farther than debris flows, which we can plainly see have 

reached the lots behind our homes in the past. I believe one does not have to be an expert in geomorphology 

and avalanche science to interpret the attached map. The fact that this paper is motivated by the threat to 

buildings is another reason to heed its warning. 

Thank you for taking our concerns and the information we have provided into consideration, and thank you all 

for the service you provide to the Ophir community. 

 



  



See discussions, stats, and author profiles for this publication at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/225328236

Snow-avalanche and debris-flow hazards in the fjords of north-western
Iceland, mitigation and prevention

Article  in  Natural Hazards · April 2007

DOI: 10.1007/s11069-006-9025-x

CITATIONS

21
READS

629

1 author:

Some of the authors of this publication are also working on these related projects:

Soutien de l'Agence Universitaire de la Francophonie (AUF) à l'organisation de l'école d'été doctorale "Méthodes dendrochronologiques, d'analyse des palynomorphes

et documentaires utilisées dans la reconstitution des changements climatiques et environnementaux" View project

Étude des conditions météorologiques favorables au déclenchement d'avalanches de neige par l'entremise d'appareils photographiques automatisés dans la région

d'Umiujaq, Nunavik View project

Armelle Decaulne

French National Centre for Scientific Research

142 PUBLICATIONS   1,195 CITATIONS   

SEE PROFILE

All content following this page was uploaded by Armelle Decaulne on 02 June 2014.

The user has requested enhancement of the downloaded file.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/225328236_Snow-avalanche_and_debris-flow_hazards_in_the_fjords_of_north-western_Iceland_mitigation_and_prevention?enrichId=rgreq-43acfc2ebd2bdb1f5e1e86fef8867781-XXX&enrichSource=Y292ZXJQYWdlOzIyNTMyODIzNjtBUzoxMDM2OTcxMTU3NzkwODBAMTQwMTczNDcyNzkyMg%3D%3D&el=1_x_2&_esc=publicationCoverPdf
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/225328236_Snow-avalanche_and_debris-flow_hazards_in_the_fjords_of_north-western_Iceland_mitigation_and_prevention?enrichId=rgreq-43acfc2ebd2bdb1f5e1e86fef8867781-XXX&enrichSource=Y292ZXJQYWdlOzIyNTMyODIzNjtBUzoxMDM2OTcxMTU3NzkwODBAMTQwMTczNDcyNzkyMg%3D%3D&el=1_x_3&_esc=publicationCoverPdf
https://www.researchgate.net/project/Soutien-de-lAgence-Universitaire-de-la-Francophonie-AUF-a-lorganisation-de-lecole-dete-doctorale-Methodes-dendrochronologiques-danalyse-des-palynomorphes-et-documentaires-utilisees-dans-la-reconstitu?enrichId=rgreq-43acfc2ebd2bdb1f5e1e86fef8867781-XXX&enrichSource=Y292ZXJQYWdlOzIyNTMyODIzNjtBUzoxMDM2OTcxMTU3NzkwODBAMTQwMTczNDcyNzkyMg%3D%3D&el=1_x_9&_esc=publicationCoverPdf
https://www.researchgate.net/project/Etude-des-conditions-meteorologiques-favorables-au-declenchement-davalanches-de-neige-par-lentremise-dappareils-photographiques-automatises-dans-la-region-dUmiujaq-Nunavik?enrichId=rgreq-43acfc2ebd2bdb1f5e1e86fef8867781-XXX&enrichSource=Y292ZXJQYWdlOzIyNTMyODIzNjtBUzoxMDM2OTcxMTU3NzkwODBAMTQwMTczNDcyNzkyMg%3D%3D&el=1_x_9&_esc=publicationCoverPdf
https://www.researchgate.net/?enrichId=rgreq-43acfc2ebd2bdb1f5e1e86fef8867781-XXX&enrichSource=Y292ZXJQYWdlOzIyNTMyODIzNjtBUzoxMDM2OTcxMTU3NzkwODBAMTQwMTczNDcyNzkyMg%3D%3D&el=1_x_1&_esc=publicationCoverPdf
https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Armelle-Decaulne?enrichId=rgreq-43acfc2ebd2bdb1f5e1e86fef8867781-XXX&enrichSource=Y292ZXJQYWdlOzIyNTMyODIzNjtBUzoxMDM2OTcxMTU3NzkwODBAMTQwMTczNDcyNzkyMg%3D%3D&el=1_x_4&_esc=publicationCoverPdf
https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Armelle-Decaulne?enrichId=rgreq-43acfc2ebd2bdb1f5e1e86fef8867781-XXX&enrichSource=Y292ZXJQYWdlOzIyNTMyODIzNjtBUzoxMDM2OTcxMTU3NzkwODBAMTQwMTczNDcyNzkyMg%3D%3D&el=1_x_5&_esc=publicationCoverPdf
https://www.researchgate.net/institution/French-National-Centre-for-Scientific-Research?enrichId=rgreq-43acfc2ebd2bdb1f5e1e86fef8867781-XXX&enrichSource=Y292ZXJQYWdlOzIyNTMyODIzNjtBUzoxMDM2OTcxMTU3NzkwODBAMTQwMTczNDcyNzkyMg%3D%3D&el=1_x_6&_esc=publicationCoverPdf
https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Armelle-Decaulne?enrichId=rgreq-43acfc2ebd2bdb1f5e1e86fef8867781-XXX&enrichSource=Y292ZXJQYWdlOzIyNTMyODIzNjtBUzoxMDM2OTcxMTU3NzkwODBAMTQwMTczNDcyNzkyMg%3D%3D&el=1_x_7&_esc=publicationCoverPdf
https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Armelle-Decaulne?enrichId=rgreq-43acfc2ebd2bdb1f5e1e86fef8867781-XXX&enrichSource=Y292ZXJQYWdlOzIyNTMyODIzNjtBUzoxMDM2OTcxMTU3NzkwODBAMTQwMTczNDcyNzkyMg%3D%3D&el=1_x_10&_esc=publicationCoverPdf


Abstract In the fjords of north-western Iceland, snow-avalanche and debris-flow
hazards threaten 65% of the inhabitants. In this area, both historical and geomor-
phological evidences clearly demonstrate the recurrent danger from the steep slopes.
Hazard vulnerability has increased during the last century, in connection with the
population development of the Westfjords. Two snow-avalanche disasters during
1995 (in which 34 people were killed in two villages) prompted efforts to both
mitigate and prevent future snow-avalanche and debris-flow activity. Research
(qualitative and quantitative) on process characteristics describes prone terrain,
runout distance, process behaviour along the slope, morphometric properties of the
deposits and triggering factors. Acceptable risk, hazard and risk zoning are clearly
defined by official regulations. Evacuation plans are determined from statistical
characterisation of the risk and dynamic numerical modelling. To enhance the risk
reduction, permanent and temporary measures aim to control the processes and to
protect the population.

Keywords Avalanche hazard Æ Debris-flow hazard Æ Icelandic Westfjords Æ
Prevention Æ Mitigation Æ Geomorphological methods Æ Numerical modelling Æ
Risk acceptance

1 Introduction

Snow avalanches and debris flows represent a threat to settlements and transporta-
tion routes in mountainous areas (Hewitt 2004). In Iceland, during the 20th century,

A. Decaulne
Natural Research Centre of Northwest Iceland,
Adalgata 2, IS-550 Saudarkrokur, Iceland

A. Decaulne (&)
Laboratory of Physical Geography UMR 6042—CNRS,
4 rue Ledru, F-63057 Clermont-Ferrand cedex 1, France
e-mail: armelle@nnv.is

123

Nat Hazards (2007) 41:81–98
DOI 10.1007/s11069-006-9025-x

ORI GI N A L P A PE R

Snow-avalanche and debris-flow hazards in the fjords
of north-western Iceland, mitigation
and prevention

Armelle Decaulne

Received: 26 August 2005 / Accepted: 22 May 2006 / Published online: 21 November 2006
! Springer Science+Business Media B.V. 2006



such slope hazards have cost 193 lives, of which 166 are due to snow avalanches
(Saemundsson et al. 2003). During the same period, economic loss were worsening in
the island (Johannesson and Arnalds 2001). The north-western part of Iceland, the
Westfjords area, is particularly prone to snow-avalanche and debris-flow activity,
accounting for c. 90 of given fatalities. This area has a sub-polar oceanic climate,
characterised by small annual variations in air temperature, high annual precipitation
values and high atmospheric humidity (Decaulne 2001). Here, topographic and cli-
matic prerequisites for snow-avalanche and debris-flow occurrence (Bjornsson 1980;
Decaulne 2001) are steep slopes, a mass of loosened snow (Keylock 1997), availability
of cohesionless material and excess moisture to saturate and mobilise the debris
(Brunsden 1979; Innes 1983).

The purpose of this paper is (1) to present the snow-avalanche and debris-flow
hazard situation in the Westfjords, (2) to review the recent research for its mitigation
and prevention, including hazard and risk zoning using geomorphological field
recognition, analysis of climate conditions and triggering factors, historical knowl-
edge, statistical analysis of topography, risk-based models and multi-risk quantitative
analysis and cultural sensitivity.

2 The Westfjords geographical characteristics

A fjord landscape (Fig. 1), carved into Miocene basaltic bedrock during the Pleis-
tocene glaciations, dominates the Westfjords. The lava series, which are almost
horizontally bedded, display flat summits from 600 to 900 m a.s.l. (local relief range:
400–700 m). Slope profiles are slightly concave, characterised by steep upper parts
(with exposed rockwalls notched by numerous bowls and chutes), moderate to steep
mid parts and basal areas covered by low angle talus. The mild and maritime climate,
located in the track of North Atlantic Ocean low pressure system, is characterised by
a very changeable weather, with sudden changes in temperature and liquid/solid
precipitation. Mean annual air temperature is 2.9"C and an average precipitation of

G L Á M A

 D
RAN

G
A

 G
LACIER

0 25 km

Main settlements

  1 - Sudavik
  2 - Holtahverfi
  3 - Isafjordur
  4 - Hnifsdalur
  5 - Bolungarvik
  6 - Sudureyri
  7 - Flateyri
  8 - Thingeyri
  9 - Bildudalur
10 - Patreksfjordur

N

I S A F J A
R D

A
R D

J U
P

F J O
R

D

B R E I D A R F J O R D U R F J O R D

0 - 300 m 

300 - 600 m

600 - 900 m

> 900 m

Elevation

10 P

8

6
5 B

4
3

2
7

9

Main weather stations

Lambavatn (L)
Galtarviti (G)
Hornbjargsviti (Ho)
Aedey (A)
Bolungarvik (B)
Isafjordur (I)
Patreksfjordur (P)
Halfdan (Ha)

1 I

*Ho

G*

*A

L*

Ha*

66˚N

23
˚W

66˚00' N
65˚40' N

66˚20' N

21˚30' W22˚30' W23˚30' W24˚30' W 22˚ W  24˚ W

Fig. 1 Location of the study area

82 Nat Hazards (2007) 41:81–98

123



969 mm pa at sea level (data compiled from the meteorological stations of
Lambavatn, Galtarviti, Hornstrandir and Aedey). Small towns and villages are all
located along the seashore, or within short tributary valleys at the foot of steep
slopes (Fig. 2).

3 Snow-avalanche and debris-flow hazard

On steep terrain, deep snow favours snow-avalanche formation, and large quantities
of available debris favour debris-flow formation (cf. 4.2.). In addition, the change-
able weather in the area suits these geomorphic processes, with heavy snowfall, rapid
snowmelt, long-duration and high-intensity rainfall. The exposure of people and
infrastructure at the foot of such slopes compose the hazard situation (McClung and
Schaerer 1993; Johnson and Rodine 1984). These conditions are all present in the
Westfjords (Johannesson et al. 1996b) that is considered one of five primary loca-
tions exposed to snow avalanches and debris flows in Iceland (Gudmundsson 1997).
As the affected population does not exceed 5,000 people in the region, the risk
level could be regarded as lower than that occurring in European or Canadian
mountainous areas. However, this population represents more than 65% of the
residents of the Westfjords; consequently, it is an important issue in Iceland.

3.1 Historical records of snow-avalanche and debris-flow activity

Written sources (e.g. local chronicles, notifications by inhabitants and local
authorities, newspapers and broadcast information) were gathered together by
several Icelandic authors (principally Jonsson, Rist and Petursson (refer to Decaulne
2004)) and by the Icelandic Meteorological Office (IMO) staff. The IMO propose
several compilations of snow-avalanche and debris-flow events for several settle-
ments in the Westfjords (refer to IMO website, http://www.vedur.is/haettumat).

From the survey of snow-avalanche and debris-flow accidents in the Westfjords
since the beginning of the colonisation in the 9th century, distribution maps of
known events are produced (Fig. 3). With comparison to settlement location
(Fig. 1), it is apparent that both snow avalanches and debris flows threaten most of
the communities scattered along the coastline. Nevertheless, the spatio-temporal
distribution of natural hazards due to snow avalanche and debris flows is changeable,
as are their impacts (Fig. 4). This is especially the case with snow avalanches, where
fatalities and property damage are now greater than that occurring historically; as a

Fig. 2 The setting of Isafjordur (a), Holtahverfi (b) and Sudavik (c): top plateau and steep slopes,
interrupted or not by an intermediate bench, with rockwall in the upper part. This setting dominates
the fjord coast, where communities concentrate from 200 to 2500 inhabitants (photos: A. Decaulne)

Nat Hazards (2007) 41:81–98 83

123



consequence recent snow-avalanche documentation mainly concentrates on areas
where higher densities of population or transportation corridors exist.

Written indications of debris flows are numerous, even historically, but lethal
debris-flow events were rare and isolated. The more serious impacts involved the
destruction of premises for residential use or outbuildings. No significant changes in
the spatial distribution of debris-flows through time is observed, but a noticeable
spatial concentration of events within the 20th century is reported.

Nevertheless, historical records usually mention only events that caused damages,
therefore these data are of limited use when considering locations that are only
recently settled. In such cases, geomorphological evidence of processes acting on
slopes can provide further understanding.

3.2 Geomorphological evidence

Geomorphic features above settlements in the Westfjords provide evidence of slope
instability during the Holocene (Fig. 5), with particular emphasis on snow ava-
lanches and debris flows contributing to talus cone and talus slope development
(Blikra and Saemundsson 1998; Decaulne 2001). Apart from these inherited, but still
evolving landforms, other present-day evidences of snow-avalanche and debris-flow
activity are often observed on slopes and are discussed below.

Snow-avalanche distribution from 870 to 2000A B Debris-flow distribution from 870 to 2000

Fig. 3 Snow-avalanche (A) and debris-flow (B) distribution from 870 to 2000 in the Westfjord
Peninsula (sources: op. cit.)

N Destructive event (severe damages) Minor event (minor damages)Lethal eventLethal and destructive event0 100 km

Snow-avalanche
distribution

a 870- 1500 c 1701-1800 d 1801-1900 e 1901-2000b 1501-1700

Debris-flow
distribution

Fig. 4 Documented snow-avalanche and debris-flow spatial and temporal distribution from 870 to
2000 in the Westfjord Peninsula (sources: op. cit.)

84 Nat Hazards (2007) 41:81–98

123



N

N250 m

N250 m

Bildudalsvogur

250 m

N
250 m

Elevation lines = 20 m

Patreksfjordur

A

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

9 10 11 12 13 14 15

KEYS

A C

B

D

Fig. 5 Simplified geomorphological maps of the study areas of Bildudalur (A), Patreksfjordur (B),
Bolungarvik (C) and Isafjordur (D) showing the runout distance of documented and recognised in the
field snow avalanches and debris flows. 1: buildings; 2: road; 3: brook; 4: cliff edge; 5: secondary cliff
(<2 m high); 6: ridge; 7: gully; 8: large multi-process cone; 9: summital plateau; 10: bedrock outcrop;
11: talus; 12: boulder cover; 13: rockslide; 14: debris flow; 15: snow avalanche (including slush flows)

Nat Hazards (2007) 41:81–98 85

123



Due to the lack of shrub or tree cover on slopes above the inhabited areas in the
Westfjords, recent avalanche paths are not immediately obvious in the landscape.
Nevertheless, the avalanche track is recognisable from the start zone to the depo-
sition zone by using terrain analysis. The starting area shows suitable characteristics
for snow-avalanche formation, i.e. steep slope gradients (40"–55"), and a mountain
wall carved into numerous shallow gullies where snow can accumulate. Moreover,
snowdrift transfer from flat summit areas supplies large amounts of snow to the
leeward slopes. Snow-avalanche landforms testify that this process is recurrent and
efficient in the study area (Decaulne and Saemundsson 2006b). Commonly, an un-
sorted accumulation of large boulders (>0.5 m for the a-axis) with a parallel ori-
entation is slightly disconnected from the foot of the talus, and typically deposited by
snow avalanches. More indicative, although scattered, are perched boulders and
avalanche boulder tongues. Furthermore, slush erosion and/or deposition features
are found on talus cones in prone areas (Decaulne and Saemundsson 2006b). This
suite of geomorphic evidences enables a more complete appreciation of avalanche
paths, greater than that offered by historical data alone, even if not compiled in an
avalanche Atlas.

With the typical channel bordered by lateral levees and the levee inverse vertical
sedimentary architecture, debris flows produce landforms that are easily identified in
the landscape, even if some of these landforms are covered with vegetation. Above
settlements, only remnants of historical depositional lobes are visible, as material is
frequently cleared after a debris-flow event to expose buried parts of inhabited
areas. Fresh landforms are more visible (Decaulne and Saemundsson 2003;
Decaulne et al. 2005), and can be seen at all slopes, adjacent to older ones. Debris
flows mobilise large volumes of material that are stored on benches and in the upper
part of the slopes. Recently, Glade (2005) using geomorphological analysis considers
the debris-flow potential in Bildudalur, highlighting the role of sediment availability,
reproduction and removal, in an empirical modelling of debris-flow hazard
assessment.

Above settlement areas snow avalanches and debris flows do not occur system-
atically at the same site. For example, in the case of Isafjordur, the areas located
above the main residential zone are clearly dominated by debris-flow activity, but at
some sites both snow-avalanche and debris-flow activity are recognised. Such dual-
process sites are found in Patreksfjordur, Bildudalur, Bolungarvik (Decaulne 2004)
and in Sudavik. In the latter scenario, the role of avalanches in supplying sediment to
debris-flow channels has not been measured, but is presumably limited as snow
avalanches occurring under present environmental conditions are unable to carry
out strong geomorphic work within their track (Decaulne and Saemundsson 2006a).

The spatial distribution of snow-avalanche and debris-flow geomorphological
evidences underlines a noticeable difference in their progression downslope. Whilst
snow avalanches move straight downslope, following the same path in successive
events, debris-flow tracks move laterally, migrating in mid and lower parts of the
slope, leaving the source-area as the only fixed element within the path.

3.3 Increasing threat due to snow-avalanche and debris-flow activity

Historical sources and geomorphological investigations clearly show that both snow
avalanches and debris flows occur recurrently at the present time in the fjord areas of
north-western Iceland. More precisely, the most serious threat increased during the

86 Nat Hazards (2007) 41:81–98

123



20th Century, owing to economic and social changes of the area, i.e. migration of the
rural population towards coastal communities, in connection with the growth of the
fishing industry (Johannesson 2000; Skaptadottir 2000). Increasing avalanche acci-
dents are not significantly related to winter recreation but to poorly located new
buildings. New areas were colonised, with no or scant knowledge of avalanches and
debris flows acting in these areas, and inhabitants encountered more dangerous
situations with time (Decaulne 2004). The period from 1940 to 1980 corresponds to
the most favourable climatic conditions of the 20th Century (highest air pressures
and temperatures, lowest precipitation) and concentrates the larger part of popu-
lation growth and building construction (Decaulne 2005). Since the 1990s, whilst the
population has decreased by 10–20% within the Westfjord Peninsula (Willhardt
2004), the number and location of buildings is still the same.

4 Mitigation and prevention of snow avalanches and debris flows

The mitigation and prevention of snow-avalanche and debris-flow hazards requires
societal awareness and action. This comprises several stages. First, there is a need for
realisation that a population is at risk. Then, a reliable survey of snow-avalanche and
debris-flow terrains is required, to assess topographic (starting zones, tracks and
paths) as well as triggering factors. Subsequently, hazard planning, including hazard
and risk zoning, comparison with acceptable risk levels and, finally, the implemen-
tation of countermeasures has to be carried out.

4.1 The turning year 1995

Before 1995, only occasional studies pointed out the hazard related to snow ava-
lanches, and sometimes to debris flows in the Westfjords. Reports following dam-
aging events often associated documented avalanche occurrence and technical
aspects of avalanche impact on settlements (e.g. in Patreksfjordur, Bildudalur,
Isafjordur and Sudavik). These reports indicate that the official authorities are
willing to reduce the threat, specifically after the slush avalanches in Patreksfjordur
in January 1983, in which 4 people lost their lives. Indeed, regulations were estab-
lished by the Icelandic Civil Defence according to the findings of these different
studies (regulation #247/1988), to create hazard and risk zoning guidelines and to
propose appropriate defence structures.

Nevertheless, the question of risk acceptance by individuals and society (e.g.
Fischhoff et al. 1981; Rohrmann 1998) was not the main issue at that time. As
damages were local, mainly material and historical lethal accidents were rare in the
area. This indicates the gap between the analysis of physical aspects of the threat,
perceived as necessary by governmental institutions; and the perception of the
threatened populations who lack a complete understanding of the destructive
potential of the slope processes.

The catastrophic year 1995 highlighted the low avalanche prevention, poor ava-
lanche preparedness and inadequate planning in Iceland (Colombo 2000;
Bernhardsdóttir 2001). Two destructive avalanches occurred within a 15 km radius,
inflicting a very severe toll (34 deaths, 50 residences destroyed or damaged). These
followed the huge avalanche of Seljalandsdalur in Isafjordur in 1994 (one death and
40 summer houses destroyed). These occurrences suddenly raised the awareness of

Nat Hazards (2007) 41:81–98 87

123



snow-avalanche hazard. The Icelandic Government responded promptly to this
situation, in order to reduce such further disasters (Magnusson 1996). New legisla-
tion appointed the Ministry of the Environment as the institution responsible for
avalanche matters. Furthermore, the IMO was put in charge of snow avalanche
research and other processes acting on slopes (Magnusson 1996). An outcome of
research findings was the evolution of legislation and re-evaluation of regulations. In
particular, the implementation of new hazard zoning and planning (regulation
#49/1997 that has been changed into #505/2000).

Another aspect is that these successive disasters enhanced societal awareness of
hazards (Magnusson 1996; Haraldsdóttir 1998a, b). First, the potentially destructive
effects of snow avalanches were more clearly perceived; second, several events un-
known to the authorities were reported by the local population. This information
strengthened knowledge about long avalanche runout distances, as most of these
previously unreported avalanches reached the bottom of slopes in areas where
residences have been recently constructed.

4.2 Knowledge of snow-avalanche and debris-flow characteristics

Spatio-temporal occurrence of snow avalanches and debris flows is of major
importance. Historical data are therefore very useful, and mostly rely on reports
from local communities that directly witnessed the events or noticed their deposits
(e.g. road dissection, broken fences ...). As stated previously, most of the extreme
events that have occurred since the foundation of permanent settlements in the
Westfjords are documented. Information have been supplied by the local population
empowered by the 1995 disasters. In addition, a survey of older extreme events was
performed on the lower slopes, within the inhabited area, by means of vertical
stratigraphy, highlighting the long runout distances of snow avalanches and debris
flows (Saemundsson 2002).

Moreover, knowledge of potential snow-avalanche and debris-flow terrain is
essential. Therefore, analyses of avalanche and debris-flow behaviour along the
slope, as well as runout-distances, were carried out to predict the area that might be
affected by each of the processes. Geomorphological assessment of the landforms on
talus were performed by Decaulne (2001), analysing the morphometric properties of
the snow-avalanches and debris-flow deposits.

Furthermore, the IMO quantified snow-avalanche runout distances using mod-
elling. As data on long runout distance avalanches in a given path are usually too
limited to base the risk estimation on, transferring data from other paths was proven
to be more significant with the help of numerical models that simulate runout
(Sigurdsson et al. 1998b). In particular, the runout-ratio method, developed by
McClung et al. (1989), was applied on Icelandic slopes by Keylock (1996) and
Keylock et al. (1999). The Norwegian a/b model, developed by Bakkehoi et al.
(1983), was applied in Iceland by Johannesson et al. (1996a) and Johannesson
(1998). In addition, a dynamic model such as the PCM model (Perla et al. 1980),
calculated snow avalanche runout distances, flow velocities and impact pressures
along the avalanche path. Hence, the return periods of given runout length snow
avalanches were calculated according to the Icelandic data set. This was at varying
lengths within the path that correspond to a defined runout index (Jonasson et al.
1999), in order to delineate the hazard zoning. For a similar purpose the 2D ava-
lanche model SAMOS, developed in Austria, has been run for starting zones above

88 Nat Hazards (2007) 41:81–98

123



several town and villages of the Westfjords (Johannesson et al. 2001, 2002a; Tracy
and Johannesson 2003; Sigurdsson 2004). This highlights a number of characteristics
including the effects of lateral spreading on the shortening of runout, differences in
runout according to starting zone size and different degrees of lateral spreading,
direction and shape of the main avalanche tongues.

Knowledge of weather conditions prior to the event release, and triggering fac-
tors, are important too (e.g. Johannesson and Jonsson 1996c; Bjornsson 2002;
Saemundsson et al. 2003). Avalanche hazard is greater during the passage of low-
pressure systems, that can bring strong north-westerly to north-easterly winds. These
periods are commonly accompanied by heavy precipitation, hence can provide
important snow accumulation over the summit plateaux and in the starting areas of
the leeward slopes. Wind, and consequently snowdrift are of primary importance in
snow avalanche release (Haraldsdóttir 2004; Haraldsdóttir et al. 2004). Rapid
snowmelt due to rising temperature and/or rainfall is favourable for slush-flow re-
lease in suitable areas (Decaulne and Saemundsson 2006a; Saemundsson 1997;
Saemundsson and Kiernan 1998). Study of debris-flow triggering factors (Decaulne
2001; Decaulne and Saemundsson 2003; Saemundsson et al. 2003; Decaulne et al.
2005) strongly underlines the role of rapid snowmelt and long-duration rainfall as
prerequisites for debris-flow release in this part of Iceland.

4.3 Estimation of acceptable risk, hazard and risk zoning

4.3.1 Acceptable risk

Definition of acceptable risk is a major issue when dealing with natural hazards in
inhabited areas. In Iceland, definition and implementation of acceptable risk levels
for processes acting on slopes were enacted by the Ministry of the Environment
(2000) in a national regulation, following detailed guidelines to carry out
risk analyses (Jonasson et al. 1999). Icelandic authorities have adopted the value
<0.3 · 10–4 a–1 (The Ministry of the Environment 1997, 2000) as an acceptable risk
of death for individuals due to avalanche activity.

Bell et al. (2005) also recommend that acceptable risk analysis considers ‘object
risk to life’ (in which all persons present in a house are considered) instead of just
focusing on individual, i.e. working at high data resolution. Moreover, these authors
strongly recommend a dynamic approach to risk analysis and risk acceptance, in-
stead of a static one, as both risk and risk acceptance are evolving spatially and
temporally.

4.3.2 Hazard and risk zoning

Both qualitative and quantitative approaches for the estimation of hazard and risk
zones were used in the Icelandic Westfjords:

– Following the Icelandic risk acceptance setting and modelled estimates, risk
zones are officially defined using risk lines. Individual risk is the base of official
risk zoning in Iceland (Arnalds et al. 2004). It is defined as the yearly probability
for a person present at a given location to be killed by an avalanche. Then, the
definition of risk zones is based on the local risk, which is the annual probability
of being killed, given that the person is present all the time in a building. Three

Nat Hazards (2007) 41:81–98 89

123



zones are therefore defined, according to the risk calculation, from the most
dangerous one where new constructions is prohibited, to the less exposed one
where gathered buildings have to be reinforced (Jonasson et al. 1999).

– A raster-based approach is used by Bell and Glade (2004a, b) to make a multi-
hazard analysis, in which the risk posed by each process acting on slopes is
calculated as a function of the input parameters (hazard, damage potential,
occurrence probability, vulnerability, probability of the temporal impact, proba-
bility of the spatial impact, probability of the seasonal occurrence). Results for
each process are presented as individual risk to life (which considered the risk for
a single person present in a respective building) and object risk to life (in which
one person out of the total number of people staying in a building may die), and as
economic risk. Depending on the number of people present in a house ‘‘object at
risk to life’’ might be significantly higher than individual risk to life (personal
communication Bell, June 2005). Single process risk maps are then combined into
multi-hazard risk maps. Final risk maps do not refer to lines separating specific
risk zones, but to a 20 m · 20 m resolution grid in which two adjacent buildings
may not reach the same risk level according to the number of people present, the
cost of the building, etc. A multi-risk concept (MultiRISK) is therefore developed
(Glade and Elverfeldt 2005). This method is more accurate, highlighting risk
discrepancies between contiguous buildings, and suppressing the risk zone
delineation.

– A combination of geomorphological, historical and lichenometrical approaches
provide heterogeneous data about the longest documented runout distances of
snow avalanches and debris flows. On the basis of all documented avalanche and
debris-flow runout distances, the late 20th Century risk situation was highlighted,
showing that most of the upper houses are located on the trajectory of avalanches
and debris flows (Decaulne 2001); then another approach integrated combined
spatial-temporal expansion of (1) built areas and (2) known avalanches and
debris flows to finally underline that the 1990s risk situation was progressively
built up, without risk consciousness through the 20th century (Decaulne 2004,
2005). Hazard was also studied using magnitude and frequency relationships
(Decaulne and Saemundsson 2003). More recently, data obtained above settle-
ments were combined to geomorphological evidences obtained in remote areas,
as most of the runout evidences are no longer visible within the communities; the
runout distances ‘‘off-zone’’ were then transferred ‘‘on-zone’’, i.e. in Patreksf-
jordur and Bolungarvik, using a topographic model (a/b model); it underlines
that the furthest reach of snow avalanche transported boulders is longer than the
longest avalanche runout distances recognised within inhabited areas on the basis
of historical data (Decaulne and Saemundsson 2006c).

5 Hazard and risk reduction

5.1 Warning system

5.1.1 Hazard forecasting

In Iceland, the hazard forecast procedure is designed for snow avalanches rather
than for debris flows (Magnusson 2003). To predict potential avalanche formation,
the snowpack is surveyed during winter months. Snowpits are regularly dug to

90 Nat Hazards (2007) 41:81–98

123



enable the testing of snowpack stability, especially after each snowfall (McClung and
Schaerer 1993). Moreover, a network of snow stakes and automatic weather stations
have recently been installed within the starting zones, to monitor the depth of snow
accumulation and meteorological conditions (precipitation and temperature),
respectively. Accordingly, daily snowpack conditions are transmitted to the
Avalanche Forecaster at the IMO (Magnusson 2003) where data are compared with
weather forecasts.

Debris flows are not subject to any kind of forecasting survey. Whilst the starting
zones are known and mapped, it is frequently several hours after the initiation of a
debris flow that alert procedures begin. Recent studies considering the triggering of
debris flows, especially major events (Petursson and Saemundsson 1999; Saem-
undsson et al. 2003), highlight conditions such as increasing creek water turbidity
and frequent rolling stones released from the debris-flow source-areas (Decaulne
et al. 2005). Such indicators prior to the first debris-flow pulse could speed up the
evacuation process at specific locations, mobilise the excavation machines that will
remove the material, and minimise the potential damages in inhabited areas. Thus,
these studies might be of use in predicting major events in the future.

5.1.2 Alert procedure

The avalanche alert procedure specifies the actions and measures that have to be
undertaken during the alert period (Fig. 6). It contains three levels of alert under the
authority of the IMO (Magnusson 1996), in which the avalanche forecaster on duty
at the IMO is in permanent contact with weather forecasters and local snow
observers. Local and National Civil Defence Committees and local authorities
(Chief of the Police) are contacted when the alert stage is declared, according to
available information on weather conditions and snowpack stability. Successive
evaluations and re-evaluations are passed by filling a specific form, from code grey
to code yellow, upgrading or downgrading the alert status according to new
information.

Evacuation procedure is ordered by the IMO and initiated by the local Chief of the
Police (Fig. 6). The area at risk is divided into several areas of evacuation depending
upon the magnitude of the predicted event (Magnusson 2003). Each evacuation zone
is separated from the adjacent one by a dividing line that delimits the lateral
spreading of the avalanche path; moreover, the evacuation zone is subdivided into
three levels that reflects the possible runout of the avalanche. Each runout sub-zone is
identified with a letter that identifies a given number of buildings, which facilitates the
evacuation order transmission by the local avalanche committee.

5.2 Control of snow-avalanche and debris-flow impact within the settlement

5.2.1 Snow avalanches

In north-western Iceland, avalanche control includes flow deflection and decelera-
tion methods and regulation of the presence of people (Johannesson et al. 1996b).
The application of these controlling strategies depends upon local topography and
size of exposed populations. Following the international avalanche protection clas-
sification (McClung and Schaerer 1993), protective measures are divided into tem-
porary (active measures) and permanent (passive measures) types. Temporary

Nat Hazards (2007) 41:81–98 91

123



CODE GREY

CODE GREEN

CODE YELLOW

CODE RED

Daily weather forecasts and avalanche potential are transmitted to the avalanche forecaster (AF) on duty;  AF fills in Form 1
Daily snowpack conditions and are transmitted by the snow observer (SO) to the AF; Form 2

ALERT STAGE is decided by the AF upon weather forecast, avalanche potential and snow stability data

ALERT STAGE

EVALUATION OF OPERATIONS

Unexpected situation or
"hazard indicators flag revised"

No

Meeting
Formal meeting between AF, meteorologists and local snow observers

No alert stage

New information (forecasts, observers )

EVALUATION OF OPERATIONS

Code Green is lifted
Duration time as expired,

Committee members agreed with lifting
Comittee is disbanded (Form 6)

Alert stage maintained

First step:
- Form 3 (alert stage declaration) is transmitted to the local Chied of the Police, local and national Civil Defense committees

- AF confers with local Civil Defence committee

Second step:
- Form 4

- extra senior meteorologist is called in
- Special services are initiated with local SO

- Additionnal avalanche staff is called in
- Media contacts are appointed

- Additionnal data are collected from meteorological stations
- Contacts are established with police and road authorities

- The duration of Code Green is estimated
New information (forecasts, observers )

Wait & reevaluate
Form 5 to the Police

New information (forecasts, observers )

Wait & re-evaluate, Form 8

Crisis is declared

- Declaration of crisis with local Civil Defence committee & Chief of the Police
- Decision on the state of the crisis and on crisis zones

- The duration of "Code yellow" is evaluated
Form 7 is transmitted to relevant authorities and to the SO

Evacuation is ordered
Evacuation is initiated by the Chief of the Police

RE-EVALUTION
Code yellow is downgraded to code green

Time of duration has expired,
Civil Defence and Operation Committee agree

(Form 9)

New information (forecasts, observers )

Wait & re-evaluate
Form 8

Code yellow is downgraded
(Form 9)

Additionnal evacuation
Form 7

The disaster happened
The Chief of the Police is in charge of all operations

RE-EVALUTION

Fig. 6 The Icelandic alert procedure (modified from Magnusson 1996)

92 Nat Hazards (2007) 41:81–98

123



measures are primarily applied for short-time periods, in areas where great damages
and loss of life are not expected. In the most exposed areas, permanently engineered
structures are preferred, despite their expense. These are combined with daily
hazard evaluations to assess whether a snow avalanche will exceed the design limit of
the structures, which if unchecked could otherwise cause fatalities.

Artificial release of snow avalanches, as a protective measure, is not used in the
study area, mostly because of the high probability of impacting settlements located
in the runout zone. Hence, avalanche protective methods are limited to engineering
works and land-use restrictions.

Temporary or permanent land-use restrictions include closure of roads or recre-
ation areas, evacuation of buildings (residential, industrial and administrative
buildings). Government compulsory purchase schemes for houses and removal of
residential areas. Road closures and evacuations (from 5 to 56 buildings at once)
have been implemented several times during avalanche alerts, and were almost the
only protective measures used prior to 1998.

Engineering works consist of permanent structures that operate at the bottom of
the track in the uppermost part of the runout zone. An earthfill deflector (Fig. 7a),
built above the village of Flateyri (Sigurdsson et al. 1998a; Johannesson 2001),
re-directs avalanches from the two main tracks that threaten the village. A smaller
deflector (Fig. 7b) has been built above the waste burning plant of Isafjordur, which
was damaged in 1995 by an avalanche. These deflectors are very efficient, as
observed during the winters that followed their completion. Similarly, a large
deflector with retarders was built above the Seljalandshlid area in Isafjordur, to
protect residential buildings from potentially destructive snow avalanches (Fig. 7c).

Fig. 7 Engineering works that mitigate the avalanche effects for local population. (a) the Flateyri
deflector; the left part of the village was destroyed by the 1995 avalanche. (b) The Funi deflector that
protects the garbage burning plant of Isafjordur. (c) The Seljalandshlid deflector that protects a part
of the residential areas in Isafjordur and (d) snow sheds on the Oshlid road that protect traffic from
frequent snow avalanches (photos: A. Decaulne)

Nat Hazards (2007) 41:81–98 93

123



A construction project for another protective deflecting dam is underway in the
Holtahverfi area (Isafjordur zone), given that this locality has been hit by three
events during the last five decades. Also, small earth dams were constructed on
debris cones above the settlements of Bildudalur and Patreksfjordur. Retarders are
earth mounds used as obstacles to dissipate the kinetic energy of avalanches and
reduce their runout distance above roads or villages. They are not widespread, as
burial by snowfall and repetitive snow avalanches limit their intervention efficiency.
Due to this characteristic, a deflector replaced retarders that were located above the
village of Flateyri. Nevertheless, when correctly designed, their efficiency can be
equal to deflectors one (Hakonardottir et al. 2003a b). Timber splitters can be placed
in front of power line pylons, to re-direct avalanche flows around these vulnerable
structures. However, this is rarely undertaken in north-western Iceland. On the
exposed Oshlid road, between Bolungarvik and Hnifsdalur, where up to 255 snow
avalanches occurred during the winter of 1982–1983 (personal communication from
Jonsson, 1999), 23 avalanche paths exist. Given the high usage of this route, dangers
to traffic have been reduced with the construction of four concrete snow sheds
(Fig. 7d). These cover the width of selected avalanche paths, allowing snow and
debris to overpass the road. Nevertheless, the galleries do not cover the whole length
of the road, therefore it remains closed (locked gates) for a period of time every
winter. An ongoing project in the vicinity of the road is the use of technology to
detect avalanche-induced ground vibrations (Bessasson et al. 2003). Supporting
structures, such as snow nets and snow bridges, are now being considered for the
starting area of snow avalanches in Hnifsdalur and Holtahverfi. This follows the
application of such techniques in snow avalanche threatened localities in the eastern
part of Iceland.

5.2.2 Debris flows

Debris-flow prevention and mitigation measures are concentrated in the area of
Isafjordur and encompassing roads. Furthermore, dams/small stonewalls have also
been built in Sudureyri, Bildudalur and Patreksfjordur, where effects are less se-
vere. Temporary control of people presence includes road closures, which between
Hnifsdalur and Isafjordur are frequent. Here debris-flow deposits have covered the
road on at least twenty occasions between 1900 and 1999 (Petursson and Saem-
undsson 1999). On the road between Bolungarvik and Hnifsdalur, steel nets sup-
ported by steel pillars (Fig. 8a) contain the deposits, and limit overflowing onto the
road. In Isafjordur, a ditch was dug above a part of the settlement to drain the
water runoff from the hillside. It appeared that this ditch could contain the first
pulses of a debris-flow event, but the following pulses quickly filled the ditch with
material. Elevated pressures exerted on the downhill side of the ditch increased the
probability of ditch failure (Decaulne and Saemundsson 2003); therefore, posing a
significant danger to the inhabitants who live in the path of these debris flows.
After the 1999 event, which led to the evacuation of almost 50 houses (c. 120
inhabitants), a protective structure was erected along a section of the slope. In
addition, the ditch was widened and deepened (Fig. 8b) and a dam (built with local
sand, gravel and stones) reinforced the downhill wall of the ditch. Two drainage
holes were installed at different levels to reduce the risk of flooding to the downhill
residences.

94 Nat Hazards (2007) 41:81–98

123



6 Conclusion

Hazards due to snow avalanches and debris flows are an increasing factor for land
use planning and recreational activities in Iceland, impacting residential areas,
outside activities, energy and transmission infrastructures, and transportation
corridors. The 1995 avalanche disasters raised Icelandic public awareness of the risk
and precipitated a desire to improve knowledge to reduce hazard impacts. This is
particularly true for snow avalanches in Iceland.

The knowledge required to deliver prevention and mitigation of snow-avalanche
and debris-flow hazard in the Westfjords has significantly improved during the last
10 years, owing to analyses that combine the geomorphological approach, historical
sources and hazard modelling (Glade 2005). Further and closer collaborations be-
tween experts from various fields (e.g. geologists, geomorphologists and geogra-
phers, meteorologists and climatologists, engineers, historians, sociologists,
philosophers, and politicians...) will enable a multi-disciplinary approach to the risk
issue in Iceland. These exchanges need to keep in mind the key issues, namely (1)
risk and risk acceptance, (2) hazard and risk zoning subjected to spatio-temporal
changes, and (3) to enhance knowledge of potentially destructive event occurrence.

Acknowledgements Financial support was received from the Laboratory of Physical Geography
GEOLAB UMR6042 CNRS, and from the Arctic Network: Societies and Environment. Dr.
Thorsteinn Saemundsson (Natural Research Centre of North-western Iceland) and Oddur Petursson
(Icelandic Meteorological Office) are especially thanked for their constant support and advises in the
field. S.H. Cannon is thanked for correcting the English text of a previous version of the manuscript,
and R.M. Johnson is deeply acknowledged for editing the language of the present text. The author is
grateful to the anonymous reviewers for their critical comments and constructive suggestions.

References

Arnalds Th, Jonasson K, Sigurdsson S (2004) Avalanche hazard zoning in Iceland based on indi-
vidual risk. Ann Glaciol 38(1), pp 285–290. http://www.vedur.is/snjoflod/haettumat/index.html

Bakkehoi S, Domaas U, Lied K (1983) Calculation of snow avalanche runout distance. Ann Glaciol
4:24–29

Fig. 8 Mitigation of the debris-flow hazard by 3 m high steel nets (a) that guarantee a better security
for traffic, and combination of ditch and dam protective structure (b) (Photos: A. Decaulne)

Nat Hazards (2007) 41:81–98 95

123



Bell R, Glade T (2004a) Quantitative risk analysis for landslides—Examples from Bildudalur,
NW-Iceland. Nat Hazards Earth Sci Syst 4:117–131

Bell R, Glade T (2004b) Multi-hazard analysis in natural risk assessment. In: Brebbia CA (ed) Risk
analysis 4. WIT Press, Southampton, pp 197–206

Bell R, Glade T, Danscheid M (2005) Risks in defining acceptable risk levels. In: Eberhardt E et al
(eds) Landslide risk management, supplementary volume (CD). Proceedings, International
Conference on Landslide Risk Management, Vancouver, Canada, May 31 to June 3, 2005,
pp 38–44

Bernharsdottir AE (2001) Learning from past experiences: the 1995 avalanches in Iceland.
CRISMART 16, Stockholm, 69 p

Bessasson B, Eiriksson G, Thorarinsson O (2003) Avalanche detection and alert system for roads.
Nordic Road and Transport Research 3:4–5

Bjornsson H (1980) Avalanche activity in Iceland, climatic conditions, and terrain features. J Glaciol
26(94):13–23

Bjornsson H (2002) Vedur a addraganda snjoflodahrina a nordanverdum Vestfjordum [Weather
preceding avalanche cycles in the North-western Peninsula of Iceland], Icelandic Meteorological
Office, G02019, 75 p. http://www.vedur.is/snjoflod/haettumat/index.html

Blikra LH, Saemundsson Th (1998) The potential of sedimentology and stratigraphy in avalanche-
hazard research. In: Hestnes E (ed) 25 years of snow avalanche research. NGI Publication 203,
pp 60–64

Brunsden D (1979) Mass movements. In: Embleton C, Thornes J (eds) Process in geomorphology.
London, pp 130–186

Colombo AG (2000) Lessons learnt from avalanche disasters. NEDIES, Report EUR 19666 EN,
14 p. http://nedies.jrc.it/index.asp?ID=78

Decaulne A (2001) Dynamique des versants et risques naturels dans les fjords d’Islande du nord-
ouest: l’impact géomorphologique et humain des avalanches et des debris flows. PhD, Depart-
ment of Geography, University Blaise Pascal, Clermont-Ferrand France, 391 p

Decaulne A (2004) Combining geomorphological, historical and lichenometrical data for the
assessment of risk due to slope processes, a case study from the Icelandic Westfjords. In: Brebbia
CA (ed) Risk analysis 4. WIT Press, Southampton, pp 177–186

Decaulne A (2005) Slope processes and related risk appearance within the Icelandic Westfjords
during the twentieth century. Nat Hazards Earth Sci Syst 5:309–318

Decaulne A, Saemundsson Th (2003) Debris-flow characteristics in the Gleidarhjalli area, North-
western Iceland. In: Rickenman D, Chen CI (eds) Debris-flow hazards mitigation: mechanics,
prediction, and assessment. Mill Press, Rotterdam vol 2, pp 1107–1118

Decaulne A, Saemundsson Th, Petursson O (2005) Debris flow triggered by rapid snowmelt, a case
study in the Gleidarhjalli area, northwestern Iceland. Geografiska Annaler 87A:487–500

Decaulne A, Saemundsson Th (2006a) Meteorological conditions during slush-flow release and their
geomorphological impact in northwestern Iceland: A case study from the Bildudalur valley.
Geografiska Annaler 88A:1–11

Decaulne A, Saemundsson Th (2006b) Geomorphic evidence for present-day snow-avalanche and
debris-flow impact in the Icelandic Westfjords. Geomorphology (in press), doi: 10.1016/
j.geomorph.2005.09.007

Decaulne A, Saemundsson Th (2006c) ‘‘On-zone’’ and ‘‘off’’-zone’’ geomorphic features for mul-
tirisk assessment related to slope dynamics in the Icelandic fjords. In: Popov V and Brebbia CA
(eds.) Risk Analysis V: Simulation and Hazard Mitigation. Wessex Institute of Technology, UK

Fischhoff B, Lichtenstein S, Slovic P, Derby SL, Keeney RL (1981) Acceptable risk. Cambridge,
Cambridge University Press

Glade T (2005) Linking debris-flow hazard assessments with geomorphology. Geomorphology
66:189–213

Glade T, Elverfeldt K (2005) MultiRISK: an innovative concept to model natural risks. In:
Eberhardt E et al (eds) Landslide risk management, supplementary volume (CD). Proceedings,
International Conference on Landslide Risk Management, Vancouver, Canada, May 31 to
June 3, 2005, pp 551–555

Gudmundsson AT (1997) A lively neighbour—occasionally bad tempered. Atlantica 2:16–22
Hakonardottir M, Hogg AJ, Johannesson T, Kern M, Tiefenbacher F (2003a) Large scale avalanche

braking mounds and catching dam experiments with snow: a study of the airbone jet. Surv
Geophys 24(5–6):543–554

Hakonardottir M, Hogg AJ, Johannesson T, Tomasson GG (2003b) A laboratory study of the
retarding effects of braking mounds on snow avalanches. J Glaciol (49–165):191–200

96 Nat Hazards (2007) 41:81–98

123



Haraldsdóttir SH (1998a) The effect of avalanche accidents on recorded avalanche history and the
avalanche work in Iceland. International Snow Science Workshop proceedings, pp 264–267

Haraldsdóttir SH (1998b) The avalanche at Flateyri, Iceland October 26th 1995 and the avalanche
history. In: Hestnes (ed) 25 years of snow avalanche research. NGI Publication 203, pp 122–127

Haraldsdóttir SH (2004) Snow, snowdrift and avalanche hazard in a windy climate. Department of
Physics, University of Iceland, 47 p

Haraldsdóttir SH, Olafsson H, Durand Y, Giraud G, Meindol L (2004) A system for prediction of
avalanche hazard in the windy climate of Iceland. Ann Glaciol 38–1:319–324

Hewitt K (2004) Geomorphic hazards in mountain environments. In: Owens, Slaymaker (eds)
Mountain geomorphology. Arnold, London, pp 187–218

Innes JL (1983) Debris flows. Progr Phys Geogr 7:469–501
Johannesson B (2000) Rural development and social changes in the vestnorden societies. In:

Allanson JG, Edvardsson IR (eds) Community viability, rapid change and socio-ecological
futures. University of Akureyri and Stefansson Arctic Institute, Akureyri, pp 12–21

Johannesson T (1998) Icelandic avalanche runout models compared with topographical models used
in other countries. In: Hestnes E (ed) 25 years of snow avalanche research. NGI Publication 203,
pp 43–52

Johannesson T (2001) Run up of two avalanches on the deflecting dams at Flateyri, northwestern
Iceland. Ann Glaciol 32:350–354

Johannesson T, Jonasson K, Fridgeirsdottir, K (1996a) A topographical model for Icelandic
Avalanches. Icelandic Meteorological Office (Internal report VÍ-G96003-ÚR03)

Johannesson T, Lied K, Margreth S, Sandersen F (1996b) An overview of the need for avalanche
protection measures in Iceland. Vedurstofa Islands, VI-R96003-UR02, Reykjavik, 91 p

Johannesson T, Jonsson T (1996c) Weather in Vestfirdir before and during several avalanche cycles
in the period 1949 to 1995. Icelandic Meteorological Office, VI-G98O13. http://www.vedur.is/
snjoflod/haettumat/index.html

Johannesson T, Arnalds Th (2001) Accidents and economic damage due to snow avalanches and
landslides in Iceland. Jokull, 50, pp 81–94. http://www.vedur.is/snjoflod/haettumat/jokull-
2001.pdf

Johannesson T, Arnalds Th, Tracy L (2001) Results of the 2D avalanche model SAMOS for
Bolungarvik and Neskaupstadur. Icelandic Meteorological Office, VI-UR-06, 12 p. http://
www.vedur.is/snjoflod/haettumat/index.html

Johannesson T, Arnalds Th, Tracy L (2002a) Results of the 2D avalanche model SAMOS for
Isafjordur and Hnifsdalur. Icelandic Meteorological Office, VI-UR-13, 11 p. http://www.vedur.is/
snjoflod/haettumat/index.html

Jonasson K, Sigurdsson STh, Arnalds Th (1999) Estimation of avalanche risk, VI-R99001-UR01,
Icelandic Meteorological Office, 44 p. http://www.vedur.is/snjoflod/haettumat/index.html

Johnson AM, Rodine JR (1984) Debris flows. In: Brunsden B, Prior F (eds) Slope Instability. John
Wiley and Sons, Chichester, pp 257–361

Keylock C (1996) Avalanche risk in Iceland. MSc. Thesis, Department of Geography, Faculty of
graduated studies, University of British Columbia, 150 p

Keylock C (1997) Snow avalanches. Progr Phys Geogr 21:481–500
Keylock C, McClung D, Magnusson MM (1999) Avalanche risk mapping by simulation. J Glaciol

45–150:303–314
Magnusson MM (1996) Preparedness of the Icelandic meteorological office in response to potential

avalanche danger, International Snow Science Workshop proceedings, pp 53–59. http://
www.avalanche.org/~issw/96/contents.html

Magnusson MM (2003) Recommendations for the prediction of avalanches. In: Hervas (ed)
Recommendations to deal with snow avalanches in Europe. NEDIES, Report EUR 20839 EN,
pp 3–14 http://nedies.jrc.it/index.asp?ID=78

McClung D, Mears AJ, Schaerer P (1989) Extreme avalanche runout data from four mountain
ranges. Ann Glaciol 13:180–184

McClung D, Schaerer P (1993) The avalanche handbook. The Mountaineers, Seattle, 272 p
Perla R, Cheng TT, McClung D (1980) A two parameter model for snow-avalanche motion.

J Glaciol 26–94:197–207
Petursson HG, Saemundsson Th (1999) Skridufoll a Isafirdi og i Hnifsdal [Slopes processes in

Isafjordur and Hnifsdalur]. Icelandic Museum of Natural History, NI-99010
Rohrmann B (1998) The risk notion: epistemological and empirical considerations. In: Stewart,

Melchers (eds) Integrated risk assessment. Balkema, Rotterdam, pp 39–46

Nat Hazards (2007) 41:81–98 97

123



Saemundsson Th (1997) Krapaflodin a Bildudal 28. januar 1997, Vedurstofa Islands, VI-G97028-
UR23, Reykjavik, 8 p

Saemundsson Th (2002) Konnun a jardfraedilegum ummerkjum snjofloda i Bolungarvik [Snow-
avalanches evidences at the foot of Bolungarvik’s slope]. Natturustofa Nordurlands vestra.
Greinargerd NNV-2002–002, 18 p

Saemundsson Th, Kiernan S (1998) Krapaflod ur Gilsbakkagili a Bildudal, thann 14. Mars 1998,
Vedurstofa Islands, VI-G98021-UR17, Reykjavik, 9 p

Saemundsson Th, Petursson HG, Decaulne A (2003) Triggering factors for rapid mass movements in
Iceland. In: Rickenman D, Chen CI (eds) Debris-flow hazards and mitigation: mechanics,
prediction, and assessment. Mill Press, Rotterdam, pp 167–178

Sigurdsson HTh (2004) Results of the 2D avalanche model SAMOS for Flateyri, Sudavik and Innri-
Kirkjubolshlid, Icelandic Meteorological Office, VI-VS-10, 13 p. http://www.vedur.is/snjoflod/
haettumat/index.html

Sigurdsson F, Tomasson GG, Sandersen F (1998a) Avalanche defences for Flateyri, Iceland. From
hazard evaluation to construction of defences. In: Hestnes E (ed) 25 years of snow avalanche
research. NGI Publication 203, pp 254–258

Sigurdsson HTh, Jonasson K, Arnalds Th (1998b) Transferring avalanches between paths. In:
Hestnes E (ed) 25 years of snow avalanche research. NGI Publication 203, pp 259–263

Skaptadottir UD (2000) Coping strategies in an Icelandic coastal village. In: Allanson JG,
Edvardsson IR (eds) Community viability, rapid change and socio-ecological futures. University
of Akureyri and Stefansson Arctic Institute, Akureyri, pp 39–56

The Ministry of the Environment (1997) Lög um varnir gegn snjófló ðum og skri ðuföllum (49/
1997) [Act on Protective Measures Against Avalanches and Landslides (49/1997)]. http://
www.vedur.is/snjoflod/haettumat/

The Ministry of the Environment (2000) Reglugerd um haettumat vegna ofanfloda, flokkun og
nytingu haetusvaeda og gerd bradabirgdahaettumats (505/2000) [Regulation on hazard zoning
due to snow- and landslides, classification and utilisation of hazard zones, and preparation of
provisional hazard zoning. (505/2000)]. http://www.vedur.is/snjoflod/haettumat/

Tracy L, Johannesson, T (2003) Results of the 2D avalanche model SAMOS for Bildudalur and
Patreksfjordur. Icelandic Meteorological Office, VI-UR-12, 12 p http://www.vedur.is/snjoflod/
haettumat/index.html

Willhardt J (2004) Jenseits von Reykjavik, Wachsende raümliche Disparitäten in Island. Geografische
Rundschau 56(6):18–23

98 Nat Hazards (2007) 41:81–98

123

View publication stats

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/225328236


Alternative Observations for Cornwall/Whitaker 
Avalanche overlay adjustment request.

1. What is the significance of the wet avalanche that moved the 2 
houses? What is the physical evidence that wet slides occur in this 
track?

2. What are the inconsistencies between the 1974 INSTAAR map and 
the adopted 1994 Town of Ophir avalanche Hazard map.







Subject Property















For reference: Roofs in Ophir are engineered 
for about 120# PSF, live snow load (this 
equals about 7-8’ of snow). Walls are 
designed to withstand winds up to about 135 
mph and are engineered to about 50# PSF. 



Did the Avalanche that moved houses 1&2 occur? Is it possible that it can occur 
again?

1. The topography is adequate to channel wet snow avalanches towards NW 
corner of the Town of Ophir, including lots 1-10 of block 2. These wet snow 
avalanches can originate from Spring Gulch, Staatsburg paths and Group B 
paths. 
 

2.  Vegetation damage and tree debris in the avalanche track and runout are 
evidence that avalanches have occured in the path/track repeatedly.

3. There is historical information that an avalanche occurred, travelled this track 
and moved house 1&2 within the recent past. 

4. Wilbur report concludes that the property is exposed to avalanche hazard and 
that significant impact pressures should be anticipated. 



 A look at the inconsistencies between the 1974 INSTAAR map and 
the 1994 adopted Town of Ophir Avalanche Hazard map.













ZONE 1 HAZARD ZONE AREA AS PER 1976 INSTAAR 
STUDY MAP FROM GROUP B AVALANCHE PATHS

Group B avalanche paths classed as           
within Zone 1



Group B Avalanche paths

Staatsburg Avalanche path



Conclusions :

1. From the information gathered it is reasonable to conclude that significant 
avalanche hazard potential threatens lots 1-10 of block 2, Ophir, Co.

2. The classification of the area/path/track of the avalanche that moved 2 
houses in NW corner of Ophir in recent history, as “High Hazard”, was done 
when the 1994 Hazard map was adopted based on information obtained 
from the 1974 INSTAAR map.

3. The areas in the NW corner and SW corners of Ophir were incorrectly 
classified as “Moderate Hazard” on the 1994 map and should be adjusted 
to reflect the “High Hazard Zoning” as shown on the 1974 INSTAAR map. 





 

TOWN OF OPHIR, COLORADO 

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-01  

AMENDING TOWN OF OPHIR LAND USE CODE 
APPENDIX C - TOWN OF OPHIR HAZARDS MAP 

TO REMOVE LOTS 1-10, BLOCK 2 FROM THE HAZARD AREA 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Colorado Revised Statutes § 31-15-401 and 31-23-301, et seq. as a 
Colorado municipality, the General Assembly of the Town of Ophir hereby ordains to enact 
regulations necessary to provide public health, safety and welfare of the community specifically 
to regulate the use of land: and 
WHEREAS, the General Assembly recognizes the importance in eliminating the inaccurate 
inclusion of Lots 1-10, Block 2 in the High Hazard Area: and 

WHEREAS, information provided by property owner adequately verifies the inaccurate 
inclusion of Lots 1-10, Block 2 in the High Hazard Area: and 

WHEREAS, the General Assembly acknowledges Lots1-10, Block 2 is zoned residential - 
Appendix C Town of Ophir Zoning Map: and 

WHEREAS, the General Assembly acknowledges information provided by property owner has 
satisfied the requirements of: 

§1415. REVIEW STANDARDS FOR CODE AND MAP AMENDMENTS. 

The Planning and Zoning Commission may recommend approval, and the General 
Assembly may approve or conditionally approve an amendment to the Land Use Code, 
the Official Zone District Map, the Official Hazards Map, or other such maps as the 
Town has adopted under this Article, when it finds that any three of the following criteria 
have been met:  

C. There is demonstrated to be a material and substantial error in the existing zoning map 
or LUC text, the correction of which justifies the proposed amendment. There was and is 
insufficient evidence that two residential structures below the Applicant's property were 
moved by a wet slab avalanche (of unknown date) as depicted in Figure 10 of the 
INSTAAR report. 

D. The proposed amendment is in conformance with or would implement the Ophir 
Master Plan, as amended. 



E. The area proposed to be rezoned or reclassified with regard to a hazard overlay is 
peculiarly suitable for the uses permitted in the proposed new zone district or districts 

WHEREAS, the General Assembly recognizes the property owner has fulfilled all requirements 
of Town Of Ophir Land Use Code - Article XIV Land Use Code Amendments And Zoning 
Changes: and 

WHEREAS, the General Assembly proclaims Ordinance 2023-01 is exclusive to Lots 1-10, 
Block 2.   

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE 
TOWN OF OPHIR: 

Section 1. Remove Lots 1-10, Block 2 from the High Hazard Area - Land Use Code Appendix C 
- Town of Ophir Hazards Map.  

Section 2. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Ordinance shall take effect upon publication of notice of 
final adoption.  

Section 3. SEVERABILITY. If any one or more sections or parts of this Ordinance is adjudged 
unenforceable or invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, such judgment shall not affect, 
impair, or invalidate the remaining provisions of this Ordinance, the intention being that the 
various provisions herein are severable.  

Section 4. REPEALER. All ordinances, resolutions or parts of ordinances or resolutions 
inconsistent herewith are hereby repealed to the extent only of such inconsistency. This repealer 
shall not be construed to revive any ordinance or resolution or part of any ordinance or resolution 
heretofore repealed. 

Section 5. INDEMNIFICATION. This Ordinance is conditioned upon the Applicant's and 
property owners' written agreement to the following indemnification requirement. The property 
owner, on behalf of itself and its successors-in-interest, agree to indemnify and hold harmless 
and release the Town of Ophir, Town of Ophir boards and commissions, its officials, 
employees, attorneys, insurers and authorized agents, from and against any and all damages, 
costs, expenses, losses, claims, or liability asserted by any person for damage or destruction 
to property, injury or death arising out of or resulting directly or indirectly from (a) the 
construction, development, use or occupancy of all single family dwelling and/or accessory 
buildings. 
Introduced, Read and Approved on First Reading by the General Assembly on the    
day of   , 2023.  

Approved and Adopted on Second and Final Reading by the General Assembly of the 
Town of Ophir on the    day of   , 2023.  

 

By: _____________________________________________ 
Mason Osgood, Mayor  

 

Attest: __________________________________________ 
Town Clerk 

 

 ________________________________________________ 



Colorado Local Government Opioid Participation Forms: 
Please review, complete & sign the five Participation Forms and 
either:

1) Upload with this Google Form
https://forms.gle/2qVN2xxkVXsg3mvi7

2) Or send to Opioids@coag.gov

Participation Forms are due by no later than April 7th, 2023

Attachment A: Teva Settlement Participation Form 

Attachment B: Allergan Settlement Participation Form 
Attachment C: Walmart Settlement Participation Form 
Attachment D: CVS Settlement Participation Form 

Attachment E: Walgreens Settlement Participation Form

Please reach out to Opioids@coag.gov if you have any questions 
or need assistance.

https://forms.gle/2qVN2xxkVXsg3mvi7
mailto:Opioids@coag.gov
mailto:Opioids@coag.gov


Exhibit         K      
Subdivision     and     Special     District     Settlement         Participation         Form      

Governmental Entity: State:
Authorized Signatory: /officialname_teva_allergan/
Address 1: /address1_teva_allergan/
Address 2: /address2_teva_allergan/
City, State, Zip: /cit_ta/  /state_ta/  /zi_ta/
Phone: /phone_teva_allergan/
Email: /email_teva_allergan/

The  governmental  entity identified above  (“Governmental  Entity”), in  order  to obtain  and  in
consideration for the benefits provided to the Governmental Entity pursuant  to the Agreement
dated November 22, 2022 (“Teva Settlement”), and acting through the undersigned authorized
official, hereby elects to participate in the Teva Settlement, release all Released Claims against all
Released Entities, and agrees as follows.

1. The Governmental Entity is aware of and has reviewed the Teva Settlement, understands that
all terms in this Election and Release have the meanings defined therein, and agrees that by
this Election, the Governmental Entity elects to participate in the Teva Settlement as provided
therein.

2. Following the execution of this Settlement Participation Form, the Governmental Entity shall
comply with Section III.B of the Teva Settlement regarding Cessation of Litigation Activities.

3. The Governmental Entity shall, within 14 days of the Reference Date and prior to the filing of
the Consent Judgment, file a request to dismiss with prejudice any Released Claims that it has
filed.  With respect  to any Released Claims pending in In re National  Prescription Opiate
Litigation,  MDL No.  2804,  the  Governmental  Entity  authorizes  the  Plaintiffs’ Executive
Committee to execute and file on behalf of the Governmental Entity a Stipulation of Dismissal
With Prejudice substantially in the form found at https://nationalopioidsettlement.com.

4. The  Governmental  Entity  agrees  to  the  terms  of  the  Teva  Settlement  pertaining  to
Subdivisions as defined therein.

5. By agreeing to the terms of the Teva Settlement and becoming a Releasor, the Governmental
Entity is entitled to the benefits provided therein, including, if applicable, monetary payments
beginning after the Effective Date.

6. The Governmental Entity agrees to use any monies it receives through the Teva Settlement
solely for the purposes provided therein.

7. The Governmental Entity submits to the jurisdiction of the court in the Governmental Entity’s
state where the Consent Judgment is filed for purposes limited to that court’s role as provided
in, and for resolving disputes to the extent provided in, the Teva Settlement.

1

Attachment A: Teva Settlement Participation Form

https://nationalopioidsettlement.com


8. The Governmental Entity has the right to enforce the Teva Settlement as provided therein.

9. The Governmental Entity, as a Participating Subdivision or Participating Special  District,
hereby becomes a Releasor for all purposes in the Teva Settlement, including but not limited
to all provisions of Section V (Release), and along with all departments, agencies, divisions,
boards, commissions, districts, instrumentalities of any kind and attorneys, and any person in
their official capacity elected or appointed to serve any of the foregoing and any agency,
person,  or  other entity claiming by or through any of the foregoing, and any other entity
identified in  the  definition of  Releasor, provides  for  a  release  to  the  fullest  extent  of  its
authority.  As a Releasor, the Governmental  Entity hereby absolutely,  unconditionally,  and
irrevocably covenants not to bring, file, or claim, or to cause, assist or permit to be brought,
filed, or claimed, or to otherwise seek to establish liability for any Released Claims against
any  Released  Entity  in  any  forum  whatsoever.  The  releases  provided  for  in  the  Teva
Settlement are intended by Released Entitles and the Governmental Entity to be broad and
shall be interpreted so as to give the Released Entities the broadest possible bar against any
liability relating in any way to Released Claims and extend to the full extent of the power of
the Governmental Entity to release claims. The Teva Settlement shall be a complete bar to
any Released Claim.

10. The  Governmental  Entity  hereby  takes  on  all  rights  and  obligations  of  a  Participating
Subdivision or Participating Special District as set forth in the Teva Settlement.

11. In connection with the releases provided for in the Teva Settlement, each Governmental Entity
expressly waives, releases, and forever discharges any and all provisions, rights, and benefits
conferred by any law of any state or territory of the United States or other jurisdiction, or
principle  of  common law,  which  is  similar, comparable,  or  equivalent  to  § 1542  of the
California Civil Code, which reads:

General Release; extent. A general release does not extend to claims
that the creditor or releasing party does not know or suspect to exist in
his or her favor at the time of executing the release that, if known by
him or her, would have materially affected his or her settlement with
the debtor or released party.

A Releasor may hereafter discover facts other than or different from those which it knows,
believes, or assumes to be true with respect to the Released Claims, but each Governmental
Entity hereby expressly waives and fully, finally, and forever settles, releases and discharges,
upon the Effective Date, any and all Released Claims that may exist as of such date but which
Releasors do not know or suspect  to exist, whether through  ignorance,  oversight,  error,
negligence or through no fault whatsoever, and which, if known, would materially affect the
Governmental Entities’ decision to participate in the Teva Settlement.

12. Nothing herein is intended to modify in any way the terms of the Teva Settlement, to which
Governmental  Entity  hereby  agrees.  To  the  extent  this  Election  and  Release  is  interpreted
differently from the Teva Settlement in any respect, the Teva Settlement controls.

2



I have all necessary power and authorization to execute this Election and Release on behalf of the 
Governmental Entity.

Signature: /signer_1_teva_allergan/    

Name: /name_1_teva_allergan/     

Title: /title_1_teva_allergan/     

Date: /date_1_teva_allergan/     

3



EXHIBIT         K      
Subdivision     and     Special     District     Settlement         Participation         Form      

Governmental Entity: State:
Authorized Signatory: /officialname_teva_allergan/
Address 1: /address1_teva_allergan/
Address 2: /address2_teva_allergan/
City, State, Zip: /cit_ta/  /state_ta/  /zi_ta/
Phone: /phone_teva_allergan/
Email: /email_teva_allergan/

The  governmental  entity  identified  above  (“Governmental  Entity”),  in  order  to  obtain  and  in
consideration for the benefits provided to the Governmental Entity pursuant to the Agreement dated
November 22, 2022 (“Allergan Settlement”), and acting through the undersigned authorized official,
hereby elects to participate in the Allergan Settlement, release all Released Claims against all Released
Entities, and agrees as follows.

1. The Governmental Entity is aware of and has reviewed the Allergan Settlement, understands
that all terms in this Election and Release have the meanings defined therein, and agrees that
by this Election, the Governmental Entity elects to participate in the Allergan Settlement as
provided therein.

2. Following the execution of this Settlement Participation Form, the Governmental Entity shall
comply  with  Section  III.B  of  the  Allergan  Settlement  regarding  Cessation  of  Litigation
Activities.

3. The Governmental Entity shall, within fourteen (14) days of the Reference Date and prior to
the filing of the Consent Judgment, file a request  to dismiss  with prejudice any Released
Claims  that  it  has  filed.  With  respect  to  any Released  Claims  pending in  In  re  National
Prescription Opiate Litigation, MDL No. 2804, the Governmental Entity authorizes the MDL
Plaintiffs’ Executive Committee to execute and file on behalf of the Governmental Entity a
Stipulation of  Dismissal  With Prejudice substantially  in the form found at
https://nationalopioidsettlement.com.

4. The  Governmental  Entity  agrees  to  the  terms  of  the  Allergan  Settlement  pertaining  to
Subdivisions and Special Districts as defined therein.

5. By  agreeing  to  the  terms  of  the  Allergan  Settlement  and  becoming  a  Releasor,  the
Governmental  Entity is  entitled  to  the  benefits  provided  therein,  including,  if  applicable,
monetary payments beginning after the Effective Date.

6. The Governmental Entity agrees to use any monies it receives through the Allergan Settlement
solely for the purposes provided therein.

1

Attachment B: Allergan Settlement Participation Form



7. The Governmental Entity submits to the jurisdiction of the court in the Governmental Entity’s
state where the Consent Judgment is filed for purposes limited to that court’s role as provided
in, and for resolving disputes to the extent provided in, the Allergan Settlement.

8. The Governmental Entity has the right to enforce the Allergan Settlement as provided therein.

9. The  Governmental  Entity, as a  Participating  Subdivision  or  Participating  Special  District,
hereby becomes a Releasor for all  purposes in  the Allergan Settlement, including,  but  not
limited to, all provisions of Section V (Release),  and along with all departments, agencies,
divisions,  boards, commissions, Subdivisions,  districts,  instrumentalities  of any  kind  and
attorneys, and any person in their official capacity whether elected or appointed to serve any of
the foregoing and any agency, person, or other entity claiming by or through any of  the
foregoing, and any other entity identified in the definition of Releasor, provides for a release to
the fullest extent of its authority. As a Releasor, the Governmental Entity hereby absolutely,
unconditionally, and irrevocably covenants not to bring, file, or claim, or to cause, assist in
bringing, or permit to be brought, filed, or claimed, or to otherwise seek to establish liability
for any Released Claims against any Released Entity in any forum whatsoever.  The releases
provided for in the Allergan Settlement are intended to be broad and shall be interpreted so as
to give the Released Entities the broadest possible bar against any liability relating in any way
to Released Claims and extend to the full extent of the power of the Governmental Entity to
release claims. The Allergan Settlement shall be a complete bar to any Released Claim.

10. The  Governmental  Entity  hereby  takes  on  all  rights  and  obligations  of  a  Participating
Subdivision or Participating Special District as set forth in the Allergan Settlement.

11. In connection with the releases provided for in the Allergan Settlement, each Governmental
Entity expressly waives, releases, and forever discharges any and all provisions, rights, and
benefits conferred by any law of any state or territory of the United States or other jurisdiction,
or principle of common law, which is similar, comparable, or equivalent to § 1542 of the
California Civil Code, which reads:

General Release; extent. A general release does not extend to claims that the
creditor or releasing party does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor
at the time of executing the release that, if known by him or her, would have
materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor or released party.

A Releasor may hereafter discover facts other than or different from those which it knows,
believes, or assumes to be true with respect to the Released Claims, but each Governmental
Entity hereby expressly waives and fully, finally, and forever settles, releases and discharges,
upon the Effective Date, any and all Released Claims that may exist as of such date but which
Releasors  do  not  know  or  suspect  to  exist,  whether  through  ignorance,  oversight, error,
negligence or through no fault whatsoever, and which, if known, would materially affect the
Governmental Entities’ decision to participate in the Allergan Settlement.

12. Nothing herein is intended to modify in any way the terms of the Allergan Settlement, to
which the Governmental Entity hereby agrees. To the extent this  Settlement Participation
Form is  interpreted  differently from the  Allergan  Settlement  in  any  respect,  the  Allergan
Settlement controls.

2



I have all necessary power and authorization to execute this Settlement Participation Form on behalf 
of the Governmental Entity.

Signature: /signer_1_teva_allergan/    

Name: /name_1_teva_allergan/     

Title: /title_1_teva_allergan/     

Date: /date_1_teva_allergan/     

3



EXHIBIT     K      

Subdivision     Participation   Form      

Governmental Entity: State:
Authorized Official: /officialname_walmart/
Address 1: /address1_walmart/
Address 2: /address2_walmart/
City, State, Zip: /cit_wm/  /state_wm/  /zi_wm/
Phone: /phone_walmart/
Email: /email_walmart/

The governmental entity identified above (“Governmental Entity”), in order to obtain and in 
consideration for the benefits provided to the Governmental Entity pursuant to the Settlement 
Agreement dated November 14, 2022 (“Walmart Settlement”), and acting through the undersigned 
authorized official, hereby elects to participate in the Walmart Settlement, release all Released Claims
against all Released Entities, and agrees as follows.

1. The Governmental Entity is aware of and has reviewed the Walmart Settlement, understands
that all terms in this Election and Release have the meanings defined therein, and agrees that
by this Election, the Governmental Entity elects to participate in the Walmart Settlement and
become a Participating Subdivision as provided therein.

2. The Governmental Entity shall promptly, and in any event within 14 days of the Effective
Date and prior to the filing of the Consent Judgment, dismiss with prejudice any Released
Claims that it has filed. With respect to any Released Claims pending in In re National
Prescription Opiate Litigation, MDL No. 2804, the Governmental Entity authorizes the
Plaintiffs’ Executive Committee to execute and file on behalf of the Governmental Entity a
Stipulation of Dismissal With Prejudice substantially in the form found at
https://nationalopioidsettlement.com/.

3. The Governmental Entity agrees to the terms of the Walmart Settlement pertaining to
Subdivisions as defined therein.

4. By agreeing to the terms of the Walmart Settlement and becoming a Releasor, the
Governmental Entity is entitled to the benefits provided therein, including, if applicable,
monetary payments beginning after the Effective Date.

5. The Governmental Entity agrees to use any monies it receives through the Walmart
Settlement solely for the purposes provided therein.

1

Attachment C: Walmart Settlement Participation Form



6. The Governmental Entity submits to the jurisdiction of the court in the Governmental
Entity’s state where the Consent Judgment is filed for purposes limited to that court’s role
as provided in, and for resolving disputes to the extent provided in, the Walmart
Settlement.

7. The Governmental Entity has the right to enforce the Walmart Settlement as provided
therein.

8. The Governmental Entity, as a Participating Subdivision, hereby becomes a Releasor for all
purposes in the Walmart Settlement, including but not limited to all provisions of Section X
(Release), and along with all departments, agencies, divisions, boards, commissions, districts,
instrumentalities of any kind and attorneys, and any person in their official capacity elected
or appointed to serve any of the foregoing and any agency, person, or other entity claiming
by or through any of the foregoing, and any other entity identified in the definition of
Releasor, provides for a release to the fullest extent of its authority. As a Releasor, the
Governmental Entity hereby absolutely, unconditionally, and irrevocably covenants not to
bring, file, or claim, or to cause, assist or permit to be brought, filed, or claimed, or to
otherwise seek to establish liability for any Released Claims against any Released Entity in
any forum whatsoever. The releases provided for in the Walmart Settlement are intended by
the Parties to be broad and shall be interpreted so as to give the Released Entities the broadest
possible bar against any liability relating in any way to Released Claims and extend to the
full extent of the power of the Governmental Entity to release claims. The Walmart
Settlement shall be a complete bar to any Released Claim.

9. In connection with the releases provided for in the Walmart Settlement, each
Governmental Entity expressly waives, releases, and forever discharges any and all
provisions, rights, and benefits conferred by any law of any state or territory of the
United States or other jurisdiction, or principle of common law, which is similar,
comparable, or equivalent to § 1542 of the California Civil Code, which reads:

General Release; extent. A general release does not extend to claims that the 
creditor or releasing party does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at the 
time of executing the release that, if known by him or her, would have materially 
affected his or her settlement with the debtor or released party.

A Releasor may hereafter discover facts other than or different from those which it knows, 
believes, or assumes to be true with respect to the Released Claims, but each Governmental 
Entity hereby expressly waives and fully, finally, and forever settles, releases and discharges, 
upon the Effective Date, any and all Released Claims that may exist as of such date but which 
Releasors do not know or suspect to exist, whether through ignorance, oversight, error, 
negligence or through no fault whatsoever, and which, if known, would materially affect the 
Governmental Entities’ decision to participate in the Walmart Settlement.

10. Nothing herein is intended to modify in any way the terms of the Walmart Settlement, to
which Governmental Entity hereby agrees. To the extent this Election and Release is
interpreted differently from the Walmart Settlement in any respect, the Walmart Settlement
controls.

2



I have all necessary power and authorization to execute this Election and Release on behalf of the 
Governmental Entity.

Signature: /signer_1_walmart/    

Name: /name_1_walmart/     

Title: /title_1_walmart/     

Date: /date_1_walmart/     

3



EXHIBIT     K      

Subdivision     Participation     and     Release     Form      

Governmental Entity: State:
Authorized Signatory: /officialname_cvs/
Address 1: /address1_cvs/
Address 2: /address2_cvs/
City, State, Zip: /cit_cv/  /state_cv/  /zi_cv/
Phone: /phone_cvs/
Email: /email_cvs/

The governmental entity identified above (“Governmental Entity”), in order to obtain and in
consideration  for  the  benefits  provided  to  the  Governmental  Entity  pursuant  to  the  Settlement
Agreement dated December 9, 2022 (“CVS Settlement”), and acting through the undersigned authorized
official, hereby elects to participate in the CVS Settlement, release all Released Claims against all
Released Entities, and agrees as follows.

1. The Governmental Entity is aware of and has reviewed the CVS Settlement, understands that all
terms in this Participation and Release Form have the meanings defined therein, and agrees that
by executing this Participation and Release Form, the Governmental Entity elects to participate
in the CVS Settlement and become a Participating Subdivision as provided therein.

2. The Governmental  Entity shall  promptly,  and in any event  no later  than 14 days after  the
Reference Date and prior to the filing of the Consent Judgment, dismiss with prejudice any
Released  Claims  that  it  has  filed. With  respect  to  any Released  Claims  pending in  In  re
National Prescription Opiate Litigation, MDL No. 2804, the Governmental Entity authorizes
the Plaintiffs’ Executive Committee to execute and file on behalf of the Governmental Entity a
Stipulation  of  Dismissal  with  Prejudice  substantially  in  the  form  found  at
https://nationalopioidsettlement.com.

3. The Governmental Entity agrees to the terms of the CVS Settlement pertaining to Participating
Subdivisions as defined therein.

4. By agreeing to the terms of the CVS Settlement and becoming a Releasor, the Governmental
Entity is entitled to the benefits provided therein, including, if applicable, monetary payments
beginning after the Effective Date.

5. The Governmental Entity agrees to use any monies it receives through the CVS Settlement
solely for the purposes provided therein.

1

Attachment D: CVS Settlement Participation Form



6. The Governmental Entity submits to the jurisdiction of the court in the Governmental Entity’s
state where the Consent Judgment is filed for purposes limited to that court’s role as provided in,
and for resolving disputes to the extent provided in, the CVS Settlement. The Governmental
Entity likewise agrees to arbitrate before the National Arbitration Panel as provided in, and for
resolving disputes to the extent otherwise provided in, the CVS Settlement.

7. The Governmental Entity has the right to enforce the CVS Settlement as provided therein.

8. The Governmental Entity, as a Participating Subdivision, hereby becomes a Releasor for all
purposes  in  the  CVS Settlement,  including without  limitation all  provisions  of  Section XI
(Release), and along with all departments, agencies, divisions, boards, commissions, districts,
instrumentalities of any kind and attorneys, and any person in their official capacity elected or
appointed to serve any of the foregoing and any agency, person, or other entity claiming by or
through any of the foregoing, and any other entity identified in the definition of Releasor,
provides for a release to the fullest extent of its authority. As a Releasor, the Governmental
Entity  hereby  absolutely,  unconditionally,  and  irrevocably  covenants  not  to  bring,  file,  or
claim, or to cause, assist or permit to be brought, filed, or claimed, or to otherwise seek to
establish  liability  for  any  Released  Claims  against  any  Released Entity in any forum
whatsoever. The releases provided for in the CVS Settlement are intended by the Parties to be
broad and shall  be interpreted so as to give the Released Entities the broadest possible bar
against any liability relating in any way to Released Claims and extend to the full extent of the
power of the Governmental Entity to release claims. The CVS Settlement shall be a complete
bar to any Released Claim.

9. The  Governmental  Entity  hereby  takes  on  all  rights  and  obligations  of  a  Participating
Subdivision as set forth in the CVS Settlement.

10. In connection with the releases provided for in the CVS Settlement, each Governmental Entity
expressly waives, releases, and forever discharges any and all provisions, rights, and benefits
conferred by any law of  any state or territory of  the United States  or  other jurisdiction,  or
principle  of  common law, which is similar, comparable,  or equivalent to  § 1542 of the
California Civil Code, which reads:

General Release; extent. A general release does not extend to claims that
the creditor or releasing party does not know or suspect to exist in his or her
favor at the time of executing the release that, if known by him or her would
have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor or released
party.

A Releasor  may hereafter  discover  facts  other  than  or  different  from those  which  it  knows,
believes, or assumes to be true with respect to the Released Claims, but each Governmental Entity
hereby expressly waives and fully, finally, and forever settles, releases and discharges, upon the
Effective Date, any and all Released Claims that may exist as of such date but which Releasors do
not know or suspect to exist, whether through ignorance, oversight, error, negligence or through no
fault  whatsoever,  and  which,  if  known,  would  materially  affect  the  Governmental  Entities’
decision to participate in the CVS Settlement.

2



11. Nothing herein is intended to modify in any way the terms of the CVS Settlement, to which
Governmental  Entity  hereby  agrees. To  the  extent  this  Participation  and  Release  Form  is
interpreted differently from the CVS Settlement in any respect, the CVS Settlement controls.

I have all necessary power and authorization to execute this Participation and Release Form on
behalf of the Governmental Entity.

Signature: /signer_1_cvs/    

Name: /name_1_cvs/     

Title: /title_1_cvs/     

Date: /date_1_cvs/     

3



EXHIBIT     K      

Subdivision     Participation     and     Release     Form      

Governmental Entity: State: 
Authorized Signatory: /officialname_walgreens/
Address 1: /address1_ walgreens/
Address 2: /address2_ walgreens/
City, State, Zip: /cit_wg/  /state_wg/  /zi_wg/
Phone: /phone_walgreens/
Email: /email_walgreens/

The governmental entity identified above (“Governmental Entity”), in order to obtain and in
consideration  for  the  benefits  provided  to  the  Governmental  Entity  pursuant  to  the  Settlement
Agreement dated December 9, 2022 (“Walgreens Settlement”),  and acting through the undersigned
authorized  official,  hereby  elects  to  participate  in  the  Walgreens  Settlement,  release  all  Released
Claims against all Released Entities, and agrees as follows.

1. The Governmental Entity is aware of and has reviewed the Walgreens Settlement, understands
that all terms in this Participation and Release Form have the meanings defined therein, and
agrees that by executing this Participation and Release Form, the Governmental Entity elects to
participate in the Walgreens Settlement and become a Participating Subdivision as provided
therein.

2. The Governmental  Entity shall  promptly,  and in any event  no later  than 14 days after  the
Reference Date and prior to the filing of the Consent Judgment, dismiss with prejudice any
Released  Claims  that  it  has  filed. With  respect  to  any Released  Claims  pending in  In  re
National Prescription Opiate Litigation, MDL No. 2804, the Governmental Entity authorizes
the Plaintiffs’ Executive Committee to execute and file on behalf of the Governmental Entity a
Stipulation  of  Dismissal  with  Prejudice  substantially  in  the  form  found  at
https://nationalopioidsettlement.com.

3. The  Governmental  Entity  agrees  to  the  terms  of  the  Walgreens  Settlement  pertaining  to
Participating Subdivisions as defined therein.

4. By  agreeing  to  the  terms  of  the  Walgreens  Settlement  and  becoming  a  Releasor,  the
Governmental  Entity  is  entitled  to  the  benefits  provided  therein,  including,  if  applicable,
monetary payments beginning after the Effective Date.

5. The  Governmental  Entity  agrees  to  use  any  monies  it  receives  through  the  Walgreens
Settlement solely for the purposes provided therein.

1

Attachment E: Walgrens Settlement Participation Form



6. The Governmental Entity submits to the jurisdiction of the court in the Governmental Entity’s
state where the Consent Judgment is filed for purposes limited to that court’s role as provided in,
and  for  resolving  disputes  to  the  extent  provided  in,  the  Walgreens  Settlement. The
Governmental  Entity  likewise  agrees  to  arbitrate  before  the  National  Arbitration  Panel  as
provided  in,  and  for  resolving  disputes  to  the  extent  otherwise  provided  in,  the  Walgreens
Settlement.

7. The Governmental Entity has the right to enforce the Walgreens Settlement as provided therein.

8. The Governmental Entity, as a Participating Subdivision, hereby becomes a Releasor for all
purposes in the Walgreens Settlement, including without limitation all provisions of Section XI
(Release), and along with all departments, agencies, divisions, boards, commissions, districts,
instrumentalities of any kind and attorneys, and any person in their official capacity elected or
appointed to serve any of the foregoing and any agency, person, or other entity claiming by or
through any of the foregoing,  and any other entity identified in the definition of Releasor,
provides for a release to the fullest extent of its authority. As a Releasor, the Governmental
Entity  hereby  absolutely,  unconditionally,  and  irrevocably  covenants  not  to  bring,  file,  or
claim, or to cause, assist or permit to be brought, filed, or claimed, or to otherwise seek to
establish  liability  for  any  Released  Claims  against  any  Released  Entity  in  any  forum
whatsoever. The releases provided for in the Walgreens Settlement are intended by the Parties
to be broad and shall be interpreted so as to give the Released Entities the broadest possible bar
against any liability relating in any way to Released Claims and extend to the full extent of the
power of the Governmental Entity to release claims. The Walgreens Settlement shall be a
complete bar to any Released Claim.

9. The  Governmental  Entity  hereby  takes  on  all  rights  and  obligations  of  a  Participating
Subdivision as set forth in the Walgreens Settlement.

10. In connection with the releases provided for in the Walgreens Settlement, each Governmental
Entity expressly waives, releases, and forever discharges any and all provisions, rights, and
benefits conferred by any law of any state or territory of the United States or other jurisdiction,
or principle of common law, which is  similar,  comparable,  or  equivalent  to § 1542 of the
California Civil Code, which reads:

General Release; extent. A general release does not extend to claims that the
creditor or releasing party does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor
at the time of executing the release that, if known by him or her would have
materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor or released party.

A Releasor may hereafter discover facts other than or different from those which it knows,
believes, or assumes to be true with respect to the Released Claims, but each Governmental
Entity hereby expressly waives and fully, finally, and forever settles, releases and discharges,
upon the Effective Date, any and all Released Claims that may exist as of such date but which
Releasors  do  not  know  or  suspect  to  exist,  whether  through  ignorance,  oversight,  error,
negligence or through no fault whatsoever, and which, if known, would materially affect the
Governmental Entities’ decision to participate in the Walgreens Settlement.

2



11. Nothing herein is intended to modify in any way the terms of the Walgreens Settlement, to
which Governmental Entity hereby agrees. To the extent this Participation and Release Form
is  interpreted  differently  from  the  Walgreens  Settlement  in  any  respect,  the  Walgreens
Settlement controls.

I have all necessary power and authorization to execute this Participation and Release Form on
behalf of the Governmental Entity.

Signature: /signer_1_walgreens/    

Name: /name_1_walgreens/     

Title: /title_1_walgreens/     

Date: /date_1_walgreens/     

3



 RC View NSS: Shelter Site Information  
Disaster Cycle Services Job Tools  

Response / Sheltering / RC View NSS  

RES-RC-View-Shelter-Site-Information-JT- V.1.0 2021.04.23                                                                                                       Page 1 
Owner: Disaster Cycle Services 
Author: Respond / Sheltering / RC View NSS 

Shelter Site Information 
 

Information on the Shelter Site is entered into the Shelter Facility Manager Map/Facility Site record using the 
Smart Editor. 

• Shelter Site information is collected once per Facility Site regardless of the number of Shelter 
Buildings attached to a Shelter Site. 

• Fields may be slightly out of order from the Smart Editor. If so, they are marked with a plus (+) 
• Mandatory Fields are marked with an asterisk (*) 

Section 1 – Basic Shelter Site Information 
 

Site ID*: ____________________________ 
 

Site Name*:  _____________________________________________________________ 
 

Management Type (used only when opened): ___________________________________ 
 

Intended Management Type*: o ARC Managed  o ARC Partner  o Independent  o  Unknown  
Agency Sub-Type (Required if ARC partner selected)*:  

o  Emergency Management Partner    
o   Government Partner    
o  Non-Government Partner     

Address*: ________________________________________________________________ 
 

City*: _______________________________State*: _____________ Zip*: _____________ 
 

County +*: _______________________________________________________________ 
 

Hub: ____________________________________________________________________ 
 

Agreement Date: __________________________________________________________ 
 

24-Hour ARC Contact: _________________  24-Hour ARC Contact Phone: ___________ 
 

Built Early  (Before 1994)  o Yes o No 
Phone  (Facility): ________________Phone Extension  (Facility): ___________________ 

 
Fax (Facility): ____________________________________________________________ 

 
Section 2 – POC to Authorize Use of the Shelter Facility 

 
First Name of Authorizing POC*: ______________________________ 

 
Last Name of Authorizing POC*: _______________________________ 

 
Title of Authorizing POC*: ___________________________________________________ 

 
Authorizing POC Phone*: ____________ Authorizing POC 24 Hr Phone*: _____________ 

 
Authorizing POC Fax: ______________________________________________________ 

 
Authorizing POC Email: _____________________________________________________ 

 
Authorizing POC Notes: ____________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
  

  



RES-RC-View-Shelter-Site-Information-JT- V.1.0 2021.05.24          Page 2 
Owner: Disaster Cycle Services 
Author: Respond / Sheltering / RC View NSS 

Section 3 – Alternate POC to Authorize the Facility 

Alternate First Name: ______________________________________________________ 

Alternate Last Name: ______________________________________________________ 

Alternate Title:____________________________________________________________ 

Alternate Phone: __________________________________________________________ 

Alternate 24 Hr Phone: _____________________________________________________ 

Alternate Fax: ____________________________________________________________ 

Alternate Email: ___________________________________________________________ 

Alternate Notes: ___________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 

24-Hour Chapter Contact: ___________________________________________________

24-Hour Chapter Contact Phone: _____________________________________________

Section 4 – Geographic Information 

o Yes o No

o Yes o No
o Yes o No
o Yes o No
o Yes o No
o Yes o No
o Yes o No
o Yes o No
o Yes o No
o Yes o No
o Yes o No
o Yes o No
o Yes o No
o Yes o No

o Yes o No
o Yes o No

Shelter Is Suitable for Evacuation:   
Elevation (ft above sea level): ____________________ 
Site is in Risk Area:   
Site is in Storm Surge/Tsunami zone:   
Site is in Hurricane Evacuation Area:   
Site is in Wildfire Area:   
Site is in Earthquake Zone:   
Site is near Hazardous Material:   
Site is in Tornado Area:   
In Cat4 Surge Area +:   
Can Become Isolated +: only one road into Ophir which can be blocked by avalanches  
Reachable by Vehicle +:   
On Barrier Island +:   
Facility is near nuclear facility +:   
In Flood Plain:   
Flood Zone Year: _____________________ 
Site is in Flash Flood Zone:   
Lacks Transportation Options:   

Landmarks:  ______________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________________ 

1. some maintenance supplies in the barn (e.g. 
paint, motor oil, hydraulic fluid) are likely
toxic and should be secured/removed before 
using as a shelter.

2. Site is appx 40 feet from a shed storing fuel.

There is no public transport into our out of Ophir



RES-RC-View-Shelter-Site-Information-JT- V.1.0 2021.05.24          Page 3 
Owner: Disaster Cycle Services 
Author: Respond / Sheltering / RC View NSS 

Section 5 – Groups Associated with Facility and Training 

Personnel Required +: o Yes o No
Feeding Staff Required: o Yes o No
Payment required for feeding staff: o Yes o No
Security Staff Required: o Yes o No
Payment required for security staff: o Yes o No
Other Facility staff or auxiliary: o Yes o No
Payment required for other staff: o Yes o No
Trained Facility Staff: o Yes o No
Facility staff has requested training: o Yes o No
Section 6 – Other Information 

Mailing Address:   _________________________________________________________ 
Mailing Address City: _______________________________________________________ 
Mailing Address State ______________________________________________________ 
Mailing Address Zip:  ______________________________________________________  
URL of Facility Website: ____________________________________________________ 
Facility Category*:  
o Campground   o Community Center   o Educational Institution   o Event Venue
o Fairground   o Faith-based facility   o Fire station   o Hall   o Other
o Residential Housing Community Center

Other Population Type: _________________________________
Facility Owner: ____________________________________________________________
FEMA 361: o Yes o No
4496 Exempted: __________________________________________________________

Section 7 - Attachments 
Agreement (Upload copy of the Agreement into the Facility Site table) 



RC View NSS: Shelter Building Short Survey  
Disaster Cycle Services  

Response / Sheltering / RC View NSS  

RES RC View NSS Shelter Building Short Survey JT V.1.0 2021.04.22  1 
Owner: Disaster Cycle Services 
Author: Respond / Sheltering / RC View NSS 

Pre-Survey Instructions 
 

To complete this survey, the following tools are suggested:  
1. A laser measuring device or tape measure at least 25 feet long 
2. A digital level, bubble level or Smartphone with Level APP. 
3. Optional digital camera to use in lieu of Smartphone or Tablet 
4. A small measuring tape at least 10 feet long.  

Mandatory fields are followed by an asterisk *  
Section 1 – Site ID and Intended Shelter Type  

Shelter ID   ___________________  
1.1 Intended Shelter Type (Select all the apply): 
o Emergency Evacuation Shelter  o General Population Shelter  o Temporary Evacuation Point   
o Staff Shelter  o Evacuation Center  o Cooling Center  o Warming Center  o Other   
1.2 Other (Please Specify):  _____________________________________________________  

Section 2 - Basic Shelter Building Information *  
2.1 Facility Site ID: *   ___________________    
2.2 Survey Date: *  ______________________  
2.3 Name of Shelter Building: *  ___________________________________________________ 

 
2.4 Is Building Address same as site address? o Yes o No 

2.5 Address:   _________________________________________________________________  
2.6 Zip:       ____________________     2.7 City:   ____________________________________                
2.8 County:   ___________________________             2.9 State:  _______________________  
2.10 Main Phone #:  _______________________           2.11 Fax #:   _____________________  

Section 3 - Geographic Information  
 
3.2 Latitude (in Decimal degrees):  _________________________________________________   

3.3 Longitude (in Decimal degrees):  ________________________________________________  

Section 4 - POC to Open Site *  
Individual who is able to physically open the facility for use as a shelter.  
4.1 First Name: * ___________________  4.2 Last Name: * ___________________________ 

 
4.3  Title: *  __________________________________________________________________  
4.4 Phone # *  ____________________    4.5 24 Hour #: * ____________________________  
4.6 Fax #:  ________________  
4.7 Email:  ___________________________________________________________________  
4.8 Contact Notes:  _____________________________________________________________ 
_____________________________________________________________________________  

  



RES RC View NSS Shelter Building Short Survey JT V.1.0 2021.05.24 2 
Owner: Disaster Cycle Services 
Author: Respond / Sheltering / RC View NSS 

Section 5 - Alternate POC to Open Site 
Alternate Individual who is able to physically open the facility for use as a shelter 
5.1 First Name:  _________________        5.2 Last Name: _________________________ 

5.3 Title:  ________________________________________________________________              

5.4 Phone #: ______________________    5.5 24 Hour#: __________________________ 
5.6 Fax #:   _______________________ 

5.7 Email:  ______________________________________________________________ 

5.8 Contact Notes:   _______________________________________________________ 

Section 6 - POC - Site Safety Inspection 
Point of contact who is able to inspect the site for structural safety following a disaster 
6.1 First Name:   _______________  6.2 Last Name:  ________________________ 

6.3 Title:  _______________________________________________________________ 

6.4 Phone #:  ____________________       6.5 24 Hour #:   _______________________ 

6.6 Fax #: ______________________________________________________________ 

6.7 Email:  ______________________________________________________________ 

6.8 Contact Notes: _______________________________________________________ 

Section 7 - Availability of Site 
7.1 Availability of Site (Select an option): 
o This facility will be available for use at any time during the year
o This facility is not available for use during the time periods listed below (complete 7.2 & 7.3)
7.2 Are there recurring days/time periods when the site is unavailable (e.g. every Sunday)? o Yes o No
7.3 Enter the recurring dates:  ___________________________________________________ 

7.4 Are there any areas that we will not be able to use while the site is being used as a shelter? 
(If yes, complete 7.5) o Yes o No

7.5 Restricted Areas:  _________________________________________________________ 

Section 8 - Site Construction 

8.1 Year built:  ____________   8.2 Year site last conducted major renovation _____________ 
8.3 Select primary construction material (Select all that apply): 
o Wood    o Masonry/Brick    o Pre-Fab    o Stucco    o Concrete   o Metal   o Trailer    o
Pod   o None   o Other
8.4 If other, please specify:   ____________________________________________________

8.6 Enter the number of stories or floors the site has, including a basement:  ______________ 

8.8 Are there open roof spans? (If yes, complete 8.9) o Yes o No

8.9 Length:    __________ 
8.10 Are there windows in Sleeping space? (If yes, complete 8.11 & 8.12) o Yes o No
8.11 Shatter Protected? o Yes o No
8.12 Shutter Protected? o Yes o No

Clerestory windows
appx 10' above 
floor



RES RC View NSS Shelter Building Short Survey JT V.1.0 2021.05.24 3 
Owner: Disaster Cycle Services 
Author: Respond / Sheltering / RC View NSS 

Section 9 - Fire and AED Safety * 
9.1 Smoke alarms and systems (Select all that apply) * 
o Working smoked detectors   o Inspected fire alarm system
o Functional sprinkler system   o Functional direct fire department alert
o Smoke alarms have both audible and visual alert  o None/Unknown
9.3 Are there AED(s) onsite? *  (If yes, complete 9.4 & 9.5) o Yes o No
9.4 Are the AED(s) under a current maintenance and/or service plan? If so, explain plan. 

___________________________________________________________________________ 

9.5 Location of AED(s):  ________________________________________________________ 

9.6 Notes on Fire and AED Notes:  ______________________________________________ 
___________________________________________________________________________ 

Section 10 - Utilities and Power 
10.1 Would sheltering staff have the ability to adjust heating and cooling settings? (If yes, 
complete 10.2) o Yes o No

10.2 Enter location of heating and cooling controls:  ___________________________________ 
10.7 Water (Select all that apply)  o Municipal      o Well(s)     o Trapped 
10.10 Is hot water available? o Yes o No
10.11 Is there an onsite emergency generator?  (If yes, complete 10.12) o Yes o No
10.12 Is the emergency generator under a current maintenance and service plan? (ex. Load 
testing):_____________________________________________________________________ 

10.14 Does site have external connection capability for portable emergency generator to power all 
service delivery areas? 

o Yes o No

10.15 Utility/Generator Notes:  ____________________________________________________ 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
Enter external connection notes including external connection location, type, capacity areas that would 
be supported by a portable generator 

10.16 General Notes: (Showers: #; General Notes) 
Includes Number of Showers, enter 0 if none; General Notes about the facility. Total limit of 255 
characters   
______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

Section 11 - Shelter Capacity * 
11.1 Total square feet available for all service delivery areas: *  _____________ 

11.2 Square feet usable for sleeping space: *              _____________ 

11.3 Square feet usable for Eating Area: *                   _____________           

11.7 General Population Shelter Dormitory Capacity (Q11.2/40 sq ft per person): * _____________ 

11.8 Evacuation Shelter Client Capacity (Q11.2/20 sq ft per person): *            ________________ 



RES RC View NSS Shelter Building Short Survey JT V.1.0 2021.05.24 4 
Owner: Disaster Cycle Services 
Author: Respond / Sheltering / RC View NSS 

Section 12 - Animals in Shelter 
12.1 A safe and accessible relief area is required for animals. Enter the relief area location: 
_______________________________________________________________ 

12.5 Can household pets be co-located at the site?  (If yes, complete 12.6 -12.11) o Yes o No
12.6 Space has the following features (check all that apply)  
o Separate ventilation system   o Cement or tile floor with drains
o Outdoor space to relieve pets  o None
12.7 Location of Co-Located Pet Shelter:

___________________________________________ 

12.8 What is the total square footage of the co-located pet shelter area? (sq ft):  _______ 

12.9 What agency might operate the pet shelter at this site?  ______________________ 

12.10 Phone #:   ________________   12.11 24 Hour #:  ________________ 

12.12 Can household pets be co-habitated at the site? o Yes o No

12.13 Which is the nearest pet shelter location? ____________________________   

12.14 Nearest pet shelter phone #:   ____________________________   
12.15 Nearest pet shelter 24 hour #:   ___________________________ 

Basic Accessibility Check 
Section 13 - Accessible Entrance * 
13.1 Is there a sidewalk connecting the parking area and any drop off area to the walkway 
leading to the building? * 

o Yes o No

13.2 Is there a route without steps from this sidewalk to the main entrance? * o Yes o No
13.7 Accessible routes to all service/activity areas: * o Yes o No
Section 14 - Sleeping Area * 
14.1 Location of the Sleeping space:  _________________________________________ 
14.2 Is there a route without steps from the accessible entrance to this location? * (If no, 
complete 14.5) 

o Yes o No

14.5 Are any of the following present?    o Ramp    o Chair Lift    o Elevator    o None 
14.6 If an elevator or lift provides the only accessible route, is there a source of backup 
power to operate the device for an extended period? 

o Yes o No

Section 15 - Eating Area 
15.1 Location of the Eating area ______________________________________________ 
15.2 Is there a route without steps from the accessible entrance to this location? (If no, 
complete 15.5) 

o Yes
o No

15.5 Are any of the following present?    o Ramp    o Chair Lift    o Elevator    o None 
15.6 If an elevator or lift provides the only accessible route, is there a source of backup 
power to operate the device for an extended period? 

o Yes
o No

This is a large square level concrete-floored room that in normal times stores three vehicles for plowing 
snow, as well as various maintenance items.  Normal access is through an entry vestibule that is not 
accessible.  However two very wide barn doors open like overhead garage doors.  These open to a 3 foot 
wide concrete apron that then drops to a compacted dirt road that characterizes all of Ophir's roads.  A 
parking lot is about 40 feet from the entry.  



RES RC View NSS Shelter Building Short Survey JT V.1.0 2021.05.24 5 
Owner: Disaster Cycle Services 
Author: Respond / Sheltering / RC View NSS 

Section 17 - Restrooms, Toilets and Stalls * 
17.1 How many restrooms are available in the area that will be used for service delivery? 

____________ 

17.2 Location of the restrooms:  _______________________________________________ 
17.3 How many toilets are available in the area that will be used for service delivery? 
___________ 
17.4 Is there a route without steps from the accessible entrance to this location? * o Yes o No
17.7 Are any of the following present? o Ramp    o Chair Lift    o Elevator    o None 
17.8 If an elevator or lift provides the only accessible route, is there a source of backup 
power to operate the device for an extended period? 

o Yes o No

17.9 Is there an area within the restroom 
where a person who uses a wheelchair or 
mobility device can turn around - either a 
minimum 60-inch diameter circle or a “T”-
shaped turn area? * 
17.10 Is at least one stall at least 60 
inches wide and 56 inches deep (wall 
mounted restroom) or 59 inches deep 
(floor mounted restroom)? * 

o Yes o No

o Yes o No

Section 18 - Basic Accessibility Summary * 
18.1 Usability of site * o Yes o No

Yes - All relevant areas of the facility are accessible to people with disabilities without adjustments 

No - All relevant areas of the facility are not accessible to people with disabilities without adjustments.  If No, 
Select from the two options in 19.2 Site Use. 

If no, Review Survey results with facility owner/manager, explaining the noted barriers, and offer referral to 
your Region’s Disability Integration Program Lead for discussion of local resources for solutions. 
Section 19 - Basic Accessibility Summary * 
Site would require extensive adjustments:  Check this option if the adjustments required for making the 
site accessible cannot be made in the hours or days immediately before opening a shelter. 

Site could be modified:  Check this option if the facility has at least one accessible entrance and one 
accessible restroom and if you’ve identified possible solutions for other issues which could be readily 
implemented before or immediately after opening a shelter. 

19.2 Site Use (Select an option) * 
o Facility would require extensive adjustments to be accessible during a disaster, therefore does
not meet Red Cross Standards/DOJ Guidelines;
o Facility could be modified with the following reasonable effort to meet Red Cross Standards/DOJ
Guidelines
19.3 Notes on adjustments/modifications  _________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

x



RES RC View NSS Shelter Building Short Survey JT V.1.0 2021.05.24 6 
Owner: Disaster Cycle Services 
Author: Respond / Sheltering / RC View NSS 

Exterior Accessibility 
Section 20 - Passenger Drop-Off Areas * 

20.1 Is a relatively level (1:50 or 2% maximum slope in all directions) access aisle provided 
adjacent and parallel to the side of the vehicle pull-up area? * 

o Yes o No

20.8 Is a curb ramp provided between the vehicle pull up area and the access aisle (see above) 
or the access aisle and the accessible route to the accessible entrance? (if no, complete 20.9 & 
20.11) 

o Yes o No

20.9 Is there another area with a curb ramp and on an accessible route that could serve as the 
drop-off area?  

o Yes o No

20.11 If there is no curb ramp near the drop-off area, can a temporary ramp be used to connect 
the drop-off area access aisle to the accessible route to the accessible shelter entrance? 

o Yes o No

20.12 If a curb ramp is provided, is the running slope of the ramp surface (not counting the side 
flares) no more than 1:12 or 8.33%. 

o Yes o No

20.13 Is the width of the curb ramp surface at least 36 inches (not counting the side flares)? o Yes o No
20.14 Does an accessible route connect the curb ramp to the shelter’s accessible entrance? o Yes o No
Section 21 - Parking 
21.1 Is there parking at this site? (if yes, complete 21.2 - 21.4) o Yes o No

21.2 When parking areas are provided at the shelter site, count the total number of parking 
spaces provided in each area. Using the chart below, is the minimum number of accessible 
parking spaces provided, based on the total number of available parking spaces?  

o Yes o No

21.3 Does each accessible parking space 
have a sign with the symbol of accessibility 
that is at least 60 inches from the finish floor 
or ground surface, or that is visible when a 
vehicle is parked in the space? 
21.4 Is there at least one van-accessible 
parking space provided with an access aisle 
that is at least 96 inches (8 feet) wide or are 
universal parking spaces provided that are 
132 inches (11 feet) wide for vehicle space 
with a 60-inch (5-feet) wide access aisle? 

o Yes o No

o Yes o No

Section 22 - Sidewalks and Walkways 

22.1 Is an accessible route provided from accessible parking spaces to the accessible entrance 
of the shelter? 

o Yes o No

22.2 Is an accessible route provided from public sidewalks and public transportation stops on 
the shelter site (if provided) to the accessible entrance for the shelter?  

o Yes o No

22.9 Is the slope of part of the accessible route more than 1:20 or 5%? (if yes, complete 22.13) o Yes o No

22.13 If a ramp is more than 30 feet long, is a level landing at least 60 inches long provided at 
every 30 feet of horizontal length? 

o Yes o No

22.18 Are all sidewalks and walkways to the shelter free of any objects (e.g., wall-mounted 
boxes, signs, handrail extensions) with bottom edges that are between 27 inches and 80 inches 
above the walkway and that extend more than 4 inches into the sidewalk or walkway? 

o Yes o No

The parking lot is compacted dirt with no lines or 
handicap signs.  Estimate 25 spaces

Fairly level path across a compacted dirt road to the concrete apron opening to the barn



RES RC View NSS Shelter Building Short Survey JT V.1.0 2021.05.24 7 
Owner: Disaster Cycle Services 
Author: Respond / Sheltering / RC View NSS 

Section 23 - Building Entrance 
23.1 Is there at least one accessible entrance connected to an accessible route?  (if no, 
complete 23.2) o Yes o No

23.2 Does at least one door or one side of a double leaf-door provide at least 32 inches clear 
passage width when the door is open 90 degrees? (if no, complete 23.3)  

o Yes o No

23.3 Does another entrance have an accessible door or can both doors be propped open 
during an evacuation? Other possible solutions are to enlarge the door opening, use a swing 
clear hinge, or, if a double-leaf door, replace with uneven width doors. 

o Yes o No

23.4 Is the hardware (e.g., lever, pull, and panic bar) usable with one hand without tight 
grasping, pinching, or twisting of the wrist? 

o Yes o No

23.5 On the latch or pull side of the door, is there at least 18 inches clearance provided if the 
door is not automatic or power-operated? 

o Yes o No

23.6 If there is a raised threshold, is it no higher than 3/4 inch at the door and beveled on both 
sides? o Yes o No

Interior Accessibility 
Section 24 - Lifts and Elevators * 
24.1 Is there an accessible route, at least 36 inches wide, that connects the accessible 
entrance to all shelter areas (it may narrow to 32 inches wide for up to 2 feet in length)? * o Yes o No

24.3 Does the accessible route from the accessible entrance to all activity areas change levels 
using a ramp, lift or elevator? (Select all that Apply) 
o Ramp/Slopped hallway (if selected, complete 24.4 - 24.10)  o Wheelchair Lifts
o Elevators (if selected, complete 24.12)  o None of the Above
24.4 Is the slope of the accessible route greater than 1:20 or 5%? o Yes o No
24.5 Is the slope no greater than 1:12 or 8.33%? o Yes o No
24.7 Is the ramp width, measured between handrails, at least 36 inches? o Yes o No
24.9 If a ramp is longer than 30 feet, is a level landing at least 60 inches long provided every 30
feet? o Yes o No

24.10 Does the ramp have a level landing that is at least 60 inches long at the top and bottom 
of each ramp section or where the ramp changes direction? 

o Yes o No

Section 25 - Hallways and Corridors 

25.1 Is the clear width for the door opening at least 32 inches measured when the door is open 
90 degrees? 

o Yes o No

25.2 Is the door hardware (e.g., lever, pull, push, panic bar) usable with one hand, without tight 
grasping, pinching, or twisting of the wrist, to allow people who may not be able to easily use 
one or both hands to fully operate the hardware? 

o Yes o No

25.8 Are pedestrian routes leading to or serving each service or activity area of the shelter free 
of objects that protrude from the side more than 4 inches into the route with the bottom of the 
object more than 27 inches above the floor? 

o Yes o No

25.9 Are pedestrian routes leading to or serving each of the service or activity areas free of 
overhead objects with the bottom edge lower than 80 inches above the floor? 

o Yes o No

accessable entrance is to open the garage door,
which is motorized

x

scottpearson
Underline



  

RES RC View NSS Shelter Building Short Survey JT V.1.0 2021.05.24  8 
Owner: Disaster Cycle Services 
Author: Respond / Sheltering / RC View NSS 

 
 

Section 26 - Restrooms  

26.2 Does the door to the restroom provide at least 32 inches clear passage width when the 
door is open 90 degrees? 

o Yes o No 

26.3 Is the hardware (e.g., lever, pull, panic bar) usable with one hand without tight grasping, 
pinching, or twisting of the wrist? (if no, complete 26.4) 

o Yes o No 

26.4 Can the door be propped open without compromising privacy, or can the hardware be 
modified by adding new accessible hardware, or adapting or replacing hardware? 

o Yes o No 

26.9 If lavatories are provided, does at least one have at least a 27 inch high clearance under 
the front apron with the top of the rim no more than 34 inches above the floor? 

o Yes o No 

26.10 Are the drain and hot water pipes for this sink area insulated or otherwise configured to 
protect against contact? 

o Yes o No 

Section 27 - Toilet Stalls  
27.1 If the site was built before March 15, 2012, is at least one wide toilet stall provided with an 
out swinging door, side and rear grab bars, and clear space next to the toilet? (If yes, complete 
27.2) 

o Yes o No 

27.2 If the site was built prior to March 15, 2012, and the depth of the wide toilet stall is less 
than 60 inches, does the front partition and at least one side partition provide a toe clearance of 
at least 9 inches under the front wall? (Toe clearance is not required with a wide stall depth of 
60 inches or greater.) 

o Yes o No 

27.5 If the site was built on or after March 15, 2012, is the depth of the wide toilet stall less than 
62 inches with wall-mounted toilets or less than 65 inches with floor-mounted toilets? 

o Yes o No 

27.7 Is at least 9 inches of toe clearance provided under the front wall and at least one side 
wall of the toilet stall? 

o Yes o No 

27.8 Is the centerline of the toilet at least 17 inches but no more than 19 inches from the 
adjacent side wall? 

o Yes o No 

27.11 Is a horizontal grab bar at least 40 inches long securely mounted on the adjacent side 
wall 33 to 36 inches above the floor with one end no more than 12 inches from the back wall 33 
to 36 inches above the floor? 

o Yes o No 

27.12 Is a second horizontal grab bar at least 36 inches long securely mounted on the back 
wall with one end no more than 6 inches from the side wall 33 to 36 inches above the floor? 

o Yes o No 

27.13 Is there a toilet dispenser with the centerline mounted at least 19 inches above the floor, 
within easy reach and with nothing restricting the delivery of the paper? 

o Yes o No 

27.16 Is the clear width of the door at least 32 inches (measured between the face of the door 
and the edge of the opening) when the door is open 90 degrees? 

o Yes o No 

27.19 Is the surface of the toilet seat in this 36-inch-wide stall 17 to 19 inches above the floor? o Yes o No 

  
  



  

RES RC View NSS Shelter Building Short Survey JT V.1.0 2021.05.24  9 
Owner: Disaster Cycle Services 
Author: Respond / Sheltering / RC View NSS 

Section 28 - Showers  
28.1 Are showering areas present in the site? (if yes, complete 28.2)  o Yes o No 

28.2 Do any of the showers appear to be accessible based on Figures 1-3? o Yes o No 

  
  

  

  

  

Other Areas  
Section 37 - Food Preparation Area *  
37.1 Food Preparation Area (Check all that apply) *   
o Warming oven kitchen   o Full service kitchen       o None  
37.2 Number of meals that can be prepared onsite per day:   ___________      
37.4 Number of refrigeration units available for eating area:  ___________  
Section 38 - Seating Capacity  
38.1 Cafeteria - standard seating: _________   38.2 Cafeteria - accessible seating: _________  
38.3 Snack Area - standard seating:  _______   38.4 Snack Area - accessible seating: _______  
38.5 Other indoor eating areas - standard seating:  _________________ 

 
38.6 Other indoor eating areas - accessible seating: ________  38.7 Total Seating: _________  
38.10 Feeding Notes:   _________________________________________________________ 

 
Section 39 - Laundry Facilities *  
39.1 Are there on-site laundry facilities? *  (if yes, complete 39.3 & 39.4) o Yes o No 
39.3 Who can use laundry facilities?  (Select all that apply) 
o Shelter workers   o Shelter clients  o Partners  o No One  
39.4 Special conditions/restrictions of laundry facility use:  

__________________________________________________________________________ 
__________________________________________________________________________  

  



RES RC View NSS Shelter Building Short Survey JT V.1.0 2021.05.24 10 
Owner: Disaster Cycle Services 
Author: Respond / Sheltering / RC View NSS 

Section 40 - Other dedicated service delivery areas * 

40.1 Rooms for isolated care or other needs *:  ______________________________________ 

40.2 Separate facility/area for isolated care:   _______________________________________ 

40.3 There is at least 1 bathroom with a diapering station? o Yes o No
40.5 How will we accommodate the need for infant/toddler and older child/adult changing 
needs?  ____________________________________________________________________ 

40.7 Location or Registration Area *:  _____________________________________________  

___________________________________________________________________________ 

Section 41 - Additional Information * 
41.1 Has the Shelter Agreement been signed? * (if yes, complete 41.2) o Yes o No
41.2 Date signed: *    ______________________________ 
41.3 Are the current site floor plans available? (if yes, complete 41.4) o Yes o No
41.4 Location of Copies:  _______________________________________________________ 

For Section 42 - 44, attach to the survey in paper or electronically to be uploaded to the Shelter 
Facility Manager Map using the Smart Editor (Agreements to the Facility Site Table, Photos 
and Layouts to the Shelter Building Table) 
Section 43 - Photos 
Section 44 - Shelter Layout Map (Attach to Survey) 
Section 45 - Authorization 

Section 46 – Surveyors * 
46.1 Name *    _______________________________________________________________ 

46.2 Title        _________________________________________________________________ 

46.3 Organization   _____________________________________________________________ 

46.4 Phone #  ____________________________________________________________________ 

46.1 Name     __________________________________________________________________ 

46.2 Title     _____________________________________________________________________________ 

46.3 Organization   ____________________________________________________________ 

46.4 Phone #  ________________________________________________________________ 

46.1 Name     __________________________________________________________________ 

46.2 Title        ________________________________________________________________ 

46.3 Organization   ____________________________________________________________ 

46.4 Phone #  ________________________________________________________________ 





BARN (location for sleeping and eating)

TOWN HALL
(for isolated 
care)



Barn showing entry vestibule on left and large "garage" doors that could be used
for handicap entry





Current use of barn for vehicle storage.  In an emergency all vehicles would be removed and the 42'
square room could be used for dormitory and sleeping

entry vestibule





Materials stored in the storage vestibule on the western
side of the barn

materials stored on shelving on 
the eastern wall



Facility Use Agreement 

LOG Facility Use Agreement JT V.3.0 2021.03.31 1 

The American National Red Cross (“Red Cross”), a non-profit corporation chartered by the United States 
Congress, provides services to individuals, families and communities when disasters strike. The disaster 
relief activities of the Red Cross are made possible by the American public who support the Red Cross 
with generous donations. The Red Cross’s disaster services are also supported by facility owners who 
permit the Red Cross to use their buildings as shelters and other service delivery sites for disaster victims. 
This agreement is between the Red Cross and a facility owner (“Owner”) so the Red Cross can use the 
facility to provide services during a disaster. This agreement only applies when Red Cross requests use of 
the facility and is managing the activity at the facility. 

Parties and Facility 

Owner: 

Full Name of Owner 

Address 

24-Hour Point of Contact
Name and Title
Work Phone
Cell Phone

Address for Official 
Notices (only if different 
from above address) 

Red Cross: 

Chapter  Name  American Red Cross of Western Colorado

Chapter Address  506 Gunnison Ave., Grand Junction, CO 81501

24-Hour Point of Contact
Name and Title
Work Phone
Cell Phone

24-Hour On Call 970-242-4851, Option 1
OR
Courtney Strother, Senior Disaster Program Manager 970-406-0641

Address for Official 
Notices 

American Red Cross, Disaster Cycle Services Logistics, 8550 Arlington Blvd., 
Fairfax, VA 22031 

Facility: 

Insert name and complete street address of building or, if multiple buildings, write “See attached facility list,” and 
attach facility list, including complete street address of each building that is part of this agreement. If the Red 
Cross will use only a portion of a building, then describe the portion of the building that the Red Cross will use. 

Town of Ophir
36 Porphyry St, Ophir, CO 81426
John Wontrobski, City Manager
w. 970-728-4943
c.  970-708-7412

PO Box 683
Ophir, CO 81426

Ophir Town Maintenance Barn
37 Porphyry St. Ophir CO 81426



Facility Use Agreement 

LOG Facility Use Agreement JT V.3.0 2021.03.31 2 

Terms and Conditions 

1. Use of Facility:  Upon request and if feasible, Owner will permit the Red Cross to use and occupy the Facility on
a temporary basis to conduct emergency, disaster-related activities. The Facility may be used for the following
purposes (both parties must initial all that apply):

Facility Purpose Owner Initials Red Cross Initials 

Service Center (Operations, Client Services, or Volunteer Intake) 

Storage of supplies 

Parking of vehicles 

Disaster Shelter 

2. Facility Management:  The Red Cross will designate a Red Cross official to manage the activities at the Facility
(“Red Cross Manager”). The Owner will designate a Facility Coordinator to coordinate with the Red Cross
Manager regarding the use of the Facility by the Red Cross.

3. Condition of Facility:   The Facility Coordinator and Red Cross Manager (or designee) will jointly conduct a
survey of the Facility before it is turned over to the Red Cross. They will use the first page of the Red Cross’s
Facility/Shelter Opening/Closing Form to record any existing damage or conditions. The Facility Coordinator
will identify and secure all equipment in the Facility that the Red Cross should not use. The Red Cross will
exercise reasonable care while using the Facility and will not modify the Facility without the Owner’s express
written approval.

4. Food Services  (This paragraph applies only when the Facility is used as a shelter or service center.): Upon
request by the Red Cross, and if such resources are available, the Owner will make the food service resources of
the Facility, including food, supplies, equipment and food service workers, available to feed the shelter
occupants. The Facility Coordinator will designate a Food Service Manager to coordinate meals at the direction
of and in cooperation with the Red Cross Manager. The Food Service Manager will establish a feeding schedule
and supervise meal planning and preparation. The Food Service Manager and Red Cross Manager will jointly
conduct a pre-occupancy inventory of the food and food service supplies before the Facility is turned over to the
Red Cross. When the Red Cross vacates the Facility, the Red Cross Manager and Facility Coordinator or Food
Service Manager will conduct a post-occupancy inventory of the food and supplies used during the Red Cross’s
activities at the Facility.

5. Custodial Services (This paragraph applies only when the Facility is used as a shelter or service center.): Upon
request of the Red Cross and if such resources are available, the Owner will make its custodial resources,
including supplies and workers, available to provide cleaning and sanitation services at the Facility. The Facility
Coordinator will designate a Facility Custodian to coordinate the these services at the direction of and in
cooperation with the Red Cross Manager.

6. Security/Safety:  In coordination with the Facility Coordinator, the Red Cross Manager, as he or she deems
necessary and appropriate, will coordinate with law enforcement regarding any security and safety issues at the
Facility.

7. Signage and Publicity:  The Red Cross may post signs identifying the Facility as a site of Red Cross operations
in locations approved by the Facility Coordinator. The Red Cross will remove such signs when the Red Cross
concludes its activities at the Facility. The Owner will not issue press releases or other publicity concerning the
Red Cross’s activities at the Facility without the written consent of the Red Cross Manager. The Owner will refer
all media questions about the Red Cross activities to the Red Cross Manager.

8. Closing the Facility:  The Red Cross will notify the Owner or Facility Coordinator of the date when the Red Cross
will vacate the Facility. Before the Red Cross vacates the Facility, the Red Cross Manager and Facility
Coordinator will jointly conduct a post-occupancy inspection, using the second page of the Shelter/Facility
Opening/Closing Form, to record any damage or conditions.

(parking of vehicles during disaster only)

Overhead shelf, 42'x4' may be used for LT RC storage



Facility Use Agreement  
 

LOG Facility Use Agreement JT V.3.0 2021.03.31  3 

9. Fee (This paragraph does not apply when the Facility is used as a shelter. The Red Cross does not pay fees to 
use facilities as shelters.): Both parties must initial one of the two statements below: 

 
 a. Owner will not charge a fee for the use of the Facility.   
  Owner initials:  ____  Red Cross initials:  ____ 
 

b. The Red Cross will pay $_____ per day/week/month (circle one) for the right to use and occupy the 
Facility.  Owner initials:  _____  Red Cross initials:  _____ 

 
10. Reimbursement:  Subject to the conditions in paragraph 10(e) below, the Red Cross will reimburse the Owner for 

the following: 
 

a. Damage to the Facility or other property of Owner, reasonable wear and tear excepted, resulting 
from the operations of the Red Cross. Reimbursement for facility damage will be based on 
replacement at actual cash value. The Red Cross, in consultation with the Owner, will select from 
bids from at least three reputable contractors. The Red Cross is not responsible for storm damage or 
other damage caused by the disaster. 

 
b. Reasonable costs associated with custodial and food service personnel and supplies which would 

not have been incurred but for the Red Cross’s use of the Facility. The Red Cross will reimburse at 
per-hour, straight-time rate for wages actually incurred but will not reimburse for (i) overtime or (ii) 
costs of salaried staff. 

 
c. Reasonable, actual, out-of-pocket costs for the utilities indicated below, to the extent that such costs 

would not have been incurred but for the Red Cross’s use of the Facility. (Both parties must initial all 
utilities that may be reimbursed by the Red Cross): 

   
 Owner Initials Red Cross Initials 

Water   
Gas   
Electricity   
Waste Disposal   

 
d. The Owner will submit any request for reimbursement to the Red Cross within 60 days after the 

occupancy of the Red Cross ends. Any request for reimbursement must be accompanied by 
supporting invoices. Any request for reimbursement for personnel costs must be accompanied by a 
list of the personnel with the dates and hours worked. 

e. If the disaster is a Federally-declared disaster and Owner is a municipal or state government entity, 
then the Owner will work with appropriate emergency management agencies to seek cost 
reimbursement through the Federal Emergency Management Agency’s program for administering 
Public Assistance Category B under the Robert T. Stafford Act. The Red Cross is not obligated to 
reimburse the Owner for costs covered by Public Assistance Category B. 

 
11. Insurance:  The Red Cross shall carry insurance coverage in the amounts of at least $1,000,000 per occurrence 

for Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability. The Red Cross shall also carry Workers’ 
Compensation coverage with statutory limits for the jurisdiction within which the facility is located and $1,000,000 
in Employers’ Liability. 
 

12. Indemnification:  The Red Cross shall defend, hold harmless, and indemnify Owner against any legal liability, 
including reasonable attorney fees, in respect to claims for bodily injury, death, and property damage arising from 
the negligence of the Red Cross during the use of the Facility. 
 

13. Term: The term of this agreement begins on the date of the last signature below and ends 30 days after written 
notice by either party. 

 



Facility Use Agreement 

LOG Facility Use Agreement JT V.3.0 2021.03.31 4 

Digital Signature: Each party agrees that either party’s execution of this agreement by DIGITAL signature (whether 
ELECTRONIC or encrypted) is expressly intended to authenticate this AGREEMENT and to have the same force 
and effect as manual signatures.  The term DIGITAL signature means any electronic sound, symbol, or process 
attached to or logically associated with a record and executed and adopted by a party with the intent to sign such 
record, including facsimile or email electronic signatures. The use of digital signatures is intended to facilitate more 
efficient execution and delivery of signed documents. 

The American National Red Cross 
____________________________________ __________________________________ 
Owner (Legal Name)  (Legal Name) 

____________________________________ __________________________________ 
By (Signature)  By (Signature) 

____________________________________ __________________________________ 
Name (Printed)  Name (Printed) 

____________________________________ __________________________________ 
Title  Title 

____________________________________ __________________________________ 
Date  Date 

Scott Pearson

Govt. Affair Rep., American Red Cross

February 13, 2023


	July 7, 2022 P&Z Meeting Agenda - draft
	noticing area aerial
	pg 1-Written Description
	pg 2-2003 Foley Town of Ophir Hazards Map
	pg 3-1994 EPD Town of Ophir Hazards Overlay Map
	pg-4 1974 INSTAAR Avalanche Hazard Map
	pg-5 2003 Foley
	pg-6 1994 EPD Land Planners
	pg-7 1974 INSTAAR
	pg-8 Mason email
	pg-9 EPD NOTE
	pg-10 NOTE
	pg-11 94-5 Declaring Intent to Consummate a Land Trad
	pg-12 Map of Old Ophir(1)
	pg-13 Ophir Telephone Office
	pg-14 Telluride Telephone Office
	pg - 15 San Miguel County Treasurer Record Block P Lots 11-12
	pg-16 San Miguel County Treasurer Record Blocks 1_ 2_ P and Q(1)
	pg-17 Wilbur email #1
	pg-18 Wilbur email #2
	Whitaker-Cornwall Map Admendment App 6-5-19.pdf
	LUC_Amendment_Application
	1404_1_Owner_Contact
	1404.1 Agent_Authorization
	1404.2 Legal Description
	1404.3 Proof of Ownership
	1404.4 Vicinity Map
	1404.5; 1408.3 Written Description
	1405. Pass_Through_Review_Agreement
	1408.1 PLAT Map
	1408.2 Hazards Map
	1408.4
	Affidavit
	Special Publication Plate 9
	INSTAAR
	Contents
	p. 129
	p. 130
	p. 131
	p. 132
	p. 133
	p. 135
	p. 136
	p. 137
	p. 138
	p. 139
	p. 140
	p. 141
	p. 142
	p. 143
	p. 144


	2012 8 27 Exhibit 4 - Mears 2002 report of Ophir Av Hazards
	Mears Fig 3
	Ophir Town Aval Map
	Ophir Avalanche Map
	2007 Wilbur Report
	History of Vera and Randy Belisle
	Spring Snow Slide May 13 1918
	1904 Map of Old Ophir

	A9108ksp6_r39d4p_338.tmp
	Local Disk
	Schultz, Development and Liability in the Ophir Valley



	Name1: 
	Title1: 
	Date1: 
	Text11: 
	GovernmentalEntityLaconiacityNH: 
	StateNH: 
	Authorized Official: 
	Address1: 
	Address2: 
	CityStateZip: 
	Phone: 
	Email: 
	Name3: 
	Title3: 
	Date3: 
	Text12: 
	Name: 
	undefined_2: 
	Text13: 
	Name4: 
	Title4: 
	Date4: 
	Text14: 
	Name2: 
	Title2: 
	Date2: 
	Text15: 
	Site ID: 
	Site Name: Town of Ophir Maintenance Barn
	Management Type used only when opened: 
	Check Box8: 
	3: Off
	2: Off
	0: Yes
	1: Off

	Check Box9: 
	2: Off
	0: Off
	1: Off

	Address: 37 Porphyry St
	City: Ophir
	State: CO
	Zip: 81426
	County:  San Miguel
	Hub: 
	Agreement Date: 
	24Hour ARC Contact: Courtney Strother
	24Hour ARC Contact Phone: 970-242-4851
	Check Box7: 
	0: Off
	1: Off
	2: 
	1: Yes
	0: Off


	Phone Extension Facility: 
	Phone Facility: 970-728-4943
	Fax Facility: 
	First Name of Authorizing POC: John
	Last Name of Authorizing POC: Wontrobski
	Title of Authorizing POC: Town Manager
	Authorizing POC Phone: 970-728-4943
	Authorizing POC 24 Hr Phone: 970-708-7412
	Authorizing POC Fax: 
	Authorizing POC Email: manager@ophir.us
	Authorizing POC Notes 1: 
	Authorizing POC Notes 2: 
	Alternate First Name: Mason
	Alternate Last Name: Osgood
	Alternate Title: Mayor
	Alternate Phone: 
	Alternate 24 Hr Phone: 775-303-3470
	Alternate Fax: 
	Alternate Email: mayor@ophir.us
	Alternate Notes 1: 
	Alternate Notes 2: 
	24Hour Chapter Contact: Courtney Strother
	24Hour Chapter Contact Phone: 970-242-4851
	Check Box6: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off
	2: 
	0: Off
	1: Yes


	Elevation ft above sea level: 
	Check Box5: 
	0: 
	0: Off
	1: Yes

	1: 
	1: Yes
	0: Off

	2: 
	1: Yes
	0: Off

	3: 
	1: Yes
	0: Off

	4: 
	1: Yes
	0: Off

	5: 
	1: Off
	0: Yes

	6: 
	1: Yes
	0: Off

	7: 
	1: Yes
	0: Off

	8: 
	1: Off
	0: Yes

	9: 
	1: Off
	0: Yes

	10: 
	1: Yes
	0: Off

	11: 
	0: Off
	1: Yes

	12: 
	0: Off
	1: Yes


	Flood Zone Year: 
	Check Box4: 
	0: 
	0: Off
	1: Yes

	1: 
	1: Off
	0: Yes

	3: Off
	4: Yes
	2: 
	0: Off
	1: Off

	5: Off
	6: Off

	Landmarks 1: 
	Landmarks 2: 
	1: 
	2: 
	Check Box3: 
	0: 
	0: Off
	1: Yes

	1: 
	0: Off
	1: Yes

	2: 
	1: Yes
	0: Off

	3: 
	1: Yes
	0: Off

	4: 
	1: Yes
	0: Off

	5: 
	1: Yes
	0: Off

	6: 
	1: Yes
	0: Off

	7: 
	1: Yes
	0: Off

	8: 
	1: Yes
	0: Off


	Mailing Address: PO Box 683
	Mailing Address City: Ophir
	Mailing Address State: CO
	Mailing Address Zip: 81426
	URL of Facility Website: townofophir.colorado.gov
	Check Box2: 
	0: 
	0: Off
	2: Off
	3: Off
	1: Off

	1: 
	1: Off
	2: Off
	3: 
	0: Off
	1: Yes

	0: 
	0: Off
	1: Off



	Other Population Type: Maintenance garage
	Facility Owner: 
	0: Town of Ophir

	Check Box1: 
	0: Off
	1: Off

	4496 Exempted: 
	Shelter ID: 
	12 Other Please Specify: 
	21 Facility Site ID: 
	22 Survey Date: 2/13/23
	23 Name of Shelter Building: Town of Ophir Maintenance Barn
	25 Address: 37 Porphyry St
	26 Zip: 81426
	27 City: Ophir
	28 County: San Miguel
	29 State: Colorado
	210 Main Phone: 970-728-4943
	211 Fax: 
	32 Latitude in Decimal degrees: 37.8568
	33 Longitude in Decimal degrees: -107.8337
	41 First Name: John
	42 Last Name: Wontrobski
	43 Title: City Manager
	44 Phone: 970-728-4943
	45 24 Hour: 970-708-7412
	46 Fax: 
	47 Email: manager@ophir.us
	48 Contact Notes 1: 
	48 Contact Notes 2: 
	51 First Name: Mason
	52 Last Name: Osgood
	53 Title: Mayor
	54 Phone: 970-728-4943
	55 24 Hour: 775-303-3470
	56 Fax: 
	57 Email: mayor@ophir.us
	58 Contact Notes: 
	61 First Name: John
	62 Last Name: Wontrobski
	63 Title: 
	64 Phone: 
	65 24 Hour: 
	66 Fax: 
	67 Email: 
	68 Contact Notes: 
	Check Box29: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off

	73 Enter the recurring dates: 
	75 Restricted Areas: Storage vestibule
	81 Year built: appx 2000
	82 Year site last conducted major renovation: 
	84 If other please specify: 
	86 Enter the number of stories or floors the site has including a basement: 1
	89 Length: 42'
	94 Are the AEDs under a current maintenance andor service plan If so explain plan: 
	95 Location of AEDs: 
	undefined: 
	96 Notes on Fire and AED Notes: 
	101 Would sheltering staff have the ability to adjust heating and cooling settings If yes: Bathroom
	Check Box10: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off
	2: Off

	Check Box11: 
	0: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off

	1: 
	0: Off
	1: Yes


	1012 Is the emergency generator under a current maintenance and service plan ex Load: 
	Check Box12: 
	0: Off
	1: Yes

	1014 Does site have external connection capability for portable emergency generator to power all: Plan to add battery storage.  Discussion around adding external connection/generator capability.
	1015 UtilityGenerator Notes: 
	characters 1: No showers. 
	characters 2: 
	characters 3: 
	1_2: 1,764
	2_2: 1,000
	3: 
	117 General Population Shelter Dormitory Capacity Q11240 sq ft per person 1: 25
	117 General Population Shelter Dormitory Capacity Q11240 sq ft per person 2: 50
	125 Can household pets be colocated at the site If yes complete 126 1211: outside the barn
	Check Box13: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off

	Check Box14: 
	0: 
	0: Off
	1: Off

	1: 
	1: Off
	0: Yes


	127 Location of CoLocated Pet Shelter: Pets welcome in the barn with clients
	128 What is the total square footage of the colocated pet shelter area sq ft: 
	129 What agency might operate the pet shelter at this site: 
	1210 Phone: 
	1211 24 Hour: 
	Check Box15: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off

	1213 Which is the nearest pet shelter location: 
	1214 Nearest pet shelter phone: 
	1215 Nearest pet shelter 24 hour: 
	Check Box16: 
	0: 
	0: Off
	1: Yes

	1: 
	0: 
	0: Off
	1: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off


	1: Yes


	141 Location of the Sleeping space: Inside the barn's one large room
	Check Box18: 
	0: Off
	2: Off
	3: Yes
	1: Off

	Check Box17: 
	0: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off

	1: 
	0: Off
	1: Off


	151 Location of the Eating area: Inside the barn's one large room
	Check Box20: 
	0: Off
	1: Off
	2: Off
	3: Yes

	Check Box19: 
	0: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off

	1: 
	0: Off
	1: Off


	172 Location of the restrooms: 1
	173 How many toilets are available in the area that will be used for service delivery: immediately adjacent to the sleeping/eating area
	174 Is there a route without steps from the accessible entrance to this location: 1
	Check Box21: 
	4: 
	0: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off

	1: 
	1: Off
	0: Off

	3: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off

	2: 
	0: 
	0: Yes
	1: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off


	1: Off


	0: Off
	2: Off
	3: Yes
	1: Off

	193 Notes on adjustmentsmodifications 1: Bars would be needed in the bathroom
	193 Notes on adjustmentsmodifications 2: 
	1_3: 
	2_3: 
	Check Box22: 
	0: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off

	1: 
	1: Off
	0: Yes

	2: 
	1: Yes
	0: Off

	3: 
	0: Off
	1: Off

	4: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off

	5: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off

	6: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off

	7: 
	0: 
	0: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off

	1: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off


	1: 
	0: 
	0: Off
	1: Yes

	1: 
	0: Yes
	1: 
	0: Off
	1: 
	0: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off

	1: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off

	2: 
	0: Off
	1: Yes

	3: 
	0: 
	0: Off
	1: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off


	1: Off







	Check Box23: 
	0: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off

	1: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off

	2: 
	0: Off
	1: Yes

	4: 
	0: Off
	1: Yes

	5: 
	0: Off
	1: Off

	3: 
	0: Off
	1: 
	0: Off
	1: 
	0: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off

	1: 
	0: Off
	1: Yes

	2: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off

	3: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off

	4: 
	0: Off
	1: Off

	5: 
	0: Off
	1: Off





	Check Box24: 
	0: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off

	1: 
	0: Off
	1: Yes

	2: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off

	3: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off


	Check Box25: 
	0: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off

	1: 
	1: Yes
	0: Off

	2: 
	1: Off
	0: Yes

	3: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off

	4: 
	0: Off
	1: Yes

	5: 
	0: 
	0: 
	0: Off
	1: Yes

	1: 
	1: Off
	0: Yes

	2: 
	0: Off
	1: Off

	3: 
	0: Off
	1: Off

	4: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off

	5: 
	0: Off
	1: Yes

	6: 
	0: Off
	1: Yes

	7: 
	0: Off
	1: Off

	8: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off

	9: 
	0: Yes
	1: Off


	1: 
	0: 
	0: Off
	1: Yes

	1: 
	1: Off
	0: Off




	Check Box26: 
	0: 
	0: Off
	1: Off
	2: Yes

	1: 
	2: 
	0: Off
	1: Yes

	0: 
	0: Off
	1: Off
	2: Off

	1: Off


	372 Number of meals that can be prepared onsite per day: 
	374 Number of refrigeration units available for eating area: 
	381 Cafeteria standard seating: 
	382 Cafeteria accessible seating: 
	383 Snack Area standard seating: 
	384 Snack Area accessible seating: 
	385 Other indoor eating areas standard seating: 
	386 Other indoor eating areas accessible seating: 
	387 Total Seating: 
	3810 Feeding Notes: ARC would need to set up feeding facilities in the main room, shared with dorm. No cooking facilities.
	394 Special conditionsrestrictions of laundry facility use 1: 
	394 Special conditionsrestrictions of laundry facility use 2: 
	401 Rooms for isolated care or other needs: There is a town hall with a 15x15 meeting room that could be used.  This is 40 feet away up stairs. 
	402 Separate facilityarea for isolated care: see above
	Check Box27: 
	0: 
	0: Off
	1: Yes

	1: 
	1: Off
	0: Off


	needs: could use the counter at the sink in the bathroom
	407 Location or Registration Area 1: 
	407 Location or Registration Area 2: 
	412 Date signed: 
	Check Box28: 
	0: Off
	1: Off

	414 Location of Copies: 
	461 Name: Scott Pearson
	462 Title: Govt Affairs Rep
	463 Organization: ARC
	464 Phone: 202-495-8722
	461 Name_2: 
	462 Title_2: 
	463 Organization_2: 
	464 Phone_2: 
	461 Name_3: 
	462 Title_3: 
	463 Organization_3: 
	464 Phone_3: 


